


NON-CONFIDENTIAL VERSION 
FOR PUBLIC RECORD 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

Table of contents ............................................................................................ 2 

Section A - Company structure and operations .............................................. 3 

Section B - Sales to Australia (export price) ................................................. 14 

Section C – Exported Goods & Like goods .................................................. 21 

Section D - Domestic sales .......................................................................... 23 

Section E - Fair comparison ......................................................................... 28 

Section F - Export sales to countries other than Australia ............................ 38 

Section G - Costing information and constructed value................................ 40 

Section H – Exporter/Producer’s declaration ................................................ 47 

Section I - Checklist...................................................................................... 48 

 



NON-CONFIDENTIAL VERSION 
FOR PUBLIC RECORD 

Galvanised Steel and Aluminium Zinc Coated Steel – investigation no.190 - exporter 
questionnaire - Korea  

3

SECTION A - COMPANY STRUCTURE AND OPERATIONS 
 
This section requests information relating to company details and financial reports. 

 
A-1 IDENTITY AND COMMUNICATION 

 
Please nominate a person within your company who can be contacted for the 
purposes of this investigation: 
 
Head office: 
 

Name Union Steel Co., Ltd. (“Union”) 

Position in the company Kevin Park 
Team Leader 
International Trade Affairs 

Address 5th Floor 
FERRUM Tower 
66, Suha-dong 
Jung-ku 
Seoul, Korea 

Telephone +82 2 2222 0114 
+82 2 317 1466 

Facsimile number +82 2 2222 0275 
+82 2 2222 0284 

Email address of contact person kwangbum.park@dongkuk.com 

 
Factory: 
 

Address 588-1, Kamman-dong 
Nam-ku 
Busan, Korea 

Telephone +82 2 2222 0114 
+82 2 317 1466 

Facsimile number +82 2 2222 0275 
+82 2 2222 0284 

Email address of contact person kwangbum.park@dongkuk.com 

 
 

A-2 REPRESENTATIVE OF THE COMPANY FOR THE PURPOSE OF 
INVESTIGATION 
 
If you wish to appoint a representative to assist you in this investigation, provide the 
following details: 
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Name Daniel Moulis 

Address 6/2 Brindabella Circuit 
Brindabella Business Park 
Canberra International Airport 
Australian Capital Territory 
Australia  2609 

Telephone + 61 2 6163 1000 

Facsimile number + 61 2 6162 0606 

Email address of contact person daniel.moulis@moulislegal.com 

All communications in relation to this matter should be directed to 
Moulis Legal in the first instance. 

 
Note that in nominating a representative, Customs and Border Protection will assume 
that confidential material relating to your company in this investigation may be freely 
released to, or discussed with, that representative. 
 

A-3 COMPANY INFORMATION 
 

1. What is the legal name of your business? What kind of entity is it (e.g. company, 
partnership, sole trader)? Please provide details of any other business names that you 
use to export and/or sell goods. 

 

The legal name of the entity concerned with the goods under 
consideration for the purposes of this matter is “Union Steel Co., Ltd.” 
Union Steel Co., Ltd. is a limited liability company. 

 
2. Who are the owners and/or principal shareholders? Provide details of shareholding 

percentages for joint owners and/or principal shareholders. (List all shareholders able 
to cast, or control the casting of, 5% or more of the maximum amount of votes that 
could be cast at a general meeting of your company). 
 

The major shareholders of Union are provided at Attachment 1 
[CONFIDENTIAL]. 

 
3. If your company is a subsidiary of another company list the principal shareholders of 

that company. 
 

Union is a subsidiary of Dongkuk Steel Manufacturing Co., Ltd (“DSM”). 
The major shareholders of DSM are provided at Attachment 2 
[CONFIDENTIAL]. 

 
4. If your parent company is a subsidiary of another company, list the principal 

shareholders of that company. 
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DSM is not a subsidiary of another company. DSM is a principal 
controlling company of the DSM group of companies. 

 
5. Provide a diagram showing all associated or affiliated companies and your company’s 

place within that corporate structure. 
 

A diagram showing all affiliated (related) companies including Union’s 
position within the relevant corporate structure is set out at Attachment 3 
[CONFIDENTIAL]. 

 
6. Are any management fees/corporate allocations charged to your company by your 

parent or related company? 
 

No. 

 
7. Describe the nature of your company’s business. Explain whether you are a producer 

or manufacturer, distributor, trading company, etc. 
 

Union is a manufacturer of the goods under consideration (“the GUC”).  

 
8. If your business does not perform all of the following functions in relation to GUC, then 

please provide names and addresses of the companies which perform each function: 
 

• produce or manufacture 

• sell in the domestic market 

• export to Australia, and 

• export to countries other than Australia. 
 

Union performs all of these functions. Production activities take place at 
the Busan factory, and sales and administration activities are based in 
Seoul. 

 
9.  Provide your company’s internal organisation chart. Describe the functions performed 

by each group within the organisation. 
 

Union’s internal organization chart and descriptions are provided at 
Attachments 4 [CONFIDENTIAL] and 5 [CONFIDENTIAL] respectively. 

 
10. Provide a list of your business’ Board of Directors, Managing Director (or CEO) and 

Senior Executives. 
 

A list of Union’s directors and its CEO and senior executives is provided 
at Attachment 6. 

 
11. Provide a copy of your most recent annual report together with any relevant brochures 

or pamphlets on your business activities.  
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Brochures referring to Union’s recent business activity are provided at 
Attachment 7. Except for financial reporting, Union does not issue an 
annual report.  

 
12. Provide details of all transactions between your company and all related parties. For 

example: 
 

• Supplying/selling completed or partially completed products. 

• Supplying/selling raw materials. 

• Performing management functions (including any financial functions). 

• Processing (including toll processing) of any raw materials, intermediary or 
completed products. 

• Trading in products/materials supplied by related parties.  
 

Please refer to footnote “35. Disclosure of related parties” of Attachment 
8 and footnote “34. Disclosure of related parties” of Attachment 9. 

[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – details of related party transactions] 

 
 

A-4 GENERAL ACCOUNTING/ADMINISTRATION INFORMATION 
 

1. Indicate your accounting period. 
 

Union’s accounting period (financial year, or “FY”) is the calendar year. 
Union’s 50th FY was from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2011. 

 
2. Indicate the address where the financial records are held.  

 

All financial records for production and sales are accessible from 
Union’s headquarters building in Seoul.  

 
3. Provide the following financial documents for the two most recently completed 

financial years plus all subsequent monthly, quarterly or half yearly statements: 
 

• chart of accounts; 
 

Union’s chart of accounts is provided at Attachment 10 [CONFIDENTIAL]. 

 
• audited consolidated and unconsolidated financial statements (including 

all footnotes and the auditor’s opinion); 

• internal financial statements, income statements (profit and loss 
reports), or management accounts, that are prepared and maintained in 
the normal course of business for the goods under investigation.  

 
These documents should relate to: 
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� the division or section/s of your business responsible for the 
production and sale of the goods under investigation, and 

� the company overall. 
 

English translated versions of Union’s audited unconsolidated financial 
statements for 2011 and for 2012 1H, which include auditor’s opinions, 
are provided at Attachments 8 and 9 respectively.  

[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – internal organisation of Union] During 
the POI Union operated two factories, one at Busan and the other at 
Giheung.  

The Busan factory is the responsible part for the GUC. [CONFIDENTIAL 
TEXT DELETED – internal organisation of Union]  

[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – internal organisation of Union] 

 
3. If you are not required to have the accounts audited, provide the unaudited 

financial statements for the two most recently completed financial years, 
together with your relevant taxation returns. Any subsequent monthly, quarterly 
or half yearly statements should also be provided. 
 

This question is not applicable to Union. Union is required to have its 
financial statements audited. 

 
4. Do your accounting practices differ in any way from the generally accepted 

accounting principles in your country? If so, provide details.  
 

This question is not applicable to Union. Union adopts the generally 
accepted accounting principles in place in Korea in the form of the 
Korean International Financial Reporting Standards (“K-IFRS”). 

 
5. Describe:  

 
The significant accounting policies that govern your system of accounting, in 
particular: 
 

The major accounting policies applicable to Union are explained in the 
footnotes to its audit report.  

 
• the method of valuation for raw material, work-in-process, and finished 

goods inventories (e.g. last in first out –LIFO, first in first out- FIFO, 
weighted average); 

 

Union valued raw materials, work-in-process, finished goods and the 
cost of goods sold on a first in/first out (“FIFO”) basis up to 31 December 
2010, and on a weighted average method (“WAM”) basis from 1 January 
2011. 
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Materials in transit (ie, materials ordered and shipped to Union but not 
yet received) are the only exception. These are stated at actual cost, 
based on the specific identification method (ie, materials are valued at 
the amounts actually paid to purchase those materials).  

Inventory write-offs of raw materials and finished goods will occur if 
there is a difference between the physical inventory count and the 
inventory control records. When there is an inventory write-off, the loss 
is recorded as a non-operating expense. If the fair value of inventory is 
less than its cost, a contra-inventory account representing the valuation 
loss is presented to reduce the inventory to its net realizable value. This 
valuation loss is charged to the cost of sales for financial reporting 
purposes only. The inventory value in the cost accounting system is not 
adjusted but remains at the actual cost. If the circumstances which 
caused the valuation loss cease to exist, causing the market value to rise 
above the carrying amount, the valuation loss is reversed and limited to 
the original carrying amount before valuation. This reversal is a 
deduction to the cost of sales. Union records the inventory valuation 
loss, or its reversal, on a quarterly basis. 

 

• costing methods, including the method (e.g. by tonnes, units, revenue, 
direct costs etc) of allocating costs shared with other goods or 
processes (such as front office cost, infrastructure cost etc); 

 

Union has adopted WAM since January 2011. Before 2011, FIFO was the 
inventory valuation method.  

 
• valuation methods for damaged or sub-standard goods generated at the 

various stages of production; 
 

[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – accounting policies regarding 
production] 

 

• valuation methods for scrap, by products, or joint products; 
 

[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – accounting policies regarding 
production] Both factories produce scrap. 

At the Busan factory, steel scrap is collected at each line. Zinc, 
aluminium and zinc anode scrap is additionally generated at the 
galvanizing lines (“zinc dross scrap”). Paint scrap is generated at the 
colour/painting lines.  

[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – accounting policies regarding 
production] 

In the Busan factory, “cold rolled steel” scrap is deducted from raw 
material cost.  

Some of the steel scrap, zinc dross and paint scrap are not deducted 
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from production cost. Revenue from scrap disposal is recognized as 
domestic sales income. Unreflected steel scrap is applied to raw material 
cost. Zinc dross revenue by galvanizing type is applied to galvanizing 
cost (zinc material cost).  

[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – accounting policies regarding 
production] 

 

• valuation and revaluation methods for fixed assets; 
 

In general, Union’s fixed assets are valued at their acquisition cost. 

Union uses the straight-line method of depreciation over the estimated 
useful lives of its assets.  

Under Korean GAAP, assets can be revalued. Union’s assets were 
revalued at the beginning of 1994 and on 1 October 1998 in accordance 
with the Asset Revaluation Act. 

 

• average useful life for each class of production equipment and 
depreciation method and rate used for each; 

 

Upon the adoption of K-IFRS in January 2011, Union changed the useful 
lives of its fixed assets. A chart summarizing these changes is as 
follows: 

 

Assets Previous Useful Lives New Useful Lives 

Buildings, structures 30 Years 20~40 Years 

Machinery 15 Years 8~35 Years 

Vehicles, others 4 Years 4 Years 

 

• treatment of foreign exchange gains and losses arising from 
transactions; 

 

There is no difference in the treatment of exchange gains and losses on 
a consolidated or unconsolidated basis other than the elimination of 
transactions between affiliated parties in the consolidated financial 
statements.  

Foreign exchange gains and losses may be incurred on foreign currency 
transactions due to exchange rate fluctuations between the time an 
expense is incurred in a foreign currency and the time of payment. Such 
gains and losses are separately reported as “gains/losses on foreign 
currency transactions” when payment accrues. 
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• treatment of foreign exchange gains/losses arising from the translation 
of balance sheet items; 

 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency 
are translated at the effective exchange rate at the time of acquisition. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency are 
translated at the effective exchange rate on the date of the balance 
sheets. 

 

• inclusion of general expenses and/or interest; 
 

General and administrative expenses, and financing charges (such as 
interest and discount expenses), that are related to debt used to fund the 
manufacture, purchase, or construction of tangible fixed assets, and 
which are incurred prior to completion of the assets, may be capitalized 
to inventory or fixed assets accounts. These capitalized expenses are 
then depreciated over the useful life of the asset. 

Union does not capitalize financial expense in its inventory account. 

 

• provisions for bad or doubtful debts, and treatment thereof in your 
accounts; 

 

Union recorded and charged all of its costs as incurred with three 
exceptions. Union makes year-end and half-year adjustments for 
allowances, accruals and depreciation. Allowances include bad debt and 
severance. Accruals include accrued income, expenses, income taxes, 
etc, and reflect a timing difference when income is earned or expenses 
are incurred in one year, but actual receipt or payment occurs in the next 
year. 

 

• expenses for idle equipment and/or plant shut-downs; 
 

Except for assets under regular maintenance or held for the purpose of 
disposal, there is no idle equipment. Including machinery, as these 
assets are classified as non-operating assets not fixed assets, they are 
adjusted to their net realizable value (NRV). Under Korean GAAP, if the 
fair value of this asset is less than historical cost, the valuation loss is 
presented to reduce the book value to its net realizable value annually. 

 

• costs of plant closure;  
 

Union’s Giheung factory closed at March 2012 and it was decided to 
dispose of its assets including machinery. The Giheung factory only had 
colour/painting lines, and the plant closure costs are not related to the 
GUC. The fixed assets of the Giheung factory were reclassified into 
disposal-purpose holding assets of Union. 
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• restructuring costs; 
 

This question is not applicable to Union, as there was no restructuring 
cost directly related to the GUC during the investigation period. Any 
small change in organization was just of an administrative nature. 

 

• by-products and scrap materials resulting from your company’s 
production process; and 

 

Scrap is not re-introduced into the production cycle as raw material. It is 
sold to unaffiliated companies at a market price.  

Union’s normal cost accounting system records “cold rolled scrap” 
manufacturing cost as an offset. For purposes of this response, zinc 
dross revenue and other scrap revenue related to the GUC are reflected 
in the calculation of the CTM.  

 

• effects of inflation on financial statement information. 
 

The inflation rate in Korea has been very moderate in recent years, and 
there has been no need to account for the effects of inflation on financial 
statements. 

 
6. In the event that any of the accounting methods used by your company have 

changed over the last two years provide an explanation of the changes, the date 
of change, and the reasons for it. 

 

Until 2010, Union adopted K-GAAP. The Korean government has 
regulated that listed companies should adopt K-IFRS in order to 
strengthen the utility and accuracy of financial information reporting. 
Therefore, Union has applied K-IFRS since 1 January 2011.  

The detailed aspects of K-IFRS as they apply to Union’s accounts are 
explained in the footnotes to Union’s audit report. 

 
 

A-5 INCOME STATEMENT 
 

Complete the spread sheet entitled ‘Income statement’ within the Exporter 
questionnaire – Galvanised Steel and Aluminium Zinc Coated Steel – KOREA 
accompanying spread sheet provided alongside this questionnaire.  

 

Please see “Income statement” spreadsheet at Attachment 11 -EQ 
spreadsheets [CONFIDENTIAL]. 

 
Provide the completed spread sheet in electronic format on CD-ROM (or via email) with 
your response. If formulas are used to calculate the field within this sheet, please 
ensure they remain included in the submitted version. 
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Explain how costs have been allocated between all products and the GUC within these 
calculations. 

 

In basic terms, all of Union’s production costs are aggregated by 
monthly actual cost and allocated into each product under the 
“manufacturing order (“MO”) based cost accounting system. However, to 
conform with the format of the “Income statement”: 

(a) each item of “Total cost to make (9)” is calculated on the basis of 
manufacturing cost ratio; and 

(b) the allocation to the GUC of items under “SG&A expenses (14)” 
were calculated based on net sales value. 

 
This information will be used to verify the completeness of cost data that you provide in 
Section G. If, because of your company’s structure, the allocations would not be helpful 
in this process, please explain why this is the case.  
 

The cost of goods sold - presented in the given format as “Total cost to 
make (9)” - cannot be divided into each item of production cost and 
calculated by ratio basis. SG&A expenses or net other expenses such as 
interest, extraordinary and abnormal items are allocated by sales amount 
under the assumption of “principle of matching costs with revenues”. 

 
Note: if your financial information does not permit you to present information in 
accordance with this table please present the information in a form that closely matches 
the table.  
 
 
A-6 SALES 

 
Complete the spread sheet entitled ‘Turnover’ within the Exporter questionnaire – 
Galvanised Steel and Aluminium Zinc Coated Steel – KOREA – accompanying spread 
sheet provided alongside this questionnaire.  
 

Please refer to “Turnover” spreadsheet at Attachment 11 – EQ 
spreadsheets [CONFIDENTIAL].  

As we already mentioned above, there is no separate organisational 
sector for the production of coated products or the GUC. Therefore, 
“Turnover of the sector including the goods” has been left blank.  

Total cost to make of GUC is allocated by quantity basis. Because, there 
is no difference between production of export sales and domestic sales. 

 
Provide the completed spread sheet in electronic format on CD-ROM (or via email) with 
your response. If formulas are used to calculate the field within this sheet, please 
ensure they remain included in the submitted version. 
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The spread sheet “Turnover” is calculated by way of a breakdown of the 
“Net sales” from the “Income Statement”. The formula applied is as 
follows:  

Turnover = Net sales (3) / Total cost to make (9) 

 
In completing the sheet, use the currency in which your accounts are kept. 
 

The currency adopted within Union’s financial statements is KRW. 
Amounts in foreign currency are translated into KRW. 

 
This information will be used to verify the cost allocations to the GUC in Section G.  
 
Also, you should be prepared to demonstrate that sales data shown for the goods is a 
complete record by linking total sales of these goods to relevant financial statements.  
 

Union’s sales and cost data for the GUC can be linked by reconciliation 
with the total company financial statements. 
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SECTION B - SALES TO AUSTRALIA (EXPORT PRICE) 
 
This section requests information concerning your export practices and prices to 
Australia. You should include costs incurred beyond ex-factory. 
 
Export prices are usually assessed at FOB point, but Customs and Border Protection 
may also compare prices at another level (e.g. ex factory).  
 
You should report prices of all GUC shipped to Australia during the investigation 
period. 
 
The invoice date will normally be taken to be the date of sale. If you consider: 

• the sale date is not the invoice date (see ‘date of sale’ column explanation 
in question B4 below) and; 

• an alternative date should be used when comparing export and domestic 
prices 

you must provide information in section D on domestic selling prices for a matching 
period - even if doing so means that such domestic sales data predates the 
commencement of the investigation period. 

 
B-1 For each customer in Australia to whom you shipped goods in the 

investigation period list: 

• name; 

• address; 

• contact name and phone/fax number where known; and 

• trade level (for example: distributor, wholesaler, retailer, end user, 
original equipment). 

 

Name Address Contact name and 
phone/fax number 
where known 

Trade level (eg: 
distributor, 
wholesaler, 
retailer, end 
user, original 
equipment) 

[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – details of customers] 

 
B-2 For each customer identified in B1 please provide the following information. 

(a) Describe how the goods are sent to each customer in Australia, including 
a diagram if required. 

Union receives a purchase order (“PO”) from the intending purchaser 
and either approves or rejects it. If an order is accepted by Union, Union 
schedules production to complete the order, and production is then 
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made to order.  

Once the merchandise is produced and ready for shipment, Union will 
issue a commercial invoice, packing list and weight list. Those 
documents are sent to the customer when Union delivers the goods. 

 

(b) Identify each party in the distribution chain and describe the functions 
performed by them. Where commissions are paid indicate whether it is a 
pre or post exportation expense having regard to the date of sale. 

When production is completed, Union Steel will send the goods to the 
port using Intergis, the transportation company that provides freight 
forwarding services to Union in connection with the transportation of the 
GUC and other goods. 

Intergis’ head office is located at Marine Center, 13 Floor, 79, 4th Street, 
Jung-an-dong, Jung-gu, Busan, Korea. Union pays the delivery fee based 
on the contract. 

[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – sales terms for exports] 

 

(c) Explain who retains ownership of the goods at each stage of the 
distribution chain. In the case of delivered duty paid (DDP) sales, explain 
who retains ownership when the goods enter Australia. 

Union adopted [CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – sales terms for 
exports]. 

 

(d) Describe any agency or distributor agreements or other contracts 
entered into in relation to the Australian market (supply copy of the 
agreement if possible). 

[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – business arrangements with 
customers] 

Please see Attachment 12 [CONFIDENTIAL] and 13 [CONFIDENTIAL] for 
copies of sales documentation between Union and the trading 
companies concerned. 

 

(e) Explain in detail the process by which you negotiate price, receive 
orders, deliver, invoice and receive payment. If export prices are based 
on price lists supply copies of those lists. 

Union will either approve or reject a PO it receives from an intending 
purchaser. For orders accepted by Union, production is scheduled to 
complete the order.  
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Once the merchandise is produced and ready for shipment, Union 
prepares a commercial invoice, packing list and weight list. These 
documents are sent to the customer when Union delivers the goods.  

[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – payment terms for Australian sales]. 
In this way Union receives payment from the customer. 

[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – details of price negotiation basis with 
customers].  

 

(f) State whether your firm is related to any of its Australian customers. Give 
details of any financial or other arrangements (e.g. free goods, rebates, 
or promotional subsidies) with the customers in Australia (including 
parties representing either your firm or the customers). 

Union is not related to [CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – identification 
of type of customers]. 

 

(g) Details of the forward orders of the GUC (include quantities, values and 
scheduled shipping dates). 

Please see Attachment 15 [CONFIDENTIAL] for a list of Union’s orders 
for Australia which have not yet been shipped. 

 

B-3 Do your export selling prices vary according to the distribution channel 
identified? If so, provide details. Real differences in trade levels are 
characterised by consistent and distinct differences in functions and prices. 

No. Export selling prices did not vary according to the distribution 
channel, and in any event there is only one “channel”.  

 

B-4 Complete the spread sheet entitled ‘Australian sales’ within the Galvanised 
Steel and Aluminium Zinc Coated Steel Exporter Questionnaire – KOREA – 
accompanying spread sheet provided alongside this questionnaire.  

 
This spread sheet is to list all shipments (i.e. transaction by transaction) to 
Australia of the GUC (do not include non-GUC items) in the investigation 
period. 

 
Provide the completed spread sheet in electronic format on CD-ROM (or via 
email) with your response. If formulas are used to calculate the field within this 
sheet, please ensure they remain included in the submitted version. 
 
The below table provides information as to what is meant by each column 
heading within the spread sheet. 
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Inland 
transportation 
costs* 

inland transportation costs included in the selling price. 
For export sales this is the inland freight from factory to 
port in the country of export. 

Handling, 
loading & 
ancillary 
expenses* 

handling, loading & ancillary expenses. For example, 
terminal handling, export inspection, wharfage & other 
port charges, container tax, document fees & customs 
brokers fees, clearance fees, bank charges, letter of 
credit fees, & other ancillary charges incurred in the 
exporting country. 

Warranty & 
guarantee 
expenses* 

warranty & guarantee expenses 

Technical 
assistance & 
other services* 

expenses for after sale services, such as technical 
assistance or installation costs. 

Commissions* Commissions paid. If more than one type is paid insert 
additional columns of data. Indicate in your response to 
question B2 whether the commission is a pre or post 
exportation expense having regard to the date of sale.  

Other factors* any other costs, charges or expenses incurred in relation 
to the exports to Australia (include additional columns as 
required). See question B5. 

 
Notes 
 
** FOB export price and Ocean Freight: 
 
FOB export price: An FOB export price must be calculated for each shipment - 
regardless of the shipping terms. FOB price includes inland transportation to the port of 
exportation, inland insurance, handling, and loading charges. It excludes post 
exportation expenses such as ocean freight and insurance. Use a formula to show the 
method of the calculation on each line of the export sales spread sheet. 
 
Ocean freight: as ocean freight is a significant cost it is important that the actual amount 
of ocean freight incurred on each exportation be reported. If estimates must be made 
you must explain the reasons and set out the basis - estimates must reflect changes in 
freight rates over the investigation period.  
 
Freight allocations must be checked for consistency. 
  
All of these costs are further explained in section E-1. 
 

Please refer to the spread sheet “Australian sales” at Attachment 11 – 
EQ spreadsheets [CONFIDENTIAL]. 

 

B-5 If there are any other costs, charges or expenses incurred in respect of the 
exports listed above which have not been identified in the table above, add a 
column within the ‘Australian sales’ spread sheet (see “other factors” in 
question B-4) for each item, and provide a description of each item. For 
example, other selling expenses (direct or indirect) incurred in relation to the 
export sales to Australia.  
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“Bank charge” and “Credit expense” have been included as other factors 
in the Australian sales spread sheet. 

(a) Bank charges – these are incurred when Union receives payment, 
and have been reported as a unit expense per ton (sample 
calculations of bank charges are provided in the export sales 
sample package at Attachments 12 [CONFIDENTIAL] and 13 
[CONFIDENTIAL]). 

(b) Credit expense - please refer to E-1-3 below (sample calculations 
of credit expense are also provided in Attachments 12 
[CONFIDENTIAL] and 13 [CONFIDENTIAL]). 

 

B-6 For each type of discount, rebate, or allowance offered on export sales to 
Australia: 

• provide a description; and 

• explain the terms and conditions that must be met by the importer to 
obtain the discount. 

 
Where the amounts of these discounts, rebates etc are not identified on the 
sales invoice, explain how you calculated the amount shown in your response 
to question B4. If they vary by customer or level provide an explanation.  

[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – price basis for exports] exports of the 
GUC during the investigation period. 

 

B-7 If you have issued credit notes (directly or indirectly) to the customers in 
Australia, in relation to the invoices listed in the detailed transaction by 
transaction listing in response to question B4, provide details of each credit 
note if the credited amount has not been reported as a discount or rebate.  

[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – price basis for exports] exports of the 
GUC during the investigation period. 

 

B-8 If the delivery terms make you responsible for arrival of the goods at an agreed 
point within Australia (e.g. delivered duty paid), insert additional columns in the 
spread sheet for all other costs incurred. For example: 

Import 
duties 

Amount of import duty paid in Australia  

Inland 
transport 

Amount of inland transportation expenses within 
Australia included in the selling price  

Other 
costs 

Customs and Border Protection brokers, port and 
other costs incurred (itemise) 
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Union did not make any sales under these delivery terms.  

 

B-9 Select two shipments, in different quarters of the investigation period, and 
provide a complete set of all of the documentation related to the export sale. 
For example: 

• the importer’s purchase order, order confirmation, and contract of 
sale; 

• commercial invoice; 
• bill of lading, export permit; 

• freight invoices in relation to movement of the goods from factory to 
Australia, including inland freight contract; 

• marine insurance expenses; and 

• letter of credit, and bank documentation, proving payment. 
 

Customs and Border Protection will select additional shipments for payment 
verification at the time of the visit. 

 

Please refer to Attachments 12 [CONFIDENTIAL] and 13 
[CONFIDENTIAL]. 
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SECTION C – EXPORTED GOODS & LIKE GOODS 
 

C-1 Fully describe all of the goods you have exported to Australia during the investigation 
period. Include specification details and any technical and illustrative material that 
may be helpful in identifying, or classifying, the exported goods.  

Specification details of all of the goods Union has exported to Australia 
during the investigation period are provided in Attachment 16 
[CONFIDENTIAL].  

Descriptions of Union’s product could be found in the brochure provided 
in Attachment 7. 

 

C-2 List each model/type of the good exported to Australia (these models should cover all 
models listed in spread sheet “Australian Sales” – See section B of this 
questionnaire). 

Union has built-up product codes which contain eight factors: 
[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – product characteristics]. These 
factors are the important dimensions for classification of Union’s goods.  

The specific methodology for this coding is provided in Attachment 17 
[CONFIDENTIAL]. Each export transaction has had the product code 
assigned to it in the “Australian sales” spread sheet in Attachment 11 – 
EQ spread sheets [CONFIDENTIAL]. 

 

C-3 If you sell like goods on the domestic market, for each model/type that your company 
has exported to Australia during the investigation period, list the most comparable 
model(s) sold domestically and provide a detailed explanation of the differences 
where those goods sold domestically (ie. the like goods – see explanation in 
glossary) are not identical to the goods exported to Australia. 

This should be done by completing the spread sheet entitled ‘Like goods’ within the 
Galvanised Steel and Aluminium Zinc Coated Steel - Exporter Questionnaire – 
KOREA – accompanying spread sheet provided alongside this questionnaire, 
detailing as follows: 
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SECTION D - DOMESTIC SALES  
 
This section seeks information about the sales arrangements and prices in the domestic 
market of the country of export.  
 
All domestic sales of like goods to the GUC made during the investigation period must be 
listed transaction by transaction. If there is an extraordinarily large volume of sales data and 
you are unable to provide the complete listing electronically you must contact the Case 
Manager before completing the questionnaire.  

If the Case Manager agrees that it is not possible to obtain a complete listing he or she will 
consider a method for sampling that meets Customs and Border Protection requirements. If 
agreement cannot be reached as to the appropriate method Customs and Border Protection 
may not visit your company. 

Customs and Border Protection will normally take the invoice date as being the date of sale in 
order to determine which sales fall within the investigation period.  

If, in response to question B4 (Sales to Australia, Export Price), you have reported that the 
date of sale is not the invoice date and you consider that this alternative date should be used 
when comparing domestic and export prices you must provide information on domestic selling 
prices for a matching period - even if doing so means that such domestic sales data predates 
the commencement of the investigation period. 

If you do not have any domestic sales of like goods you must contact the Case Manager who 
will explain the information Customs and Border Protection requires for determining a normal 
value using alternative methods.  

D-1 Provide: 

• a detailed description of your distribution channels to domestic 
customers, including a diagram if appropriate; 

• information concerning the functions/activities performed by each 
party in the distribution chain; and 

• a copy of any agency or distributor agreements, or contracts entered 
into. 

 
If any of the customers listed are associated with your business, provide details of 
that association. Describe the effect, if any, that association has upon the price. 

Union sells the merchandise concerned to [CONFIDENTIAL TEXT 
DELETED – types of customers and price basis]. A diagram of the 
distribution chain is provided in Attachment 19 [CONFIDENTIAL]. 

Union uses a delivery company, Intergis, for the delivery of the goods. 
The function of Intergis is only to transfer goods. Integris does not take 
title. A contract with Intergis is presented in Attachment 20 
[CONFIDENTIAL].  

[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – Union’s business arrangements with 
domestic market customers] 
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D-2 Do your domestic selling prices vary according to the distribution channel identified? 
If so, provide details. Real differences in trade levels are characterised by consistent 
and distinct differences in functions and prices. 

Prices of Union’s products [CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED –domestic 
pricing conventions]. 

 

D-3 Explain in detail the sales process, including: 

• the way in which you set the price, receive orders, make delivery, 
invoice and finally receive payment; and the terms of the sales; and 

• whether price includes the cost of delivery to customer. 
 
If sales are in accordance with price lists, provide copies of the price lists. 
 

Union receives notice of an intention to purchase from customers and 
negotiates the terms of sale; specification, price, and quantity of the 
product [CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – manner of business 
negotiation]. When a customer requirement is concluded, it is entered 
into Union’s manufacturing order system. [CONFIDENTIAL TEXT 
DELETED – manner of recording sales in financial system].  

Production is performed according to the manufacturing order (“MO”) 
from the sales team in which production schedule and other details are 
described as requested by the customer.  

As soon as production is completed, a shipping order is issued by the 
sales team to the manufacturing staff. When the goods are delivered to 
the customer, the shipping invoice is issued.  

The sales team issues sales detail and tax invoice to the customer after 
shipment. Capital team is in charge of collections. In most cases 
payment for domestic sales is based on an open account system.  

A domestic market sales flow chart is provided in Attachment 21 
[CONFIDENTIAL]. 

[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – details of price negotiation basis with 
customers]. 

 
D-4 Complete the spread sheet entitled ‘Domestic sales’ within the Galvanised 

Steel and Aluminium Zinc Coated Steel Exporter Questionnaire – KOREA – 
accompanying spread sheet provided alongside this questionnaire.  

 
This spread sheet is to list all domestic sales of like goods (i.e. transaction by 
transaction) in the investigation period (do not include non-GUC items). 

 
Provide the completed spread sheet in electronic format on CD-ROM (or via 
email) with your response. If formulas are used to calculate the field within this 
sheet, please ensure they remain included in the submitted version. 
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Handling, loading 
And ancillary 
Expenses* 

handling, loading & ancillary expenses.  

Warranty & 
Guarantee 
expenses* 

warranty & guarantee expenses 

Technical 
assistance 
& other services* 

expenses for after sale services such as technical 
assistance or installation costs. 

Commissions* commissions paid. If more than one type is paid 
insert additional columns of data. 

Other factors* any other costs, charges or expenses incurred in 
relation to the domestic sales (include additional 
columns as required). See question D5. 

 
Notes 
Costs marked with * are explained in section E-2. 
 

Please refer to the “Domestic sales” spread sheet in Attachment 11 – EQ 
spreadsheets [CONFIDENTIAL]. 

 
D-5 If there are any other costs, charges or expenses incurred in respect of the sales 

listed which have not been identified in the table in question D-4 above add a column 
for each item (see “other factors”). For example, certain other selling expenses 
incurred.  

A column for “Credit expense” has been added as another factor in the 
“Domestic sales” spread sheet in Attachment 11 – EQ spreadsheets 
[CONFIDENTIAL].  

For the specific explanation of credit expense, please refer to E-2-4 
below. A sample calculation of credit expense is provided in the 
domestic sales sample packages at Attachments 22 [CONFIDENTIAL] 
and 23 [CONFIDENTIAL].  

 

D-6 For each type of commission, discount, rebate, allowance offered on domestic sales 
of like goods: 

• provide a description; and 

• explain the terms and conditions that must be met by the customer 
to qualify for payment. 

 
Where the amounts of these discounts, rebates etc are not identified on the sales 
invoice, explain how you calculated the amounts shown in your response to question 
D4.  

If you have issued credit notes, directly or indirectly to the customers, provide details 
if the credited amount has not been reported as a discount or rebate. 

Not applicable. 
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D-7 Select two domestic sales, in different quarters of the investigation period, that are at 
the same level of trade as the export sales. 

Provide a complete set of documentation for those two sales. Include, for example: 

• purchase order 

• order acceptance 

• commercial invoice 

• discounts or rebates applicable 

• credit/debit notes 

• long or short term contract of sale 

• inland freight contract 

• bank documentation showing proof of payment 
 

Customs and Border Protection will select additional sales for verification at the time 
of our visit.  

Two sample packages of domestic sales are provided in Attachments 22 
[CONFIDENTIAL] and 23 [CONFIDENTIAL]. 
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SECTION E - FAIR COMPARISON  
 
Section B sought information about the export prices to Australia and Section D sought 
information about prices on your domestic market for like goods (i.e. the normal value).  
 
Where the normal value and the export price are not comparable adjustments may be made. 
This section informs you of the fair comparison principle and asks you to quantify the amount 
of any adjustment.  
 
As prices are being compared, the purpose of the adjustments is to eliminate factors that have 
unequally modified the prices to be compared.  
 
To be able to quantify the level of any adjustment it will usually be necessary to examine cost 
differences between sales in different markets. Customs and Border Protection must be 
satisfied that those costs are likely to have influenced price. In practice, this means that the 
expense item for which an adjustment is claimed should have a close nexus to the sale. For 
example, the cost is incurred because of the sale, or because the cost is related to the sale 
terms and conditions.  
 
Conversely, where there is not a direct relationship between the expense item and the sale a 
greater burden is placed upon the claimant to demonstrate that prices have been affected, or 
are likely to have been affected, by the expense item. In the absence of such evidence 
Customs and Border Protection may disallow the adjustment. 
 
Where possible, the adjustment should be based upon actual costs incurred when making the 
relevant sales. However, if such specific expense information is unavailable cost allocations 
may be considered. In this case, the party making the adjustment claim must demonstrate that 
the allocation method reasonably estimates costs incurred. 
 
A party seeking an adjustment has the obligation to substantiate the claim by relevant 
evidence that would allow a full analysis of the circumstances, and the accounting data, 
relating to the claim.  
 
The investigation must be completed within strict time limits therefore you must supply 
information concerning claims for adjustments in a timely manner. Where an exporter has 
knowledge of the material substantiating an adjustment claim that material is to be available at 
the time of the verification visit. Customs and Border Protection will not consider new claims 
made after the verification visit.  
 
E-1 COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH EXPORT SALES  
 
(These cost adjustments will relate to your responses made at question B-4, ‘Australian 
Sales’) 

 
1. Transportation  

Explain how you have quantified the amount of inland transportation associated with 
the export sale (“Inland transportation costs”). Identify the general ledger account 
where the expense is located. If the amount has been determined from contractual 
arrangements, not from an account item, provide details and evidence of payment. 
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Inland transportation costs related to export sales have been reported 
based on the actual expense incurred in KRW/ton.  

Inland transportation costs related to export sales are located in the 
export expenses account of the general ledger.  

Union delivers the goods to the port using only one delivery company, 
Intergis. Intergis’ provides these services at competitive market rates. 

 
2. Handling, loading and ancillary expenses  

List all charges that are included in the export price and explain how they have been 
quantified (“Handling, loading & ancillary expenses”). Identify the general ledger 
account where the expenses are located. If the amounts have been determined using 
actual observations, not from a relevant account item, provide details.  
 
The various export related ancillary costs are identified in the table at question B4, for 
example: 

• terminal handling; 

• wharfage and other port charges; 

• container taxes; 

• document fees and customs brokers fees; 

• clearance fees; 

• bank charges, letter of credit fees 
• other ancillary charges. 

 

Handling and loading expenses are based on the actual incurred 
expenses in KRW per ton. These expenses are located in the export 
expense account of the general ledger. 

 
3. Credit 

The cost of extending credit on export sales is not included in the amounts quantified 
at question B4. However, Customs and Border Protection will examine whether a credit 
adjustment is warranted and determine the amount. Provide applicable interest rates 
over each month of the investigation period. Explain the nature of the interest rates 
most applicable to these export sales e.g. short term borrowing in the currency 
concerned.  
 
If your accounts receivable shows that the average number of collection days differs 
from the payment terms shown in the sales listing, and if export prices are influenced 
by this longer or shorter period, calculate the average number of collection days. See 
also item 4 in section E-2 below.  
 

 

Union reported the actual date of payment in the “Australian sales” 
spread sheet. Collection days were calculated as the period between the 
date of sale and the payment date. The calculation of the short-term 
interest rate is set out in Attachment 24 [CONFIDENTIAL]. 
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4. Packing costs 

List material and labour costs associated with packing the export product. Describe 
how the packing method differs from sales on the domestic market, for each model. 
Report the amount in the listing in the column headed ‘Packing’. 
 

Unit packing cost has been calculated by product codes, based on 
Union’s actual data of packing material and packing labour cost. Unit 
packing cost calculation is provided in Attachment 25 [CONFIDENTIAL]. 

 
5. Commissions 

For any commissions paid in relation to the export sales to Australia:  

- provide a description; and  

- explain the terms and conditions that must be met. 
 
Report the amount in the sales listing in question B-4 under the column headed 
“Commissions”. Identify the general ledger account where the expense is located. 

 

[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – details of price basis for export sales] 

 

6. Warranties, guarantees, and after sales services  

List the costs incurred. Show relevant sales contracts. Show how you calculated the 
expenses (“Warranty & guarantee expenses” and “Technical assistance & other 
services”), including the basis of any allocations. Include a record of expenses 
incurred. Technical services include costs for the service, repair, or consultation. 
Where these expenses are closely related to the sales in question, an adjustment will 
be considered. Identify the ledger account where the expense is located.  
 

[CONFIDENTIAL – information about warranty claims] 

 
7. Other factors 

There may be other factors for which an adjustment is required if the costs affect price 
comparability – these are identified in the column headed “Other factors”. For 
example, other variable or fixed selling expenses, including salesmen’s salaries, 
salesmen’s travel expenses, advertising and promotion, samples and entertainment 
expenses. Your consideration of questions asked at Section G, concerning domestic 
and export costs, would have alerted you to such other factors. 
 

No such other factors have been identified. 
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8. Currency conversions 

In comparing export and domestic prices a currency conversion is required. 
Fluctuations in exchange rates can only be taken into account when there has been a 
‘sustained’ movement during the investigation period (see article 2.4.1 of the WTO 
Agreement). The purpose is to allow exporters 60 days to adjust export prices to reflect 
‘sustained’ movements. Such a claim requires detailed information on exchange 
movements in your country over a long period that includes the investigation period.  
 

No such fluctuations have been identified. 

 
 

E-2  COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH DOMESTIC SALES  
 
(These cost adjustments will relate to your responses made at question D-4, “domestic 
sales”) 
 
The following items are not separately identified in the amounts quantified at question D-4. 
However you should consider whether any are applicable.  

 
1. Physical characteristics 

The adjustment recognises that differences such as quality, chemical composition, 
structure or design, mean that goods are not identical and the differences can be 
quantified in order to ensure fair comparison. 
 
The amount of the adjustment shall be based upon the market value of the difference, 
but where this is not possible the adjustment shall be based upon the difference in cost 
plus the gross profit mark-up (i.e. an amount for selling general and administrative 
costs (S G & A) plus profit). 
 
The adjustment is based upon actual physical differences in the goods being 
compared and upon the manufacturing cost data. Identify the physical differences 
between each model. State the source of your data.  

 

All exported models to Australia have their own identical models in the 
domestic market based on the product codes, except for three models 
(210013331, 210323331, 210853341). 

The differences between the GUC and the similar domestic models are 
set out in Attachment 18 [CONFIDENTIAL]. 

 
2. Import charges and indirect taxes 

If exports to Australia: 
 
- are partially or fully exempt from internal taxes and duties that are borne by the 

like goods in domestic sales (or on the materials and components physically 
incorporated in the goods), or 

- if such internal taxes and duties have been paid and are later remitted upon 
exportation to Australia; 
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the price of like goods must be adjusted downwards by the amount of the taxes and 
duties.  
 
The taxes and duties include sales, excise, turnover, value added, franchise, stamp, 
transfer, border, and excise taxes. Direct taxes such as corporate income tax are not 
included as such taxes do not apply to the transactions. 
 
Adjustment for drawback is not made in every situation where drawback has been 
received. Where an adjustment for drawback is appropriate you must provide 
information showing the import duty borne by the domestic sales. (That is, it is not 
sufficient to show the drawback amount and the export sales quantity to Australia. For 
example, you may calculate the duty borne on domestic sales by quantifying the total 
amount of import duty paid and subtracting the duty refunded on exports to all 
countries. The difference, when divided by the domestic sales volume, is the amount of 
the adjustment).  
 
In substantiating the drawback claim the following information is required: 
 
- a copy of the relevant statutes/regulations authorising duty exemption or 

remission, translated into English; 

- the amount of the duties and taxes refunded upon exportation and an 
explanation how the amounts were calculated and apportioned to the exported 
goods; 

- an explanation as to how you calculated the amount of duty payable on 
imported materials is borne by the goods sold domestically but is not borne by 
the exports to Australia; 

 
Substitution drawback systems 
 
Annex 3 of the WTO Agreement on Subsidies provides: “Drawback systems can allow 
for the refund or drawback of import duties on inputs which are consumed in the 
production process of another product and where the export of this latter product 
contains domestic inputs having the same quality and characteristics as those 
substituted for the imported inputs”  
 
If such a scheme operates in the country of export please provide full details about the 
operation of the scheme as well as providing the information requested above. 

 

Not applicable. 

 
3. Level of trade 

Question D-4 asks you to indicate the level of trade to the domestic customer. To claim 
an adjustment for level of trade differences you will need to quantify the amount by 
which level of trade influences price.  
 
Trade level is the level a company occupies in the distribution chain. The trade level to 
which that company in turn sells the goods and the functions carried out distinguish a 
level of trade. Examples are producer, national distributor, regional distributor, 
wholesaler, retailer, end user, and original equipment manufacturer.  
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It may not be possible to compare export prices and domestic prices at the same level 
of trade. Where relevant sales of like goods at the next level of trade must be used to 
determine normal values an adjustment for the difference in level of trade may be 
required where it is shown that the difference affects price comparability.  
 
The information needs to establish that there are real trade level differences, not 
merely nominal differences. Real trade level differences are characterised by a 
consistent pattern of price differences between the levels and by a difference in 
functions performed. If there is no real trade level differences all sales are treated as 
being at the same level of trade.  
 
A real difference in level of trade (may be adjusted for using either of the following 
methods: 
 
(a)   costs arising from different functions: the amount of the costs, expenses etc 

incurred by the seller in domestic sales of the like goods resulting from activities 
that would not be performed were the domestic sales made at the same level 
as that of the importer. 

 
This requires the following information: 
 
- a detailed description of each sales activity performed in selling to your 

domestic customers (for example sales personnel, travel, advertising, 
entertainment etc); 

- the cost of carrying out these activities in respect of like goods; 

- for each activity, whether your firm carries out the same activity when 
selling to importers in Australia; 

- an explanation as to why you consider that you are entitled to a level of 
trade adjustment. 

or 
 
(b) level discount: the amount of the discount granted to purchasers who are at the 

same level of trade as the importer in Australia. This is determined by an 
examination of price differences between the two levels of trade in the 
exporter’s domestic market, for example sales of like goods by other vendors or 
sales of the same general category of goods by the exporter. For this method to 
be used it is important that a clear pattern of pricing be established for the 
differing trade levels. Such pattern is demonstrated by a general availability of 
the discounts to the level - isolated instances would not establish a pattern of 
availability. 

 

No level adjustment has been identified.  

 
4.  Credit 

The cost of extending credit on domestic sales is not included in the amounts 
quantified at question D-4. However, Customs and Border Protection will examine 
whether a credit adjustment is warranted and determine the amount. An adjustment for 
credit is to be made even if funds are not borrowed to finance the accounts receivable.  
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The interest rate on domestic sales in order of preference is: 

• the rate, or average of rates, applying on actual short term borrowings by the 
company; or 

• the prime interest rate prevailing for commercial loans in the country for credit 
terms that most closely approximate the credit terms on which the sales were 
made; or 

• such other rate considered appropriate in the circumstances. 
 
Provide the applicable interest rate over each month of the investigation period. 
 

The short term interest rate has been calculated by the “average of 
rates” method referred to above (by dividing the short-term interest 
expenses during the investigation period with the average of short-term 
borrowings). Average short-term borrowing is calculated by quarterly 
basis, because Union’s balancing is carried out at end of quarter. This 
calculation is provided in Attachment 24 [CONFIDENTIAL]. 

 
If your accounts receivable shows that the average number of collection days differs 
from the payment terms shown in the sales listing, and if domestic prices are 
influenced by this longer or shorter period, calculate the average number of collection 
days.  
 
Where there is no fixed credit period agreed at the time of sale the period of credit is 
determined on the facts available. For example, where payment is made using an open 
account system,1 the average credit period may be determined as follows: 
 

1. Calculate an accounts receivable turnover ratio 
 
This ratio equals the total credit sales divided by average accounts receivable. 
(It is a measure of how many times the average receivables balance is converted into 
cash during the year). 

 
In calculating the accounts receivable turnover ratio, credit sales should be used in the 
numerator whenever the amount is available from the financial statements. Otherwise 
net sales revenue may be used in the numerator.  
 
An average accounts receivable over the year is used in the denominator. This may be 
calculated by: 

• using opening accounts receivable at beginning of period plus closing accounts 
receivable at end of period divided by 2, or 

• total monthly receivables divided by 12. 

 
2. Calculate the average credit period 

 
The average credit period equals 365 divided by the accounts receivable turnover ratio 
determined above at 1. 

                                            
1
 Under an open account system, following payment the balance of the amount owing is carried into the 

next period. Payment amounts may vary from one period to the next, with the result that the amount 
owing varies. 
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The resulting average credit period should be tested against randomly selected 
transactions to support the approximation.  

 
The following items are identified in the amounts quantified at question D-4:  
 

Union uses an open account system in its domestic account receivables 
collections. The account receivable turnover ratio and average credit 
period for each customer which purchased like goods during 
investigation period has been calculated in accordance with the above 
direction. A sample calculation of credit expense is provided in 
Attachments 22 [CONFIDENTIAL] and 23 [CONFIDENTIAL]. 

 
5. Transportation  

Explain how you have quantified the amount of inland transportation associated 
with the domestic sales (“Inland transportation Costs”). Identify the general 
ledger account where the expense is located. If the amount has been 
determined from contractual arrangements, not from an account item, provide 
details and evidence of payment. 

 

Inland freight expenses have been reported on a transaction-specific 
basis. For the purpose of determining freight charges, all carriers use the 
weight of the sale as listed on the shipping invoice.  

Shipment of Union’s home market sales are arranged by an affiliated 
freight forwarder “Intergis”. Union pays Intergis for domestic freight 
services in accordance with the applicable fee schedules. These 
schedules are based on a rate per ton by destination. Freight charges are 
incurred on a per ton basis by specific destination of delivery.  

Transportation costs have been determined from the prevailing 
contractual arrangement. Translated copies of contract with Intergis and 
applicable freight fee schedules for its provision of freight services to 
Union during the investigation period are provided in Attachment 20 
[CONFIDENTIAL]. Sample evidence of payment is provided in 
Attachments 22 [CONFIDENTIAL] and 23 [CONFIDENTIAL]. 

 
6. Handling, loading and ancillary expenses  

List all charges that are included in the domestic price and explain how they 
have been quantified (“Handling, loading and ancillary Expenses”). Identify 
the general ledger account where the expense is located. If the amounts have 
been determined using actual observations, not from a relevant account item, 
provide details.  
 

Not applicable. 
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7. Packing 

List material and labour costs associated with packing the domestically sold product. 
Describe how the packing method differs from sales on the domestic market, for each 
model. Report the amount in the listing in the column headed “Packing”. 
 

Unit packing cost has been calculated by product codes, based on 
Union’s actual data of packing material and packing labour cost. Unit 
packing cost calculation is provided in Attachment 25 [CONFIDENTIAL]. 

 
8. Commissions 

For any commissions paid in relation to the domestic sales:  

- provide a description  

- explain the terms and conditions that must be met. 
 
Report the amount in the sales listing under the column headed “Commissions”. 
Identify the general ledger account where the expense is located. 
 

[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – price basis for domestic sales] 

 
9. Warranties, guarantees, and after sales services  

List the costs incurred. Show relevant sales contracts. Show how you 
calculated the expenses (“Warranty & Guarantee expenses” and “Technical 
assistance & other services”), including the basis of any allocations. Include 
a record of expenses incurred. Technical services include costs for the service, 
repair, or consultation. Where these expenses are closely related to the sales 
in question, an adjustment will be considered. Identify the ledger account 
where the expense is located.  

 

Not applicable. Union has some small warranty expenses but it is not 
presently considered to be relevant to attempt to link the expense to 
specific products or sales. 

 
10. Other factors 

There may be other factors for which an adjustment is required if the costs affect price 
comparability – these are identified in the column headed “Other factors”. List the 
factors and show how each has been quantified in per unit terms. For example: 

- inventory carrying cost: describe how the products are stored prior to sale and 
show data relating to the average length of time in inventory. Indicate the 
interest rate used; 

- warehousing expense: an expense incurred at the distribution point; 

- royalty and patent fees: describe each payment as a result of production or 
sale, including the key terms of the agreement; 

- advertising; and 
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- bad debt. 

 

Union has not identified any other factors at this time, but reserves the 
right to present any appropriate items for verification should they be 
identified. 

 
E-3 DUPLICATION 

 
In calculating the amount of the adjustments you must ensure that there is no 
duplication.  
 
For example: 

- adjustments for level of trade, quantity or other discounts may overlap, or 

- calculation of the amount of the difference for level of trade may be based upon 
selling expenses such as salesperson’s salaries, promotion expenses, 
commissions, and travel expenses. 

 
Separate adjustment items must avoid duplication.  
 
An adjustment for quantities may not be granted unless the effect on prices for quantity 
differences is identified and separated from the effect on prices for level of trade 
differences.  

 

No duplication has been identified in the data as presented. 
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Please refer to the “Third country sales” spread sheet in Attachment 11 – 
EQ spreadsheets [CONFIDENTIAL]. 

 
F-2 Please identify any differences in sales to third countries which may affect their 

comparison to export sales to Australia. 
 

Export sales to Australia and to third countries are affected by the 
different market conditions and factors applying to each such market. 
[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – comparisons of prices to export 
markets] 
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SECTION G - COSTING INFORMATION AND CONSTRUCTED 
VALUE 
 
The information that you supply in response to this section of the questionnaire will be used for 
various purposes including: 
 

• testing the profitability of sales of like goods on the domestic market; 

• determining a constructed normal value of the GUC – i.e. of the goods exported to 
Australia; and 

• making certain adjustments to the normal value. 

 
You will need to provide the cost of production of both the exported goods (GUC) and for the 
like goods sold on the domestic market. You will also need to provide the selling, general, and 
administration costs relating to goods sold on the domestic market; the finance expenses; and 
any other expenses (e.g. non-operating expenses not included elsewhere) associated with the 
goods. 
 
In your response please include a worksheet showing how the selling, general, and 
administration expenses; the finance expenses; and any other expenses have been calculated.  
 
If, in response to question B4 (Sales to Australia, Export Price) you: 

• reported that the date of sale is not the invoice date and consider that this alternative date 
should be used when comparing domestic and export prices, and 

• provided information on domestic selling prices for a matching period as required in the 
introduction to Section D (Domestic Sales) 

you must provide cost data over the same period as these sales even if doing so means that 
such cost data predates the commencement of the investigation period. 
 
At any verification meeting you must be prepared to reconcile the costs shown to the 
accounting records used to prepare the financial statements.  
 

 
G-1 PRODUCTION PROCESS AND CAPACITY 

 
1. Describe the production process for the GUC. Provide a flowchart of the 

process. Include details of all products manufactured using the same 
production facilities as those used for the GUC. Also specify all scrap or by-
products that result from producing the GUC.  

 

A flowchart of the manufacturing process is provided at Attachment 26 
[CONFIDENTIAL].  

Union’s factories were located in Busan and Giheung. The Busan factory 
is the only facility involved in the manufacture of the GUC. 
[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – information about production at other 
factory] 

Union’s Busan factory produces the following products: 
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[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – full list of types of products 
manufactured at this location] 

Under an outsourcing contract with Union, Unico produced the following 
subject merchandise during the POI at Union’s Giheung factory: 

[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – list of tolling products] 

Neither Union’s Busan factory nor its Giheung factory produce by-
products or co-products as a result of the production of the subject 
merchandise, although both produce scrap. [CONFIDENTIAL TEXT 
DELETED – details of production at other factory] 

 
2. Complete the spread sheet entitled ‘Production’ within the Galvanised Steel 

and Aluminium Zinc Coated Steel Exporter Questionnaire – KOREA – 
accompanying spread sheet provided alongside this questionnaire.  
 
Provide the completed spread sheet in electronic format on CD-ROM (or via 
email) with your response. If formulas are used to calculate the field within this 
sheet, please ensure they remain included in the submitted version. 
 

Please see “Production” spread sheet at Attachment 11 – EQ 
spreadsheets [CONFIDENTIAL]. 

Union’s manufacturing processes are based on continuous production 
lines. Thus, the capacity of F/G (finished goods) is determined by the 
final process.  

[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – internal factory production layout and 
systems]  

The formula used in the spread sheet is as follows.  

Capacity utilisation (%) = Total hot-dipped galvanized steel product 
(Finished goods) / Sum of [CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED] galvanized 

lines capacity 

 
 

G-2. COST ACCOUNTING PRACTICES 
 

1. Outline the management accounting system that you maintain and explain how that 
cost accounting information is reconciled to your audited financial statements.  

 

An outline of Union’s cost (management) accounting system is provided 
at Attachment 27 [CONFIDENTIAL].  

Union has maintained its cost accounting system based on actual cost, 
and it can be reconciled to its audited financial statements. Union’s cost 
accounting system is an integral part of its accounting system used to 
prepare normal financial statements by providing a measure, in 
accordance with Korean GAAP and K-IFRS, of the cost of sales, 
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inventory, etc. 

 
2. Is your company’s cost accounting system based on standard (budgeted) costs? State 

whether standard costs were used in your responses to this questionnaire. If they were 
state whether all variances (i.e. differences between standard and actual production 
costs) have been allocated to the goods - and describe how those variances have been 
allocated. 
 

Not applicable. Union’s cost accounting system is maintained on an 
actual basis, and standard or budgeted cost system is not used. 

 
3. Provide details of any significant or unusual cost variances that occurred during the 

investigation period. 
 

Not applicable. There was no significant or unusual cost variance during 
the investigation period. 

 
4. Describe the profit/cost centres in your company’s cost accounting system. 

 

Union does not divide cost accounting system into sector by profit 
centre. The cost of each production line is calculated and allocated into 
the production line concerned. 

 
5. For each profit/cost centre describe in detail the methods that your company normally 

uses to allocate costs to the GUC. In particular specify how, and over what period, 
expenses are amortised or depreciated, and how allowances are made for capital 
expenditures and other development costs. 
 

Union uses a process accounting system, and not a standard or budget 
accounting system. A flowcharts illustrating Union’s cost reporting is 
included in Attachment 27 [CONFIDENTIAL].  

Union’s accounting system is structured so that all costs incurred at its 
production facilities including periodic costs are recorded as production 
costs. Costs incurred in the selling divisions, administration and other 
corporate departments are classified as selling, general and 
administrative expenses. All of the aggregated costs are allocated into 
each MO (Manufacturing Order). Cost of the GUC by product code is 
calculated by the sum of the MOs. 

 
6. Describe the level of product specificity (models, grades etc) that your company’s cost 

accounting system records production costs. 
 

As already mentioned above, production cost has been calculated on an 
MO basis. Each MO is the relevant unit for manufacturing and cost 
allocation (costs are allocated to each MO’s product specifically).  
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7. List and explain all production costs incurred by your company which are valued 
differently for cost accounting purposes than for financial accounting purposes. 
 

Not applicable. Union does not maintain a separate cost accounting 
system, and thus has not valued any costs differently for cost and 
financial accounting purposes. 

 
8. State whether your company engaged in any start-up operations in relation to the GUC. 

Describe in detail the start-up operation giving dates (actual or projected) of each stage 
of the start-up operation. 
 

Not applicable. Union did not engage in any start-up production 
operations for the GUC during the investigation period which would 
provide the basis for a start-up adjustment. 

 
9. State the total cost of the start-up operation and the way that your company has treated 

the costs of the start-up operation it its accounting records. 
 

Not applicable.  

 
G-3 COST TO MAKE AND SELL ON DOMESTIC MARKET 
 
This information is relevant to testing whether domestic sales are in the ordinary course of 
trade.2  
 
1. Complete the spread sheet entitled ‘Domestic CTMS’ within the Galvanised 

Steel and Aluminium Zinc Coated Steel Exporter Questionnaire – KOREA – 
accompanying spread sheet provided alongside this questionnaire.  

 
Provide the completed spread sheet in electronic format on CD-ROM (or via 
email) with your response. If formulas are used to calculate the field within this 
sheet, please ensure they remain included in the submitted version. 

 
In doing so, provide the actual unit cost to make and sell each model/type (identified in 
Section C) of the like goods sold on the domestic market.  
 
Provide this cost data for each quarter over the investigation period. If your company 
calculates costs monthly, provide monthly costs.  

 
Indicate the source of cost information (account numbers etc) and/or methods used to 
allocate cost to the goods. Provide documentation and worksheets supporting your 
calculations.  

 
If you are unable to supply this information in this format, please contact the Case 
Manager for this investigation at the address shown on the cover of this questionnaire.  
 
Please specify unit of currency.  

                                            
2
  Customs and Border Protection applies the tests set out in s.269TAAD of the Customs Act 1901 to 

determine whether goods are in ordinary course of trade. These provisions reflect the WTO Anti-
Dumping Agreement – see Article 2.2.1. 
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Monthly periods have been used in the spread sheet entitled “Domestic 
CTMS” at Attachment 11 – EQ spreadsheets [CONFIDENTIAL]. Basically, 
cost to make is allocated by specification of product and cost to sell is 
allocated by sales quantity. Domestic CTMS provides a summary of 
production cost of GUC by given formula. The monthly actual unit costs 
to make and sell of each product code are provided in Attachment 28 
[CONFIDENTIAL]. Unit cost to sell is calculated by allocating the total 
expenses which occurred during the year. 

 
 
G-4 COST TO MAKE AND SELL GOODS UNDER CONSIDERATION (GOODS 

EXPORTED TO AUSTRALIA)  
 

Complete the spread sheet entitled ‘Australian CTMS’ within the Galvanised 
Steel and Aluminium Zinc Coated Steel Exporter Questionnaire – KOREA – 
accompanying spread sheet provided alongside this questionnaire.  

 
Provide the completed spread sheet in electronic format on CD-ROM (or via 
email) with your response. If formulas are used to calculate the field within this 
sheet, please ensure they remain included in the submitted version. 

 
In doing so, provide the actual unit cost to make and sell each model/type (identified in 
Section C) of the like goods sold on the domestic market.  
 
Provide this cost data for each quarter over the investigation period. If your company 
calculates costs monthly, provide monthly costs.  

 
Indicate the source of cost information (account numbers etc) and/or methods used to 
allocate cost to the goods. Provide documentation and worksheets supporting your 
calculations.  

 
If you are unable to supply this information in this format, please contact the Case 
Manager for this investigation at the address shown on the cover of this questionnaire.  
 
Please specify unit of currency.  
 

Monthly periods have been used in the spread sheet entitled “Australian 
CTMS” at Attachment 11 – EQ spreadsheets [CONFIDENTIAL]. Basically, 
cost to make is allocated by specification of product and cost to sell is 
allocated by sales quantity. Domestic CTMS provides a summary of 
production cost of GUC by given formula. The monthly actual unit costs 
to make and sell of each product code are provided in Attachment 28 
[CONFIDENTIAL]. Unit cost to sell is calculated by allocating the total 
expenses which occurred during the year. 

 
The information is relevant to calculating the normal values based on costs. It is also relevant 
to calculating certain adjustments to the normal value. 
 
G-5 Where there are cost differences between goods sold to the domestic market and those 

sold for export, give reasons and supporting evidence for these differences. 
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Where product specifications are the same as between product sold on 
the domestic market and for export, the cost of goods (production cost, 
“total cost to make”) will be the same. There is no reason to apply 
different cost calculation between goods for domestic market and export 
market. However, in “cost to sell”, there are some differences in unit 
selling, administration, delivery and other costs. 

 
 
G-6 Give details and an explanation of any significant differences between the costs shown, 

and the costs as normally determined in accordance with your general accounting 
system. Reference should be made to any differences arising from movements in 
inventory levels and variances arising under standard costing methods.  

 

For providing more accurate unit cost calculation, scrap deduction and 
monthly adjustment of material cost are reflected to COM (cost of 
manufacturing). However ending balance of movement in inventory is 
not affected.  

As there are no differences in packing cost calculation, Union provides 
unit packing cost calculation in Attachment 25 [CONFIDENTIAL]. Packing 
cost is not a production cost, but is a kind of selling expense. However, 
Union calculated packing cost by actual cost of packing line and 
normally determined cost of goods includes packing cost. Packing cost 
should be excluded from production cost and recalculated unit packing 
cost by packing codes. Based on unit packing cost, packing costs by 
invoice are reported in the spread sheets of “Australian sales” and 
“Domestic sales” in Attachment 11 [CONFIDENTIAL]. 

 
 
G-7 In calculating the unit cost to make and sell, provide an explanation if the allocation 

method used (e.g. number, or weight etc) to determine the unit cost differs from the 
prior practice of your company.  

 

Not applicable. The unit cost determination method was maintained 
during the investigation period. 

 
 
G-8 List major raw material costs, which individually account for 10% or more of the total 

production cost. 
 

For these major inputs: 
 

• identify materials sourced in-house and from associated entities; 

• identify the supplier; and 

• show the basis of valuing the major raw materials in the costs of production you 
have shown for the goods (e.g. market prices, transfer prices, or actual cost of 
production). 
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Where the major input is produced by an associate of your company Customs 
and Border Protection will compare your purchase price to a normal market 
price. If the associate provides information on the cost of production for that 
input such cost data may also be considered.  
 
Normal market price is taken to be the price normally available in the market 
(having regard to market size, whether the input is normally purchased at ‘spot 
prices’ or under long term contracts etc).  
 
The term associate is defined in section 269TAA of the Act. Included in that 
definition are companies controlled by the same parent company (a company 
that controls 5% or more of the shares of another is taken to be an associated 
company); companies controlled by the other company; and companies having 
the same person in the board of directors.  
 
If the major input is purchased or supplied from an integrated production 
process you should provide detailed information on the full costs of production 
of that input.  

 

The major inputs and the primary raw materials used to produce the 
subject merchandise are hot-rolled carbon steel coil and galvanizing 
(zinc) materials (zinc/aluminium).  

The portion of raw material in the total production cost is provided at 
Attachment 29 [CONFIDENTIAL]. The quantity and value of purchases of 
the inputs used in producing the GUC during the investigation period is 
provided in Attachment 30 [CONFIDENTIAL]. [CONFIDENTIAL TEXT 
DELETED – internal accounting methods] 

With the exception of hot-rolled carbon steel, all material inputs used for 
Union’s production were purchased from unaffiliated parties. Electricity, 
water, gas, and oil used at Union’s production facility were all purchased 
from unaffiliated parties. All machinery and equipment used by Union 
were purchased from unaffiliated parties.  

Among the hot-rolled coil suppliers to Union there are [CONFIDENTIAL 
TEXT DELETED – names of affiliated suppliers].  

[CONFIDENTIAL TEXT DELETED – details of affiliated suppliers] 
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Union's Board of Directors, Managing Director

(As of December 31, 2011)

Name Position Member of 
Chang Family

Holds Position in
Another Dongkuk 
Group Company

Chang, Sae Joo Chairman Yes Yes
Chang, Sae Wook President Yes Yes
Chae, Ju Pyo Vice President
Jung, Kwang Yong Senior Managing Director Yes
Yang, Sam Seung Outside Director
Min, Seung Gi Outside Director
Lee, Yong Soo Senior Managing Director
Son, Gu Yeol Managing Director
Roh, Yang Jun Managing Director Yes
Kim, Suk Jin Managing Director
Son, Ho Director Yes
Wu, Nam Chul Director
Kim, Gap Tae Director
Choi, Jong Chul Director
Lee, Min Jae Director
Yim, Dong Kyu Director Yes
Kim, Sang yeop
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

 

Union Steel Co., Ltd.  

To Shareholders & The Board of Directors 

 

 

 We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Union Steel Co., Ltd. (the 

Company) as of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, and the related statements 

of income, appropriations of retained earnings, changes in capital and cash flows for the 

fiscal year.  These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company‟s 

management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 

based on our audit. . In our report dated March 2, 2011, We expressed an opinion that 

the financial statements as of December 31, 2010 fairly presented in conformity with 

generally accepted accounting principles in the Republic of Korea (“Korean GAAP”). 

Principle adjustments made by the company in restating its previously published financial 

statements in Korean GAAP are described in Note4. 

 

Our audit was performed in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 

the Republic of Korea. These standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 

obtain reasonable assurance about where the financial statements are free of material 

misstatements. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 

amounts and disclosure in the financial statement. An audit also includes assessing the 

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 

evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits 

provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material 

respects, the financial position of the Company and as of December 31, 2011 and 

December 31, 2010, and the results of its operations, the changes in retained earnings 

and the cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with financial accounting 

standards generally accepted in Korea. 
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23-5, Yeoido-Dong, 

Yeongdeungpo-Gu, Seoul 

Anjin Accounting Corp. 

CEO, Jae Sul Lee 

Mar 7, 2012 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This Auditor‟s report is effective as of balance sheet date. Therefore any event or circumstance 

material to the financial statements can occur after the balance sheet date. This auditor‟s report is 

contingent on those events or circumstances. 
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Statement of Financial Position 

 

Current period: as of Dec 31, 2011 

Prior period: as of Dec 31, 2010  

Transition date: as of Jan 01, 2010  

 

Union Steel Co., Ltd (unit: KRW) 

 

Description 2011 2010 Transition date 

Assets             

I. Current Assets   695,188,582,171   704,263,625,434   593,147,428,152 

1. Cash and cash 

equivalent (note 6,34) 
42,736,561,818   66,451,435,348   95,462,349,034   

2. Short-term 

financial instrument 

(note 7, 8,35,36) 

17,000,000,000   22,980,761,527   65,432,000,000   

3. Trade receivables  

(note 8,9) 
371,315,699,319   319,099,349,387   228,975,053,650   

4. Loans and 

receivables (note 

8,10) 

26,663,579,818   2,090,715,024   1,332,890,209   

5. Current derivative 

asset (note8,23) 
-   -   414,354,370   

6. Current held-to-

maturity securities 

(note 8,11,35) 

20,135,000   6,758,965,000   121,740,000   

7. Current available-

for-sale securities 

(note 8,12) 

16,656,161,941   15,972,823,409   8,000,000,000   

8. Inventories (note 

14) 
211,934,365,286   262,545,172,031   185,350,104,730   

9. Current assets held 

for sale (note 15) 
1,737,289,742   797,230,000   -   

10. Income tax refund 

receivable  
469,606,639   823,782,269   534,057,340   

11. Other Current 

Assets (note16) 
6,655,182,608   6,743,391,439   7,524,878,819   

II. Non-current Assets   
1,240,639,611,14

5 
  

1,192,944,431,74

4 
  

1,224,019,332,53

2 

1. Long term financial 

instruments (note 7,8) 
2,057,400,000   2,035,900,000   19,900,000   

2. Long-term loans 

and receivables (note 
16,077,458,707   7,701,439,198   9,072,166,984   
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Description 2011 2010 Transition date 

8,10) 

3. Non-current 

derivative asset 

(note8,23) 

-   -   93,397,767   

4. Held-to-maturity 

securities (note 

8,11,35) 

1,424,700,000   1,121,955,000   2,372,095,000   

5. Available-for-sale 

securities (note 8,12) 
6,546,018,595   50,084,235,002   42,332,442,613   

6. Investment in 

Equity method (note 

13) 

170,388,017,852   140,757,647,852   135,097,131,852   

7. Tangible Assets 

(note 17,21,36) 
927,139,334,739   876,433,378,854   957,554,247,301   

8. Investment 

Property (note 18) 
110,279,963,333   107,234,269,214   70,708,603,686   

9. Intangible Assets 

(note 19) 
6,726,717,919   7,575,606,624   6,769,347,329   

Total Assets   
1,935,828,193,31

6 
  

1,897,208,057,17

8 
  

1,817,166,760,68

4 

Liabilities             

I. Current Liabilities   707,929,498,979   740,757,158,838   591,300,202,162 

1. Trade payables  

(note 20) 
157,734,284,502   164,742,837,586   199,796,161,210   

2. Short-term 

borrowings and 

debentures (note 

20,21) 

511,911,593,833   540,280,197,766   347,059,532,702   

3. Current derivatives 

liabilities(note 20,23) 
-   -   132,667,931   

4. Other financial 

liability (note 20,22) 
35,425,589,887   32,404,961,687   39,726,527,753   

5. Other current 

liability (note 24) 
2,858,030,757   3,329,161,799   4,585,312,566   

II. Non-Current 

Liabilities 
  497,713,260,451   410,214,952,856   520,924,720,313 

1. Long-term 

borrowings and 

Debentures  (note 

20, 21) 

443,853,362,000   348,804,648,000   463,525,966,000   

2. Pension liability 

(note 25)  
20,256,092,277   28,712,395,489   17,150,774,209   

3. Other long-term 

financial liability (note 

20, 22) 

11,821,910,500   9,869,946,860   10,125,576,200   
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Description 2011 2010 Transition date 

4. Non-current 

deferred income tax 

liabilities  (note 32) 

18,652,300,450   20,370,238,636   27,863,330,621   

5. Provision (note 26) 1,650,396,239   2,457,723,871   2,259,073,283   

6. Non-current 

derivatives 

liabilities(note 20, 23) 

1,479,198,985   -   -   

Total Liabilities   
1,205,642,759,43

0 
  

1,150,972,111,69

4 
  

1,112,224,922,47

5 

Stockholder‟s Equity             

1. Capital Stock (note 

27) 
  51,300,000,000   51,300,000,000   51,300,000,000 

2. Capital Surplus (note 

27) 
  51,640,703,538   51,640,703,538   51,640,703,538 

3. Retained Earnings 

(note 27) 
  628,070,633,791   621,661,940,482   574,181,207,586 

4. Other capital (note 

27) 
  -825,903,443   21,633,301,464   27,819,927,085 

Total Stockholder‟s 

Equity 
  730,185,433,886   746,235,945,484   704,941,838,209 

Total Liabilities and 

Stockholder‟s Equity  
  

1,935,828,193,31

6 
  

1,897,208,057,17

8 
  

1,817,166,760,68

4 
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Statements of comprehensive Income 

 

Current period: For the year ended Dec 31, 2011 

Prior period: For the year ended Dec 31, 2010 

 (Unit: KRW) Union Steel Co., Ltd 

Description 2011  2010  

I. Sales (note 5)   1,946,033,328,675    1,927,458,647,111  

II. Cost of sales (note28)   1,839,484,542,478    1,758,044,928,935  

III. Gross profit(loss)   106,548,786,197    169,413,718,176  

IV. SG&A (note 28,29)   72,048,061,891    78,066,012,282  

1.Selling expenses 44,558,032,092    53,186,418,957    

2.General and administration expenses 27,490,029,799    24,879,593,325    

V. Other operating revenues (note 30)   32,740,495,503    14,081,851,423  

VI. Other operating expense (note 30)   15,139,573,573    30,801,384,273  

VII. Operating income(Loss)   52,101,646,236    74,628,173,044  

VIII. Financial income (note31)   23,992,023,447    22,139,355,301  

1.Gain on foreign currency transaction 16,582,026,975    7,526,598,659    

2.Gain on transaction in foreign exchange 483,210,680    7,556,086,725    

3. Interests earned (note 31) 6,163,605,392    6,390,344,717    

4. Dividends income 763,180,400    666,325,200    

IX. Financial expense (note31)   59,614,025,854    47,179,712,581  

1.Loss on foreign currency transaction 1,841,113,370    5,123,475,343    

2.Loss on transaction in foreign exchange 23,618,002,218    7,411,063,510    

3.Interest expense (note31) 34,154,910,266    34,645,173,728    

X. Income(loss) before income tax expenses   16,479,643,829    49,587,815,764  

XI. Income tax expenses(benefit)  

(note 32) 
  5,995,564,042    (4,519,115,027) 

XII. Net Income(loss)   10,484,079,787    54,106,930,791  

XIII. Other comprehensive income    (21,404,752,385)   (12,812,823,516) 

1. Net change in fair value of available-

for-sale financial assets (note 12) 
(21,305,429,699)   (6,186,625,621)   

2. Net change in fair value of derivatives 

(note 23) 
(1,153,775,208)   -   

3. Defined benefit plan actuarial losses  1,054,452,522    (6,626,197,895)   

XIV. Total comprehensive income   (10,920,672,598)   41,294,107,275  

XV. Earnings per share          

1. Basic EPS (note 33)   1,022    5,274  
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Statement of Changes in Equity 

 

 
Current period: For the year ended Dec 31, 2011 

 
Prior period: For the year ended Dec 31, 2010 

  (Unit: KRW) Union Steel Co., Ltd 

Description 

Common  Capital retained 

earnings 

Other  
Total 

stock  Surplus capital  

          

2010.01.01 [beginning balance] 51,300,000,000  51,640,703,538  574,181,207,586  27,819,927,085  704,941,838,209  

1.Total comprehensive income           

1)  Net Income - - 54,106,930,791  - 54,106,930,791  

2) Other comprehensive income 

and loss 
- - (6,626,197,895) (6,186,625,621) (12,812,823,516) 

2010.12.31 [Ending balance] 51,300,000,000  51,640,703,538  621,661,940,482  21,633,301,464  746,235,945,484  

2011.01.01 [beginning balance] 51,300,000,000  51,640,703,538  621,661,940,482  21,633,301,464  746,235,945,484  

1. Annual Dividends - - (5,129,839,000) - (5,129,839,000) 

2. Total comprehensive income           

1) Net Income - - 10,484,079,787  - 10,484,079,787  

2)Other comprehensive income  - - 1,054,452,522  (22,459,204,907) (21,404,752,385) 

2011.12.31 [Ending balance] 51,300,000,000  51,640,703,538  628,070,633,791  (825,903,443) 730,185,433,886  

 

 

Statements of Cashflows 

 

Current period: For the year ended Dec 31, 2011 

Prior period: For the year ended Dec 31, 2010 

 

Union Steel Co., Ltd (Unit: KRW) 
 

Description 2011 2010 

Ⅰ. Cash Flow from Operating Activities   42,442,984,534    (99,114,940,696) 

1.Cash flows from operating  75,940,126,319    (70,412,395,588)   

A. Net Income(Loss) 10,484,079,787    54,106,930,791    

B. Adjustments (note 34) 87,683,304,960    86,733,163,334    

 C. Changes in working capital (note 

34) 
(22,227,258,428)   (211,252,489,713)   

2. Dividends received  763,180,400    666,325,200    

 3. Dividends paid (5,129,839,000)   -   

 4. Interest earned  6,458,945,977    7,033,568,676    

5. Interest expenses  (34,267,340,416)   (36,752,610,397)   



9 

 

Description 2011 2010 

6. Decrease(Increase) in Income tax 

refund receivable  
(1,322,088,746)   350,171,413    

Ⅱ. Cash flows from investing activities    (106,203,480,477)   (8,536,355,608) 

1. Decrease in Short-term financial 

instrument 
5,980,761,527    42,451,238,473    

2. Increase in Long term financial 

instruments 
(21,500,000)   (2,016,000,000)   

3. Increase in Long-term loans (12,000,000,000)   -   

4. Disposition of  Held-to-maturity 

securities 
6,758,965,000    121,350,000    

5. Acquisition of  Held-to-maturity 

securities 
(322,880,000)   (5,508,435,000)   

6. Disposition of Available-for-sale 

securities   
82,409,542,840    8,563,812,893    

7. Acquisition of Available-for-sale 

securities   
(66,869,318,426)   (32,220,000,000)   

8. Acquisition of investment securities 

in Equity method   
(29,630,370,000)   (5,660,516,000)   

9. Disposition of Tangible assets 237,677,146    6,404,951,507    

10. Acquisition of Tangible assets (92,672,995,074)   (18,074,681,111)   

11. Acquisition of Intangible assets (74,303,500)   (1,135,000,000)   

12. Cash flow from Other Investment 940,010    (1,463,076,370)   

Ⅲ. Cash flows from financing activities   40,518,633,459    78,780,676,588  

A. Increase(Decrease)  in Short-term 

borrowings  
(116,962,110,541)   228,095,800,588    

B. Increase in borrowings and 

Debentures 
217,545,112,000    30,000,000,000    

C. Redemption of borrowings and 

Financial debentures 
(60,064,368,000)   (179,315,124,000)   

Ⅳ. Increase(Decrease) in Cash (Ⅰ＋Ⅱ＋

Ⅲ) 
  (23,241,862,484)   (28,870,619,716) 

Ⅴ. Beginning Cash (note 34)   66,451,435,348    95,462,349,034  

VI. Effect of exchange rate fluctuations 

on cash and cash equivalent 
  (473,011,046)   (140,293,970) 

Ⅷ. Ending Cash  (note 19)   42,736,561,818    66,451,435,348  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

 

Current period: as of Dec 31, 2011 

Prior period: as of Dec 31, 2010 

 

Union Steel Co., Ltd 

 

1. Summary of the company 

 

Union Steel Co., Ltd (“the Company”) is established in 1962, and listed on Korea Stock 

Exchange in 1973 and engaging in manufacturing and selling of cold rolled corrosion 

resistant flat products. As of the balance sheet date, the Company‟s headquarters are 

located in Suha-dong, Jung-gu and factory is located in Gamman-Dong, Busan and 

Hwasung-si, Dongtan-myun and annual capacity is 2,000,000 ton.  

The company has increased its capital by several free issue of new shares and issue of 

new shares to be purchased and the current capital comprises of common stocks. (51, 

300, 000)(000 KRW) The list of major shareholders as of December 31, 2010 is as follows: 

Name # of shares Ratio (%) 

Dongkuk Steel Mill 6,680,297 65.11 

POSCO 1,005,000 9.80 

Others 2,574,703 25.09 

Total 10,260,000 100.00 

 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies  

 

(1) Basis of presentation 

 

The company first adopted the International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 

by Republic of Korea (“Korean IFRS”) from the fiscal year 2011 (the date of first-time 

adoption to Korea IFRS: January 1, 2011). In accordance with Korea IFRS 1101, the date 

of transition to Korean IFRS is January 1, 2010. The effect of the transition from Korean 

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“K-GAAP”) to K-IFRS on the company‟s 

reported financial position and financial performance is explained in note 4.  

The significant accounting policies that applied to the financial statements after the 
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transition to Korean IFRS are described below. These standards have been consistently 

applied to 2011 and 2010 comparative financial information presented. 

  

The financial statements were prepared on the historical cost basis except for non-

current assets and financial assets. The historical cost is measured in value of exchanging 

assets or in fair value of the acquisition cost. 

 

 Items included in the financial statements of the company are measured using the 

currency of the primary economic environment in which a company operates („the 

functional currency‟). The financial statements are presented in Korean Won (KRW). 

  

 There are standards, amendments and interpretations, which have been issued but not 

yet come into effect. New standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not 

effective for the current financial statements and not early adopted are as follows. 

 

- K-IFRS No.1107  Financial instruments: Disclosures (Revised) 

 “Derecognition of financial assets” 

The standard requires disclosures for the financial instruments that the company 

transferred but not derecognized, or derecognized but substantially retained of the asset. 

The standard will be applied prospectively for the company from July 1, 2011. 

 

- K-IFRS No. 1012  Income Taxes (Revised) 

 “Deferred tax: Recovery of the underlying asset”  

The standard defines the measurement of the deferred income taxes for the investment 

property using a fair value measurement and non-depreciable assets using a revaluation 

method (regarding to K-IFRS No. 1016) under the assumptions of reversal of the assets 

by selling . The standard will be applied prospectively for the company‟s annual periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2012. 

 

- K-IFRS No. 1019 (Revised) Employees benefits 

The standard defines the repeal of standards regarding to the corridor approach method 

and at fair value through profit or loss method. The standard will be applied 

prospectively for the company‟s annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. 

 

- K-IFRS No. 1113 (amended) Fair Value Measurement  
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The standard defines fair value and a single framework for fair value, and requires 

disclosures about fair value measurements. The standard will be applied prospectively for 

the company‟s annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  

It is not expected to have any impact on the Company or the financial statements. 

 

The important accounting policies applied in financial statements preparation are as 

follows.  

 

(2) Cash and Cash equivalent  

 

The company classifies currency, deposit, checking account, and all highly liquid 

investments with less than three months maturity from the date of acquisition to be cash 

equivalents. Meanwhile, bank overdraft is classified as borrowings and debentures.  

 

(3) Financial assets 

 

 Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date – the 

date on which the company commits to purchase or sell the assets in accordance with 

the terms or regulations in the related markets. Investments are initially recognized at 

fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets. However, financial assets classified 

at fair value through profit or loss at initial recognition are recognized at fair value. 

 The company classified its financial assets in the following categories; at fair value 

through profit or loss, held-to-maturity, available-for-sale, loans and receivables. The 

classification depends on the terms of the instruments and purpose for which the 

financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial 

assets at initial recognition. 

 

1) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

 

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise financial assets held for 

trading and financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss at initial 

recognition. A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the 

purpose of selling in the short-term. Derivatives including embedded derivatives that are 

separated from the host contract and accounted for separately are also categorized as 

held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Financial assets carried at fair 

value through profit or loss are initially recognized at fair value, and arising gain or loss 
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from changes in financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss is presented in 

the current period income and loss. However, transaction costs are expensed in the 

current period income and loss as incurred. 

 Financial assets that are either designated in at fair value through profit or loss or held 

for trading are classified in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.  

 

 Financial assets held for trading are classified as following: 

- Acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term. 

- Marketable securities with the object of generating profit in short period that 

constitutes stock portfolio as trading stock at initial recognition  

- Derivatives those are not designated and effective as hedges. 

 

Financial assets that are not held for trading can be designated in financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss as following: 

- By designating items at fair value through profit or loss, the company can avoid 

any potential for inconsistencies between recognition and measurement that 

would otherwise occur.  

- When the financial assets are the part of the financial asset groups (consisting of 

financial assets, financial liabilities or both) by the documented risk management 

or strategy, or managed or assessed at fair value and provided information 

internally. 

- In the case of the financial assets included more than one embedded derivative, 

and designated a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss in accordance 

with K-IFRS 1039. 

 

Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are recognized at fair value, 

and arising gain or loss from changes in financial assets carried at fair value through 

profit or loss is presented in the current period income and loss. Dividend income and 

interest revenue from financial assets are recognized in the current period income or loss 

and accounted for other revenues in the statement of comprehensive income. However, 

transaction costs for acquisition are expensed in the current period income and loss as 

incurred. 

 

2) Held-to-maturity investments 
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 Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 

determinable payments and fixed maturity that an entity has the positive intention and 

ability to hold to maturity. Held-to-maturity financial assets are recorded as net value 

after deducting previously recognized cumulative gains or losses from amortized costs 

computed by the effective interest method. The interest revenues are recognized using 

the effective interest method. 

 

3) Available-for-sale financial assets 

 

 Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivatives assets that are designated in 

this category or not classified in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held-

to-maturity investments or loans and receivables. Subsequent to initial recognition, they 

are measured at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of available-

for-sale financial assets are recognized in other comprehensive income except for 

impairment losses recognized as a current period income or loss, interest revenues 

calculated using the effective interest method, and gains and losses of monetary assets 

denominated in foreign currency classified as available-for-sale financial assets.  

 

 Available–for-sale securities that are not traded in an active market and whose fair 

values cannot be reliably estimated are accounted for at their acquisition costs. When 

financial assets classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the cumulative gains 

or losses previously recognized in equity are reclassified to the current period income 

and loss. Dividends on available-for-sale financial assets are recognized in the current 

period income and loss as part of other operating income when the company‟s right to 

receive payments is established.  

 

 The fair value of monetary securities denominated in a foreign currency and classified 

as available-for-sale is measured using the functional currency and translated at the 

closing rate at the end of the reporting date. Gains and losses on monetary assets 

denominated in foreign currency classified as available-for-sale financial assets 

recognized as a current period are determined from the amortized costs of financial 

assets, other gains and losses on foreign currency transactions are recognized in other 

comprehensive income.  

Available–for-sale financial assets that are not traded in an active market and whose fair 

values cannot be reliably estimated and the derivatives that is linked to and must be 
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settled by delivery of an unquoted equity instrument are measured at cost less 

previously recognized cumulative gains or losses at the end of each reporting period.  

 

4) Loans and receivables 

 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments that are not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables are measured 

at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Interests on loans and receivables 

are measured using the effective interest method except for trade receivables of which 

the effect of interest revenue recognition is immaterial.  

 

5) Impairment of Financial assets  

 

 The company assesses financial assets at the end of each reporting period whether 

there is objective evidence that it is impaired. financial assets are impaired and 

impairment loss is incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result 

of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‟loss 

event‟) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows 

of the financial assets that can be reliably estimated. 

 

Equity instruments (listed or non-listed securities) classified as available-for-sale, a 

significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is also 

evidence that the assets are impaired.  

 

One of following will be considered as an objective evidence for financial assets that are 

designated in available-for-sale financial assets: 

- A debtor or issuer in a financially challenged situation  

- Default or delinquency by a debtor 

- A debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy or in restructuring 

- The disappearance of an active market for a security 

 

 In the case of a certain category in financial assets like trade receivables, the assessed 

financial assets that were not impaired are reassessed whether the financial assets are 

impaired as a group. An objective evidence for a group of receivables will be considered 

such as default or delinquency by a debtor in a country, a region with a significant 
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change of the economic situation, the historical experience of the company, or increase 

of more than 30 days, the average credit terms, overdue payments. 

 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is 

calculated as the difference between its carrying amount and the present value of its 

estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset‟s original effective interest rate.  

 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial assets carried at cost is measured as the 

difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the present value of 

estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar 

financial asset. Such impairment losses shall not be reversed. When the company 

determines not to be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of 

receivables, bad debts are written off against the allowance account for receivables. 

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the 

allowance account. Changes in the allowance account are recognized in the current 

period income or loss. 

 

When the company determines that the available-for-sale is impaired, the cumulative 

loss (gain) on equity instruments previously recognized in other comprehensive income 

is reclassified to the current income or loss. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the 

decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was 

recognized, the reversal of the previously recognized impairment loss should not exceed 

the amortized cost that could have been accounted before the impairment loss 

recognition. 

 

Impairment losses (gains) on available-for-sale previously recognized in the prior 

income or loss are not reversed through the current period income or loss. The amount 

of increase in fair value after recognizing impairment loss is recognized in other 

comprehensive income. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument 

classified as available-for-sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an 

event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in the prior income or loss, the 

impairment loss is reversed through the current period income or loss. 

 

6) Derecognition of a financial asset  
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The company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash 

flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows 

on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial 

assets that is created or retained by the company is recognized as a separate asset or 

liability.  

 

If the company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 

transferred financial assets, the company continues to recognize the transferred financial 

assets and recognizes financial liabilities for the consideration received.  

 

(5) Inventory  

 

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined 

using the average cost method, except for goods-in-transit. The cost comprises purchase 

costs or manufacturing costs, incidental costs directly related to preparing the inventories 

for use. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 

business, less additional costs and applicable selling expenses. 

 Cost of sale is recognized as the carrying amount in the related sales period of 

inventories. However, if the impairment loss arises by assessing the inventories by lower 

of cost or market method, the loss is presented as deduction from inventory and added 

to cost of sales. In the meantime, if the impaired amount is recovered due to change of 

situation that had caused impairment loss, the impairment loss will be recovered. 

However, the recovered amount should not exceed the first book value of the inventory 

and the amount is deducted from the cost of sales.  

 

 (6) Tangible assets 

 

  Tangible assets are stated at cost at initial recognition less accumulated depreciation 

and accumulated impairment losses. The historical cost includes purchase costs or 

manufacturing costs, incidental costs directly related to preparing the property and 

equipment for use, and the discounted estimated cost to remove, dismantle or restore 

the property and equipment at the end of estimated useful lives of related assets, when 

those costs meet the conditions for the recognition.  
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The subsequent cost of property, plant and equipment is included in the carrying 

amount of the asset or recognized as a separate asset as necessary, if it is probable that 

the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow into the company and if 

the cost can be reliably measured. Accordingly, the carrying amount of the replaced part 

is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of tangible assets are recognized 

in current period income or loss as incurred. 

  

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-

line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, 

as follows: 

Account Estimated Useful Life 

Building 20-40 yrs 

Structure 20-40 yrs 

Machinery 8-35 yrs 

Other tangible assets 4 yrs 

 

A component that is significant compared to the total cost of property, plant and 

equipment is depreciated over its separate useful life.  

 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial 

year-end, if expectations differ from previous estimates, and adjusted if appropriate. The 

change is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate.  

  

Tangible assets shall be derecognized (eliminated from the balance sheet) on disposal, 

or no future economic benefits are expected from use or its disposal. Gains or losses 

arising from the retirement or disposal of a tangible property shall be determined as the 

difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and 

shall be recognized in the current period income or loss as incurred. 

 

(7)  Investment property  

 

The property for the purpose of rental income and capital appreciation is classified as 

investment property. Investment property is stated at cost at initial recognition less 

accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes a 

related expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition. 
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The cost of replacing a part of investment property is included in the carrying amount 

of the asset or recognized as a separate asset as necessary if it is probable that the 

future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow into the company and if the 

cost can be reliably measured. Accordingly, the carrying amount of the replaced part is 

derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of tangible assets are recognized in 

current period income or loss as incurred. 

 

 Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-

line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives 

(20-40years). 

 

An investment property shall be derecognized (eliminated from the balance sheet) on 

disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no 

future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Gains or losses arising from the 

retirement or disposal of investment property shall be determined as the difference 

between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and shall be 

recognized in the current period income or loss as incurred. 

 

(8) Intangible asset 

 

 Intangible assets are measured at cost initially, and recognized at cost less accumulated 

amortization and accumulated impairment losses subsequent to initial recognition. 

Intangible asset comprises club memberships and other intangible assets and is 

amortized using straight-line method over the useful lives of the respective assets. The 

residual value of intangible assets is assumed to be zero.  

 

(9) Impairment of non-financial assets 

 

 Non-financial assets including tangible and intangible assets are reviewed at each 

reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 

indication exists, then the assets‟ recoverable amount is estimated. The company 

estimates the recoverable amount of an individual asset, if it is impossible to measure 

the individual recoverable amount of an asset, then the company estimates the 

recoverable amount of cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs. A CGU 
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is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely 

independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. 

 

Intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for use, 

irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the impairment test may be 

performed at the same time every year. 

   

 The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair 

value less selling cost. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an 

asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are 

recognized in the current period income or loss.  

 

The reversal of the previously recognized impairment loss should not exceed the 

carrying amount (or CGU) that is the smaller of the adjusted recovery amount or carrying 

amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for 

the asset in prior years. The reversed impairment losses are recognized in the current 

period income or loss. 

 

(10) Non-current assets held-for-sale  

 

 The company shall classify a non-current asset (or disposal group) as held for sale if its 

carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than 

through continuing use. For this to be the case the asset (or disposal group) must be 

available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual 

and customary for sales of such assets (or disposal groups) and its sale must be highly 

probable. For the sale to be highly probable, the appropriate level of management must 

be committed to a plan to sell the asset (or disposal group), and an active program to 

locate a buyer and complete the plan must have been initiated. The sale should be 

expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of 

classification. Non-current assets (or disposal group) as held for sale are measured at the 

lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 

 

(11) Debt and equity instruments issued by the company 

 

1) Classification of assets and liabilities 
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 The company classifies financial instruments, or its components as financial liability or 

asset in accordance with the substance of the contractual agreement. 

 

2) Equity instrument 

 

 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of 

an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Transaction costs of an equity issued by the 

company shall be accounted for as a deduction from equity, net of any related income 

tax benefit.  

 

When the company repurchases its share capital, these amounts are recognized as a 

deduction from equity and classified as treasury shares. The profits or losses from the 

purchase, disposal, reissue, or retirement of treasury shares are not recognized as current 

profit or loss.  

 

3) Financial guarantee liability 

 

 The company recognizes a financial guarantee liability at fair value at inception. The 

liability is measured at fair value through profit or loss, otherwise, after initial recognition, 

it shall be measured the guarantee liability at the higher of: 

- The amount determined in accordance with K-IFRS 1037 Provisions, Contingent 

Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and 

- The amount determined, the initial recognized amount less the cumulative 

amortization recognized in accordance with K-IFRS 1018 Revenue 

 

4) Financial liability 

 

Financial liability classifies „financial liability at fair value through profit‟ or loss or „other 

liability‟. 

 

5) Financial liability at fair value through profit or loss 

 

Financial liabilities that are either designated in at fair value through profit or loss or 

held for trading are classified in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.  
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 Financial liability held for trading are classified as following: 

- Acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short-term. 

- Marketable securities with the object of generating profit in short period that 

constitutes stock portfolio as trading stock at initial recognition  

- Derivatives those are not designated and effective as hedges. 

 

Financial liabilities that are not held for trading can be designated in financial liabilities 

at fair value through profit or loss as following. 

- By designating items at fair value through profit or loss, the company can avoid 

any potential for inconsistencies between recognition and measurement that 

would otherwise has been occurred.  

- When the financial liabilities are the part of the financial liability groups (or a 

group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both) by the documented risk 

management or strategy, or managed or assessed at fair value and provided 

information internally. 

- In the case of the financial liability included more than one embedded derivative, 

and designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss by K-IFRS 

1039. 

 

A financial liability is classified as a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss if 

it is held for trading or is designated as such upon initial recognition. Upon initial 

recognition, transaction costs are recognized in the current period income or loss when 

incurred. Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is 

recognized in the current period income or loss when the company‟s right to receive 

payments is established.  

 

6) Other financial liability 

 

At the date of initial recognition, other financial liabilities are measured at fair value 

minus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition. Subsequent to 

initial recognition, other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the 

effective interest method. Interest expense is recognized using the effective interest 

method. The effective interest method uses for an amortization and allocation of the 

interest expense over the related period.  
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7) Derecognition of a financial liability 

 

The company derecognizes a financial liability from the statements of financial position 

when it is extinguished (i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, 

cancelled or expires). 

 

(12) Provisions 

 

Provisions are recognized when the company has a present legal or constructive 

obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources 

embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 

estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

 

The risks and uncertainties that inevitably surrounded many events and circumstances 

are taken into account in reaching the best estimate of a provision at the end of 

reporting periods. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are 

determined at the present value of the expected future cash flows. Provisions are 

measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 

obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value 

of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to 

passage of time is recognized in the current period income or loss.  

 

 The amount recognized as a provision shall be the best estimate of the expenditure 

required to settle the present obligation at the end of a reporting period. The best 

estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation is the amount that 

an entity would rationally pay to settle the obligation at the end of a reporting period or 

to transfer it to a third party at that time. 

 

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the 

current best estimates. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources 

embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is 

reversed.  

 

 (13) Derivatives 
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The company enters into forward exchange contracts, interest rate swaps, currency 

swaps and other derivative contracts to manage interest rate risk and foreign exchange 

risk. 

The company evaluates its derivatives at fair value at initial recognition, after initial 

recognition, it is measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Derivatives 

are accounted for as asset and liability incurred in accordance with the current period 

contracts. Gain or loss from the derivatives is recognized as current net income loss at 

the time of incurrence. However, effective part for risk hedge among gain or loss on 

valuation of derivatives for cash flow risk hedge is recorded as other comprehensive 

accumulated income or loss in the account of gain or loss on valuation of derivatives for 

cash flow hedge.  

 

1) Hedge accounting 

 

 The company designated derivatives as hedging instruments to hedge the risk of 

changes in the fair value of assets, liabilities or firm commitments (a fair value hedge) 

and foreign currency risk of highly probable forecasted transactions or firm commitments 

(a cash flow hedge). 

 On initial designation of the hedge, the company formally documents the relationship 

between the hedging instruments and hedged items, including the risk management 

objectives and strategy in undertaking the hedge transaction, together with the methods 

that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. 

 

2) Fair value hedges 

 

Changes in the fair value of a derivative hedging instrument designated as a fair value 

hedge are recognized in the current period income or loss. The gain or loss from 

remeasuring the hedging instrument at fair value for a derivative hedging instrument 

and the gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are recognized 

in profit or loss in the same line item of the statement of comprehensive income.  

 If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised or the hedge no 

longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or the company revokes the designation, 

the hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. 
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3) Cash Flow hedge   

 

 When a derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of the variability 

in cash flows attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognized asset or 

liability or a highly probable forecast transaction that could affect profit or loss, the 

effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognized in other 

comprehensive income and presented in the hedging reserve in equity. The amount 

recognized in other comprehensive income is removed and included in profit or loss in 

the same period as the hedged cash flows affect profit or loss under the same line item 

in the statement of comprehensive income as the hedged item. Any ineffective portion 

of changes in the fair value of the derivative is recognized immediately in the current 

period income or loss. 

 

 If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised or the hedge no 

longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or the company revokes the designation, 

the hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. The cumulative gain or loss on the 

hedging instrument that has been recognized in other comprehensive income is 

reclassified to profit or loss in the periods during which the forecasted transaction occurs. 

If the forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur, then the balance in other 

comprehensive income is recognized immediately in the current period income or loss. 

 

(14) Revenue recognition  

 

 Revenue shall be measured the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for 

the sale of goods and services rendered in the ordinary course of business. Revenue is 

shown net of value-added tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales 

within the company. Revenue is recognized when it is probable that future economic 

benefits will flow to the company and these benefits can be measured reliably. 

 

 Revenue is recognized from the following transactions and events: 

 

1) Sales of goods 

 

 The company recognizes revenues for products or merchandize sales upon the delivery 

basis when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of goods have transferred to 
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the buyer. 

 

2) Rental sales 

The company recognizes the revenue as the rental period progresses for rental sales. 

 

3) Interest income and Dividends 

 Interest income is recognized using the effective interest method. Dividend income is 

recognized when the right to receive payment is established. 

 

An effective interest method is the method that a present value of a future cash flow is 

equal to a carrying value by amortizing over the remaining term of the securities.  

 

(15) Borrowing costs 

 

 The company capitalizes borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 

construction or production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset. A 

qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get 

ready for its intended use or sale. To the extent that the company borrows funds 

specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the company determines the 

amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization as the actual borrowing costs 

incurred on that borrowing during the period less any investment income on the 

temporary investment of those borrowings. The company immediately recognizes other 

borrowing costs as a current expense.  

 

(16) Retirement and severance Benefits  

 

 When an employee has rendered service to the company during a period, the company 

recognizes the contribution payable to a defined contribution plan in exchange for that 

service as an expense. 

 

The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the 

projected unit credit method at the end of each reporting period. The company‟s net 

obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated by estimating the amount of 

future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and 

prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its present value. The fair value of 
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plan assets is deducted.  

 

The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on corporate bonds that have 

maturity dates approximating the terms of the company‟s obligations and that are 

denominated in the same currency in which the benefits are expected to be paid. 

However, the discount rate at the reporting date on government bonds is used when 

there is no active market existed for corporate bonds. The company recognizes all 

actuarial gains and losses arising from actuarial assumption changes and experiential 

adjustments in other comprehensive income when incurred. Actuarial gains and losses 

recognized in other comprehensive income is recognized as capital surplus as incurred, 

and it is not reversed in the same period after recognition. To the extent that the 

benefits are already vested immediately following the introduction of, or changes to, a 

defined benefit plan, the company recognizes the past service cost immediately, 

otherwise, linked past service costs in prior periods is recognized as an expense on a 

straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested. 

 

When the fair value of plan assets exceeds the present value of the defined benefit 

obligation, the company recognizes an asset, to the extent of the total of cumulative 

unrecognized past service cost and the present value of any economic benefits available 

in the form of refunds from the plan or reduction in the future contributions to the plan.  

 

(17) Foreign currency transactions 

 

 In preparing financial statements of the company, transactions in currencies other than 

functional currencies are recorded using the exchange rate at the transaction date. 

Monetary foreign currency items are translated using closing rate at the end of the 

reporting period.  Non-monetary foreign currency items denominated in foreign 

currencies that are measured at fair value are translated using the exchange rate on the 

date that the fair value was determined. However, Non-monetary foreign currency items 

that are measured in terms of historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at 

the transaction date. 

  

Exchange differences arising from monetary foreign currency items at the settlement 

date are recognized in profit or loss, except as following: 

- For foreign currency differences from net investment in a foreign operation 
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- From translation of monetary foreign currency items arising from financial liabilities 

which are designated as a qualifying cash flow hedges. 

 

(18) Income tax 

 

 Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  

 

1) Current tax 

 

 Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable profit or loss for 

the period. The taxable profit is different from the accounting profit for the period since 

the taxable profit is calculated excluding the temporary differences, which will be taxable 

or deductable in determining taxable profit (loss) of future periods, non-taxable or non-

deductible items from the accounting profit. Current tax liability for the current and prior 

periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to the taxation authorities, 

using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 

reporting period. 

 

2) Deferred tax 

 

Deferred tax is recognized, using the asset-liability method, in respect of temporary 

differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 

purpose and the amounts used for taxation purposes. A deferred tax liability is 

recognized for all taxable temporary differences. A deferred tax asset is recognized for all 

deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will 

be available against which they can be utilized. However, deferred tax is not recognized 

for the following temporary differences: taxable temporary differences arising on the 

initial recognition of goodwill or the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a 

transaction that is not a business combination and that affects either accounting nor 

taxable profit or loss. 

 

The company recognizes a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences 

associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, except to the extent that the 

company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it 

is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. A 
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deferred tax asset is recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent 

that, and only to the extent that, it is probable that the differences relating to 

investments in subsidiaries and associates only to the extent that it is probable that the 

temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be 

available against which the temporary difference can be utilized.  

 

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of each reporting 

period. The company reduces the carrying amount of a deferred tax asset to the extent 

that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow the 

benefit of part of all of that deferred tax asset to be utilized. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to 

apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax 

rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 

period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets reflects the 

tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the company expects, at 

the end of the reporting period to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and 

liabilities. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to 

offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the 

same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they 

intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and 

liabilities will be realized simultaneously.    

 

3) Recognition of current tax and deferred tax 

 The company accounts for the tax consequences of transactions and other events in the 

same way that it accounts for the transactions and other events themselves. Thus, for 

transactions and other events recognized in the other comprehensive income, any 

related tax effects are also recognized in other comprehensive income. For transactions 

and other events recognized directly in equity, any related tax effects are also recognized 

directly in equity. The recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities in a business 

combination is also similar. Otherwise, they are recognized in the current period income 

or loss. The tax effect on a business combination is accounted for over the cost of the 

combination. 

 K-IFRS may be adopted from Jan, 01, 2010, or after 2011. However, it is reasonable to 
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expect that additional standards and interpretations may be published in the future. 

Accordingly, the different accounting policies may be applied to the first presented 

financial statements and the interim financial statements under K-IFRS.  As the 

amendments and revisions of K-IFRS are still processing, financial information can be 

changed.  

 

3. Significant estimates and judgments 

 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with K-IFRS requires 

management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application 

of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 

expenses. Significant judgment and assumptions are based on historical experience and 

other factors believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may 

differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and 

in any future periods affected.  

 

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year 

are addressed below. 

 

(1) Fair value measurement of financial assets 

 Financial assets (i.e. available-for-sale or derivatives) measured at fair value, after initial 

recognition, changes in fair value were recognized in the current period income or 

loss or other comprehensive income. For recognition, the quoted market price in an 

active market will be applied, otherwise measured based on the estimated future 

cash flows expected and the discounted rate estimated by the management. 

 

(2) Allowance for loans and receivables 

The Company provides allowance for doubtful accounts based on individual analysis on 

possibility of collection of each receivable account such as trade receivable and long 

term account receivable as of the current BS date and the rates of the bad debts in the 

past. Considering past experience, economic and industrial environment factors, the 

company estimates the amounts. 
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(3) The measurement of Tangible and Intangible assets 

If a tangible or intangible asset is acquired in a business combination, the cost of 

asset is its fair value at the acquisition date by assessing its fair value. Other than that, 

the estimated useful life for depreciation is required, and a judgment by management 

for above is important.  

 

(4) Impairment of non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the company‟s non-financial assets are reviewed at the end of 

the reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any 

such indication exists, then the assets‟ recoverable amounts are estimated. Intangible 

assets with indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for use, irrespective of 

whether there is any indication of impairment, are tested for impairment annually by 

comparing their recoverable amount to their carrying amount. If there is any indication 

of impairment for other non-financial assets, the test will be applied.  

 

The company estimates the recoverable amount of an individual asset, if it is impossible 

to measure the individual recoverable amount of an asset, then the company estimates 

the recoverable amount of cash-generating unit (“CGU”). The value in use is estimated by 

applying a pre-tax discount rate that reflect current market assessments of the time 

value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU for which estimated future 

cash flows have not been adjusted, to the estimated future cash flows expected to be 

generated by the asset or CGU.  

 

(6) Employees benefits 

 The company uses actuarial techniques to make a reliable estimate of the amount of 

benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior 

periods. This requires the company to determine how much benefit is attributable and to 

make estimates (actuarial assumptions), financial variables (such as future increases in 

salaries), discount rate, etc. The uncertainty may be inevitable under the circumstance of 

a long term plan. 

 

(6) Deferred tax 

 Deferred income tax is recognized using the asset-liability method. This requires 

management‟s judgment to measure and recognize deferred income tax under the 
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assumption of future circumstance. 

 

4. Transition to International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the Republic 

of Korea from Generally Accepted Accounting Principle in the Republic of Korea. 

 

 The company first adopted the International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 

by Republic of Korea („Korea-IFRS‟) from the fiscal year 2011 (the date of first-time 

adoption to Korea IFRS: Jan, 01, 2011). The comparison year 2010, is restated in 

accordance with Korea IFRS 1101, Firs-time adoption of International Financial Reporting 

Standards (the date of transition to Korea –IFRS: Jan, 01, 2010). 

 

Significant differences between the accounting policies chosen by the company under 

Korean IFRS and under previous Korean GAAP are as follows: 

 

(1) Optional exemptions under K-IFRS 1101  

 

 In accordance with K-IFRS 1101 the company may elect to apply one or more 

exemptions in applying other K-IFRS regarding the preparation of its opening K-IFRS 

statements of financial position. The company elected to apply the following exemptions: 

 

1) Business combination: Past business combinations that occurred before the date of 

transition to Korean IFRS is not retrospectively restated.  

2) Investment in equity method: The company elects to measure the investment in 

equity method on the transition to Korean IFRS and uses the carrying value in 

accordance with K-GAAP as its deemed cost. 

3) Fair value as deemed cost: The company elects to measure certain land assets at fair 

value at the date of transition to Korean IFRS and use the fair value as its deemed 

cost.  

4) Borrowing costs: The company capitalizes borrowing costs directly attributable to 

the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost 

of that asset at or after the transition.   

5) Cumulative translation differences: All cumulative translation gains and losses arising 

from foreign subsidiaries and associates as of the date of transition to Korean IFRS 

are reset to zero. 

6) Lease: The company assessed whether a contract or arrangement contains a lease as 
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of the date of the transition based on the facts.  

7) Compound financial instruments: Compound financial instruments do not need to 

be bifurcated if the liability component is not outstanding at the transition date. 

8) Designation of previously recognized financial instruments: The company chose to 

designate a financial instruments as a financial asset or liability “at fair value through 

profit or loss” or “available-for-sale” at the transition date. 

 

(2) Explanation of transition to Korea-IFRS 

 

Significant differences between the accounting policies chosen by the company under 

Korean IFRS and under previous Korean GAAP are as following: 

 

1) Impairment of financial assets 

The allowance for receivables was estimated by assessing the loss of future 

undiscounted cash flows under K-GAAP. The company assesses if there is any indication 

that a financial asset may be impaired. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 

amount of the individual asset, an entity shall determine the recoverable amount as an 

identifiable group for estimating allowance in accordance with K-IFRS   

 

2) Derecognition of financial assets 

 Transferring receivables to the financial institutions are considered as sales transaction 

under K-GAAP. However, transferring receivables to the financial institutions is not 

satisfied of derecognition of financial assets category under K-IFRS, it is accounted for 

borrowings pledged on receivables. 

 

3) Reclassification of other intangible assets 

 Other non-current assets such as club membership classified under K-GAAP were 

reclassified as intangible assets with an indefinite useful life. 

  

4) Reclassification of Investment property 

 Investment property was property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation under 

K-GAAP, it is reclassified as investment property under K-IFRS. 

 

5) Employee benefits 
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Employees and directors with at least one year of service are entitled to receive a lump-

sum payment upon termination of their employment with SEC, its Korean subsidiaries 

and certain foreign subsidiaries, based on their length of service and rate of pay at the 

time of termination. Under the previous severance policy pursuant to Korean GAAP, 

Accrued severance benefits represented the amount which would be payable assuming 

all eligible employees and directors were to terminate their employment as of the end of 

the reporting period. However, under Korean IFRS, the liability is determined based on 

the present value of expected future payments calculated and reported using actuarial 

assumptions. 

 

6) Deferred Tax 

 

Under Korean GAAP, deferred tax assets and liabilities were classified as either current or 

non-current based on the classification of their underlying assets and liabilities. If there 

are no corresponding assets or liabilities, deferred tax assets and liabilities were classified 

based on the periods the temporary differences were expected to reverse Under Korean 

IFRS deferred tax assets and liabilities are all classified as non-current on the statement 

of financial position. The tax effect of adjustments above is reflected on the financial 

statements. 

 

 (3) Adjustment of financial position due to the transition 

 

1) The effects of the adoption of K-IFRSs on the company‟s financial position as of 

January 1, 2010, the Transition date to K-IFRSs are as follows:  

(unit : million KRW) 

Description 
Korean 

GAAP 

Impairm

ent of 

financial 

assets 

Reclassifi

cation of 

club 

member

ship 

Reclassifi

cation of 

investme

nt 

property 

pension 

Valuation 

of 

inventori

es 

Eliminated 

valuation 

of equity 

method 

Deferred 

tax 
others 

Korean 

IFRS 

Assets 1,810,355 6,661 - - - 1,544 - -1,393 - 1,817,167 

I. Current Assets 590,040 2,956 - - - 1,544 - -1,393 - 593,147 

1. Cash and cash 

equivalent  
95,462 - - - - - - - - 95,462 

2. Short-term 

financial 

instrument 

65,432 - - - - - - - - 65,432 

3. Trade 

receivables 
226,019 2,956 - - - - - - - 228,975 
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Description 
Korean 

GAAP 

Impairm

ent of 

financial 

assets 

Reclassifi

cation of 

club 

member

ship 

Reclassifi

cation of 

investme

nt 

property 

pension 

Valuation 

of 

inventori

es 

Eliminated 

valuation 

of equity 

method 

Deferred 

tax 
others 

Korean 

IFRS 

4. Loans and 

receivables 
1,217 - - - - - - - - 1,217 

5. Current held-

to-maturity 

securities 

122 - - - - - - - - 122 

6. Current 

available-for-sale 

securities  

8,000 - - - - - - - - 8,000 

7. Inventories  183,806 - - - - 1,544 - - - 185,350 

8. Income tax 

refund receivable  
534 - - - - - - - - 534 

9. Deferred 

income tax asset 
1,393 - - - - - - -1,393 - - 

10. Derivative 

assets  
414 - - - - - - - - 414 

11.Other current 

assets 
7,640 - - - - - - - - 7,640 

II. Non-current 

Assets 
1,220,315 3,705 - - - - - - - 1,224,020 

1. Long term 

financial 

instruments  

20 - - - - - - - - 20 

2.Lont term 

loans and 

receivables 

8,055 3,705 -2,687 - - - - - - 9,073 

3. Held-to-

maturity 

securities  

2,372 - - - - - - - - 2,372 

4. Available-for-

sale securities  
42,332 - - - - - - - - 42,332 

5. Equity method 

investment 
135,098 - - - - - - - - 135,098 

6. Derivative 

asset 
93 - - - - - - - - 93 

7.Tangible Assets 1,028,263 -   -70,709 - - - - - 957,554 

8. Investment 

property 
- -   70,709 - - - - - 70,709 

9. Intangible 

Assets 
4,082 - 2,687   - - - - - 6,769 

Liabilities 1,105,092 - - - 2,266 - -5,545 5,110 5,302 1,112,225 

I. Current 

Liabilities 
588,257 - - - - - - - 3,043 591,300 
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Description 
Korean 

GAAP 

Impairm

ent of 

financial 

assets 

Reclassifi

cation of 

club 

member

ship 

Reclassifi

cation of 

investme

nt 

property 

pension 

Valuation 

of 

inventori

es 

Eliminated 

valuation 

of equity 

method 

Deferred 

tax 
others 

Korean 

IFRS 

1. Trade 

payables  
199,796 - - - - - - - - 199,796 

2.Borrowings 

and debentures 
347,060 - - - - - - - - 347,060 

3. Other financial 

liability 
37,026 - - - - - - - 2,700 39,726 

4. Derivatives 

liabilities 
133 - - - - - - - - 133 

5. Other current 

liabilities 
4,242 - - - - - - - 343 4,585 

II.  Non-Current 

Liabilities 
516,835 - - - 2,266 - -5,545 5,110 2,259 520,925 

1.Long term 

borrowings and 

debentures 

463,526 - - - - - - - - 463,526 

2.pension 14,885 - - - 2,266 - - - - 17,151 

3.long term 

other financial 

liability 

10,126 - - - - - - - - 10,126 

4. Deferred 

income tax 

liabilities 

28,298 - - - - - -5,545 5,110 - 27,863 

5. Provisions - - - - - - - - 2,259 2,259 

Equity 705,263 6,661 - - -2,266 1,544 5,545 -6,503 -5,302 704,942 

 

2) Details of differences of the financial statements as of December 31, 2010 between K-

IFRSs and K-GAAP.  

 (Unit : million KRW) 

Description 
Korean 

GAAP 

Impairme

nt of 

financial 

assets 

Derecog

nition of 

financial 

assets 

Reclassifi

cation of 

club 

members

hip 

Reclassifi

cation of 

investme

nt 

property 

Pension 

Valuation 

of 

inventory 

Eliminated 

valuation 

of Equity 

method 

Deferred 

taxes 
others 

Korea 

IFRS 

Assets 1,846,510  8,510  23,731  -  -  (99) 986  5,932  (2,708) 14,346  1,897,208  

I. Current Assets 677,798  6,111  23,731  -  -  -  986  -  (2,708) (1,654) 704,264  

1. Cash and cash 

equivalent  

66,451  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  66,451  

2. Short-term 

financial 

instrument 

22,981  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  22,981  

3. Trade 289,258  6,111  23,731  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  319,100  
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Description 
Korean 

GAAP 

Impairme

nt of 

financial 

assets 

Derecog

nition of 

financial 

assets 

Reclassifi

cation of 

club 

members

hip 

Reclassifi

cation of 

investme

nt 

property 

Pension 

Valuation 

of 

inventory 

Eliminated 

valuation 

of Equity 

method 

Deferred 

taxes 
others 

Korea 

IFRS 

receivables 

4. Loans and 

receivables 

8,474  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (6,383) 2,091  

5. Current held-

to-maturity 

securities 

6,759  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  6,759  

6. Current 

available-for-sale 

securities  

15,973  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  15,973  

7. Inventories  264,010  -  -  -  -  -  986  -  -  (2,451) 262,545  

8. Income tax 

refund receivable  

-  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  797  797  

9.Held-for-sale 824  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  824  

10. Deferred 

income tax asset 

2,708  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (2,708) -  -  

11.Other current 

assets 

360  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  6,383  6,743  

II. Non-current 

Assets 

1,168,712  2,399  -  -  -  (99) -  5,932  -  16,000  1,192,944  

1. Long term 

financial 

instruments  

2,036  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  2,036  

2.Lont term loans 

and receivables 

9,125  2,399  -  (3,823) -  -  -  -  -  -  7,701  

3. Held-to-

maturity securities  

1,122  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  1,122  

4. Available-for-

sale securities  

184,910  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  50,084  

5. Equity method 

investment 

50,084  -  -  -  -  -  -  5,932  -  -  140,758  

6.Tangible Assets 966,965  -  -  -  (107,234) (99) -  -  -  16,801  876,433  

7. Investment 

property 

3,757  -  -  -  107,234  -  -  -  -  -  107,234  

8.Intangible assets -  -  -  3,823  -  -  -  -  -  (4) 7,576  

9.Other 

investments 

797  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (797) -  

Liabilities 1,122,537  -  23,731  -  -  2,522  -  (6,999) 6,533  2,647  1,150,971  

I. Current 

Liabilities 

716,837  -  23,731  -  -  -  -  -  -  189  740,757  

1. Trade payables  164,743  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  164,743  
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Description 
Korean 

GAAP 

Impairme

nt of 

financial 

assets 

Derecog

nition of 

financial 

assets 

Reclassifi

cation of 

club 

members

hip 

Reclassifi

cation of 

investme

nt 

property 

Pension 

Valuation 

of 

inventory 

Eliminated 

valuation 

of Equity 

method 

Deferred 

taxes 
others 

Korea 

IFRS 

2.Borrowings and 

debentures 

516,549  -  23,731  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  540,280  

3. Other financial 

liability 

32,074  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  331  32,405  

4. Other current 

liabilities 

3,471  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  (142) 3,329  

II.  Non-Current 

Liabilities 

405,700  -  -  -  -  2,522  -  (6,999) 6,533  2,458  410,215  

1.Long term 

borrowings and 

debentures 

348,805  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  348,805  

2.pension 26,190  -  -  -  -  2,522  -  -  -  -  28,712  

3.long term other 

financial liability 

9,869  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  9,869  

4. Deferred 

income tax 

liabilities 

20,836  -  -  -  -  -  -  (6,999) 6,533  -  20,370  

5. Provisions -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  2,458  2,458  

Equity 723,973  8,510  -  -  -  (2,621) 986  12,931  (9,241) 11,699  746,236  

 

(4) Adjustment of the statements of comprehensive income due to transition 

1) Details of differences of the statements of comprehensive income as of December 31, 

2010 between K-IFRSs and K-GAAP. 

(Unit : million KRW)) 

Description 
Korean 

GAAP 

Impairment 

of financial 

asset 

Pension 

Valuation 

of 

inventory 

Eliminated 

valuation 

of equity 

method 

Deferred 

tax 
others 

Korean 

IFRS 

I. Sales  1,926,594  - - - - - 865  1,927,459  

II. Cost of sales  1,780,675  - (7,344) 881  - - (16,167) 1,758,045  

III. Gross profit(loss) 145,919  - 7,344  (881) - - 17,032  169,414  

IV. SG&A 82,484  (2,926) (2,065) - - - 573  78,066  

V. Non-operating 

income 

36,005  (1,270) - - (18,951) - (1,702) 14,082  

VI. Non-operating 

expense 

52,070  - - - (21,890) - 621  30,801  

VII. Operating 

income(Loss) 

47,370  1,656  9,409  (881) 2,939  - 14,136  74,629  

VIII. Financial 

Revenues  

23,350  - - - - - (1,211) 22,139  
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1.Gain on foreign 

currency transaction 

7,527  - - - - - - 7,527  

2.Gain on 

transaction in 

foreign exchange 

7,556  - - - - - - 7,556  

3. Interests earned  7,661  - (1,271) - - - - 6,390  

4. Dividends income 606  - - - 60  - - 666  

IX. Financial expense  47,180  - - - - - - 47,180  

1.Loss on foreign 

currency transaction 

5,123  - - - - - - 5,123  

2.Loss on 

transaction in 

foreign exchange 

7,412  - - - - - - 7,412  

3.Interest expense 34,645  - - - - - - 34,645  

X. Income(loss) 

before income tax 

expenses 

23,540  1,656  9,409  (881) 2,939  - 12,925  49,588  

XI. Income tax 

expenses(benefit)  

(6,776) - - - - 2,257  - (4,519) 

XII. Net Income(loss) 30,316  1,656  9,409  (881) 2,939  (2,257) 12,925  54,107  

IV. Other 

comprehensive 

income  

(9,176) - (6,626) - 2,989  - - (12,813) 

1. Gains(Loss) on 

valuation of 

available-for-sale 

securities (note 6) 

(6,187) - - - - - - (6,187) 

2. Loss(gain) from 

using equity 

method   

(2,989) - - - 2,989  - - - 

3.Actuarial gains 

and losses 

- - (6,626) - - - - (6,626) 

4. Loss(gain) on 

revaluation of assets   

(2,111)           2,111  - 

XIV. total 

comprehensive 

income 

19,029  1,656  2,783  (881) 5,928  (2,257) 15,234  41,294  

Operation incomes under K-GAAP are 63,436,000(„000 KRW). It is the difference due to the 

reclassification items between non-operating revenue (expense) under K-GAAP and other revenue 

(expense) under K-IFRS.  

 

 (5) According to Korean IFRS, cash flows from interest, dividends received and taxes on 

income shall each be disclosed separately. For presentation, it is adjusted differences on 

cash flows of related revenue (expense) and assets (liabilities).  
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Meanwhile, foreign currency transactions are recorded in total amount and deducted 

from the monetary assets. There are no other material differences between the statement 

of cash flows presented under K-IFRSs and the statement of cash flows presented under 

previous K-GAAP. 

Cash flows from interest, dividends received and taxes on income classified as non-

monetary assets under K-GAAP are reclassified as operation cash flows under K-IFRS. 

Furthermore, changes in monetary assets denominated foreign currency classified as 

operating cash flow activities under K-GAAP are not stated separately classifying as 

operating, investment, financing cash flow activities  

  

5. Operating segments 

 

(1) The company identifies the single reportable segment as a company. Accordingly, 

note to the reportable segment for operating incomes, income (loss) before income 

tax expenses, total Liabilities and Stockholder‟s Equity is not provided. 

 

(2) Details of operating incomes for goods and services at the ends of current and prior 

accounting periods are as follows. 

(unit: thousand won) 

Reporting segment Primary goods and services Current period Prior period 

Union steel Sales in Finished goods 1,839,577,472 1,857,123,999 

 
Sales in merchandise 98,958,114 64,260,683 

 
Rental sales 7,497,743 6,073,965 

Total 
 

1,946,033,329 1,927,458,647 

 

(3)Details of sales by regions are as follows. 

 

 (unit: thousand won) 

Period Domestic Asia America Oceania East Asia Africa Total 

Current 

period 
1,121,318,474 264,420,497 364,091,122 23,473,066 55,090,502 117,639,668 1,946,033,329 

Prior period 1,117,172,167 275,798,815 356,008,742 25,153,306 48,867,450 104,458,167 1,927,458,647 

Sales by regions above are inclusive all in domestic. 

 

 6. Cash and Cash equivalent 

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position are treated the same 

amount in the cash flow statement. 
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Cash and cash equivalents at the ends of current and prior accounting periods are as 

follows; 

 

    (unit: thousand won) 

 
Current period Prior period Transition date 

Deposits and Savings 42,725,576 41,374,934 65,224,826 

Cash equivalent 10,986 25,076,501 30,237,523 

Total 42,736,562 66,451,435 95,462,349 

 

 7. Restricted Bank Deposits 

 

The details of bank deposit at the ends of current and prior accounting periods are as 

follows; 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Bank Current period Prior period Transition date Restriction 

Short-term 

financial 

instrument 

KDB 

7,000,000 8,700,000 14,200,000 

Mortgage for 

subsidiary 

company‟s 

borrowings 

10,000,000 10,000,000 - 
Mortgage for 

borrowings 

Long term 

financial 

instruments 

Shinhan Bank and 

others 17,400 19,900 19,900 

Deposits for 

account opening 

Total  17,017,400 18,719,900 14,219,900  

 

 8. Financial instruments by category 

 

 Financial instruments by category at the ends of current and prior accounting periods 

are as follows; 

 < Current period> 

(unit: thousand won) 

 

Held-to-maturity 

securities 

Available-for-sale 

securities 

Loans and 

Receivables 

Total 

Short-term financial instruments - - 17,000,000 17,000,000 

Trade and other receivables - - 371,315,699 371,315,699 

Loans and Receivables - - 26,663,580 26,663,580 

Current held-to-maturity securities 20,135 - - 20,135 

Current available-for-sale securities - 16,656,162 - 16,656,162 

Long-term financial instruments - - 2,057,400 2,057,400 

Long-term loans and receivables - - 16,077,459 16,077,459 

Held-to-maturity securities 1,424,700 - - 1,424,700 
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Available-for-sale securities - 6,546,019 - 6,546,019 

Total 1,444,835 23,202,181 433,114,138 457,761,154 

 

< Prior period> 

(unit: thousand won) 

 

Held-to-maturity 

securities 

Available-for-sale 

securities 

Loans and 

Receivables 
Total 

Short-term financial instruments - - 22,980,762 22,980,762 

Trade and other receivables - - 319,099,349 319,099,349 

Loans and Receivables - - 2,090,715 2,090,715 

Current held-to-maturity securities 6,758,965 - - 6,758,965 

Current available-for-sale securities - 15,972,823 - 15,972,823 

Long-term financial instruments - - 2,035,900 2,035,900 

Long-term loans and receivables - - 7,701,439 7,701,439 

Held-to-maturity securities 1,121,955 - - 1,121,955 

Available-for-sale securities - 50,084,235 - 50,084,235 

Total 7,880,920 66,057,058 353,908,165 427,846,143 

 

< Transition date > 

(unit: thousand won) 

 

financial assets 

at fair value 

through profit 

or loss 

Held-to-

maturity 

securities 

Available-for-

sale securities 

Loans and 

Receivables 
Total 

Short-term financial instruments - - - 65,432,000 65,432,000 

Trade and other receivables - - - 228,975,054 228,975,054 

Loans and Receivables - - - 1,332,890 1,332,890 

Current derivatives liabilities 414,354 - - - 414,354 

Current held-to-maturity securities - 121,740 - - 121,740 

Current available-for-sale securities - - 8,000,000 - 8,000,000 

Long-term financial instruments - - - 19,900 19,900 

Long-term loans and receivables - - - 9,072,167 9,072,167 

Non-current derivatives liabilities 93,398 - - - 93,398 

Held-to-maturity securities - 2,372,095 - - 2,372,095 

Available-for-sale securities - - 42,332,443 - 42,332,443 

Total 507,752 2,493,835 50,332,443 304,832,011 358,166,041 

 

The company determines that BV of financial assets measured at amortized cost 

approximates a reasonable estimate of fair value for the financial liabilities. 

 

 9. Trade and receivables 
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 (1) Details of receivables at the ends of current and prior accounting periods are as 

follows;. 

(unit: thousand won) 

 
Current period Prior period Transition date 

Accounts receivable 372,914,676 321,179,560 230,983,267 

less: allowance -1,598,977 -2,080,211 -2,008,213 

Accounts receivable(net amount) 371,315,699 319,099,349 228,975,054 

 

(2) ) Details of analysis on possibility of collection for receivables. 

(Unit : thousand won) 

 
Current period Prior period Transition date 

Less than 3 months - - - 

3-6 months - - - 

6 ~ 12 months - - 477,477 

More than 1 year 1,243,288 1,224,891 1,138,072 

Total 1,243,288 1,224,891 1,615,549 

 

(3) Details of analysis on possibility of collection for overdue but not impaired 

receivables 

(Unit : thousand won) 

 
Current period Prior period Transition date 

Less than 3 months 120,340,347 36,379,932 25,457,313 

3-6 months 12,106,268 822,414 980,310 

6 ~ 12 months 977,997 1,224,910 7,339,628 

More than 1 year 1,828 3,480,329 2,834 

Total 133,426,440 41,907,585 33,780,085 

 

(4) Details of changes in allowances at the ends of current and prior accounting periods 

are as follows; 

 
  

 (Unit : thousand 

won) 

account Current period Prior period 

Beginning 2,080,211 2,008,213 

Unused amounts reversed -479,158 -228,002 

Receivables written off during 

the year as uncollectible 
-2,076 300,000 

ending 1,598,977 2,080,211 

 

(5) The Company transferred receivable balance amounting 20,200,938,000 won to 

financial institutions in exchange for cash. The outstanding balance of transferred has 

been accounted for as borrowings as of BS date. Transferee has the right to pledge or 
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exchanges the assets. 

 

10. Loans and receivables 

 

(1) Details of Loans and receivables at the ends of current and prior accounting 

periods are as follows; 

(Unit : thousand won) 

 

Current period Prior period Transition date 

Current Non-current Current Non-current Current Non-current 

Account 

receivable 
25,213,879 - 434,161 4,620,666 115,518 7,454,861 

Accrued revenue 1,449,701 - 1,655,614 - 1,216,042 - 

    Loans - 12,000,000 940 - 1,330 - 

Deposit - 4,077,459 - 3,080,773 - 1,617,306 

Total 26,663,580 16,077,459 2,090,715 7,701,439 1,332,890 9,072,167 

 

(2) Details of ages of loans and receivables at the ends of current and prior 

accounting periods are as follows; 

(Unit : thousand won) 

 
Current period Prior period Transition date 

Less than 3 months 26,663,580 2,090,715 1,332,890 

3 ~ 6 months - - - 

6 ~ 12 months - - - 

More than 1 year 16,077,459 7,701,439 9,072,167 

Total 42,741,039 9,792,154 10,405,057 

 

11. Held to maturities securities 

 

(1) Details of Held-to-maturity securities in current and prior periods are as follows.  

(unit: thousand won) 

Account 

Current period Prior period Transition date 

Acquisition 

cost 
Book Value 

Acquisition 

cost 
Book Value 

Acquisition 

cost 
Book Value 

Current held-to-

maturity securities: 

            

 Housing Bond 

(note 1) 
14,320 14,320 1,207,710 1,207,710 110,700 110,700 

 Train Bond 3,010 3,010 51,180 51,180 10,010 10,010 

 Region 

Development 

Bond 

2,805 2,805 75 75 1,030 1,030 

 Transaction Bond - - 5,500,000 5,500,000 - - 
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(note 1) 

Sub-Total 20,135 20,135 6,758,965 6,758,965 121,740 121,740 

Held-to-maturity 

securities: 
            

 Housing Bond 

(note 1) 
1,398,860 1,398,860 1,093,130 1,093,130 2,293,360 2,293,360 

 Train Bond 16,110 16,110 17,820 17,820 68,610 68,610 

 Region 

Development 

Bond 

9,730 9,730 11,005 11,005 10,125 10,125 

Sub-Total 1,424,700 1,424,700 1,121,955 1,121,955 2,372,095 2,372,095 

Total 1,444,835 1,444,835 7,880,920 7,880,920 2,493,835 2,493,835 

 

(2) As of the end of current period, the classification details of HTM are as follows 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Within 1yr 1yr ~ 5yr Total 

Housing Bond 14,320 1,398,860 1,413,180 

Train Bond 3,010 16,110 19,120 

Region Development Bond 2,805 9,730 12,535 

Total 20,135 1,424,700 1,444,835 

Financial income recognized regarding the above HTM in current and prior periods are 

each 123,550 („000 KRW) and 234,052 („000 KRW). 

 

12. Available-for-sale securities   

 

(1) Details of Available-for-sale securities are as follows 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account 

Current period Prior period Prior period 

Acquisition 

cost 
Book Value 

Acquisition 

cost 
Book Value 

Acquisition 

cost 
Book Value 

Current available-for-sale securities: 

Funds:             

  Restricted Trust 6,000,000 6,176,127 15,690,000 15,972,823 - - 

  Private investment trust - - - - 8,000,000 8,000,000 

Total 6,000,000 6,176,127 15,690,000 15,972,823 8,000,000 8,000,000 

Investment Bonds             

  Bond 10,242,000 10,480,035 - - - - 

Sub-Total 10,242,000 10,480,035 - - - - 

Total 16,242,000 16,656,162 15,690,000 15,972,823 8,000,000 8,000,000 

Available-for-sale securities  :             

Funds:             

  Mutual Fund 5,000,000 5,131,497 10,000,000 10,125,137 - - 

Sub-Total 5,000,000 5,131,497 10,000,000 10,125,137 - - 
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Investment Bonds             

  Bond - - 6,530,000 6,671,579 - - 

Sub-Total - - 6,530,000 6,671,579 - - 

Listed Stock:             

  POSCO (note 1) - - 4,562,224 31,732,920 4,562,224 40,268,880 

  KTB Network 210,960 85,650 210,960 225,727 210,960 170,878 

Sub-Total 210,960 85,650 4,773,184 31,958,647 4,773,184 40,439,758 

Non-Listed Stock:             

 The Korea economic daily 8,632 8,632 8,632 8,632 8,632 8,632 

 Daehan steel Co., Ltd 246,000 246,000 246,000 246,000 246,000 246,000 

 Sinsung control 574,233 574,233 574,233 574,233 1,138,026 1,138,026 

 Ace industry 500,007 500,007 500,007 500,007 500,007 500,007 

 Ace industry             

 Daewoo Motor - - - - 20 20 

Sub-Total 1,328,872 1,328,872 1,328,872 1,328,872 1,892,685 1,892,685 

Total 6,539,832 6,546,019 22,632,056 50,084,235 6,665,869 42,332,443 

 

(2) Details of Funds among Available-for-sale at the end of current and prior periods are 

as follows 

 

<Current period> 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Acquisition cost 
Unrealized holding income or loss 

BV 
Before tax Income tax effects After tax 

Trust 6,000,000 176,127 -38,748 137,379 6,176,127 

Mutual Fund 5,000,000 131,497 -28,929 102,568 5,131,497 

Bond 10,242,000 238,035 -52,368 185,667 10,480,035 

Total 21,242,000 545,659 -120,045 425,614 21,787,659 

 

<Prior period> 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Acquisition cost 
Unrealized holding income or loss 

BV 
Before tax Income tax effects After tax 

Trust 15,690,000 282,823 (62,222) 220,601 15,972,823 

Mutual Fund 10,000,000 125,137 (27,530) 97,607 10,125,137 

Bond 6,530,000 141,579 (31,147) 110,432 6,671,579 

Total 32,220,000 549,539 (120,899) 428,640 32,769,539 

 

<Transition date> 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Acquisition cost 
Unrealized holding income or loss 

BV 
Before tax Income tax effects After tax 
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Private investment 

trust 
8,000,000 - - - 8,000,000 

 

(3) Details of listed stocks among Available-for-sale at the end of current and prior 

periods are as follows.  

 

<Current period> 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Acquisition cost 
Unrealized holding income or loss 

BV (note 1) 
Before tax Income tax effects After tax 

KTB Network 210,960 -125,310 27,568 -97,742 85,650 

 

<Prior period> 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Acquisition cost 
Unrealized holding income or loss 

BV (note 1) 
Before tax Income tax effects After tax 

POSCO 4,562,224 27,170,696 (5,977,553) 21,193,143 31,732,920 

KTB Network 210,960 14,767 (3,249) 11,518 225,727 

Total 4,773,184 27,185,463 (5,980,802) 21,204,661 31,958,647 

 

<Transition date> 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Acquisition cost 
Unrealized holding income or loss 

BV (note 1) 
Before tax Income tax effects After tax 

POSCO 4,562,224 35,706,656 (7,855,465) 27,851,191 40,268,880 

KTB Network 210,960 (40,082) 8,818 (31,264) 170,878 

Total 4,773,184 35,666,574 (7,846,647) 27,819,927 40,439,758 

(note 1) BV of listed stock is a FMV and assess as closing price at the BS date (in the 

absence of closing price at the BS date, closing price of the last trading date). 

 

(4) Changes in unrealized holding income or loss of listed stocks, funds, bonds in current 

period is as follows  

 

<Current period> 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Beginning balance 

Increase and 

decrease by 

valuation 

Realization by sales Ending balance 

Trust 282,823 -106,696 - 176,127 

Mutual Fund 125,137 6,360 - 131,497 
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Bond 141,579 96,456 - 238,035 

POSCO 27,170,696 - -27,170,696 - 

KTB Network 14,767 -140,077 - -125,310 

Sub-Total 27,735,002 -143,957 -27,170,696 420,349 

Income tax effect -6,101,701 31,671 5,977,553 -92,477 

Amounts after reflecting 

income tax effect 
21,633,301 -112,286 -21,193,143 327,872 

 

<Prior period> 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Beginning balance 

Increase and 

decrease by 

valuation 

Realization by sales Ending balance 

Trust - 282,823 - 282,823 

Mutual Fund - 125,137 - 125,137 

Bond - 141,579 - 141,579 

POSCO 35,706,656 (8,535,960) - 27,170,696 

KTB Network (40,082) 54,849 - 14,767 

Sub-Total 35,666,574 (7,931,572) - 27,735,002 

Income tax effect (7,846,647) 1,744,946 - (6,101,701) 

Amounts after reflecting 

income tax effect 
27,819,927 (6,186,626) - 21,633,301 

 

(5) Details of non-listed stocks among Available-for-sale securities at the ends of current 

and prior periods are as follows 

 

<Current period> 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Ratio(%) acquisition cost Net Asset Value BV (note 1) 

The Korea economic daily 0.01 8,632 12,610 8,632 

Daehan steel Co., Ltd. 4.59 246,000 22,327 246,000 

Sinsung control 4.83 574,233 797,597 574,233 

Ace industry 7.53 500,007 393,406 500,007 

Total  1,328,872 1,225,940 1,328,872 

 

<Prior period> 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Ratio(%) acquisition cost Net Asset Value BV (note 1) 

The Korea economic daily 0.01 8,632 11,738 8,632 

Daehan steel Co., Ltd. 4.59 246,000 41,450 246,000 

Sinsung control 4.83 574,233 776,758 574,233 
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Ace industry 7.53 500,007 412,410 500,007 

Total  1,328,872 1,242,356 1,328,872 

 

<Transition date> 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Ratio(%) acquisition cost Net Asset Value BV (note 1) 

㈜The Korea economic daily 0.01 8,632 10,906 8,632 

Daehan steel Co., Ltd. 4.59 246,000 246,000 246,000 

Sinsung control 4.83 1,138,026 1,437,875 1,138,026 

Ace industry 7.77 500,007 466,104 500,007 

Daewoo Motor 0.01 20 - 20 

Total 
 

1,328,872 1,225,940 1,328,872 

(note 1) As the information required for estimating fair market value was not sufficient, it 

was impossible to assess fair market value with reliable assessment model; the company 

used acquisition cost for alteration.  

 

13. Equity method investment  

 

(1) Details of Equity method investment at the ends of current period are as follows. 

(Unit : thousand won) 

Company Primary business Location Ratio (%) 
Book Value 

Current period Prior period Transition date 

Investments in subsidiaries 

Wuxi-Changjiang 

Metal 

manufacturing and 

selling of cold rolled 

steel sheets 

China 100 39,362,014 39,362,014 39,362,014 

Union steel china 

manufacturing and 

selling of cold rolled 

steel sheets 

China 100 32,939,049 20,623,809 20,623,809 

Union Coating lease service Korea 70.9 27,299,955 27,299,955 27,299,955 

Union Steel Mexico, 

S.A. De C.V. 

manufacturing of cold 

rolled steel sheets 
Mexico 55.6 4,728,582 4,728,582 4,728,582 

USI Service Center 

Private Ltd. 

manufacturing of cold 

rolled steel sheets 
India 75 12,626,790 - - 

Union Steel 

Processing Center 
manufacturing of cold 

rolled steel sheets 
Thailand 100 4,688,340 - - 

(Thailand), Ltd. 

sub-total 
   

121,644,730 92,014,360 92,014,360 

Investments in associates 

Dongkuk 

International Inc. 
tranding service U.S.A 35.4 11,152,810 11,152,810 11,152,810 

Dongkuk sales agency Japan 44.8 14,289,725 14,289,725 14,289,725 

Intergis (previous:  sales agency and Korea 15.4 15,540,459 15,540,459 15,540,459 
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Dongkuk 

Transportation)(note

1) 

transport 

Union Logistic Co., 

Ltd 

sales agency and 

transport 
China 40 5,660,516 5,660,516 - 

DK UNC  IT service Korea 14.6 2,099,778 2,099,778 2,099,778 

sub-total 
   

48,743,288 48,743,288 43,082,772 

Total 
   

170,388,018 140,757,648 135,097,132 

The company elects to measure the investment in equity method on the transition to 

Korean IFRS and uses the carrying value in accordance with K-GAAP as its deemed cost. 

 

(2) Changes of Equity method investment at the ends of current and prior periods are as 

follows. 

 

<Current period> 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Beginning balance acquisition Realization by sales Ending balance 

investments in subsidiaries 
    

Wuxi-Changjiang Metal 39,362,014 - - 39,362,014 

Union steel china 20,623,809 12,315,240 - 32,939,049 

Union Coating 27,299,955 - - 27,299,955 

Union Steel Mexico, S.A. 

De C.V. 
4,728,582 - - 4,728,582 

USI Service Center Private 

Ltd. 
- 12,626,790 - 12,626,790 

Union Steel Processing 

Center - 4,688,340 - 4,688,340 

(Thailand), Ltd. 

investments in associates 
    

Dongkuk International Inc. 11,152,810 - - 11,152,810 

Dongkuk 14,289,725 - - 14,289,725 

Intergis (previous:  

Dongkuk Transportation) 
15,540,459 - - 15,540,459 

Union Logistic Co., Ltd 5,660,516 - - 5,660,516 

DK UNC  2,099,777 - - 2,099,777 

Total 140,757,647 29,630,370 - 170,388,017 

 

<Prior period> 

  (unit: thousand won) 

Account Beginning balance acquisition Realization by sales Ending balance 

investments in subsidiaries 
    

Wuxi-Changjiang Metal 39,362,014 - - 39,362,014 

Union steel china 20,623,809 12,315,240 - 32,939,049 
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Union Coating 27,299,955 - - 27,299,955 

Union Steel Mexico, S.A. De 

C.V. 
4,728,582 - - 4,728,582 

investments in associates 
    

Dongkuk International Inc. 11,152,810 - - 11,152,810 

Dongkuk 14,289,725 - - 14,289,725 

Intergis (previous:  

Dongkuk Transportation) 
15,540,459 - - 15,540,459 

Union Logistic Co., Ltd 5,660,516 - - 5,660,516 

DK UNC  2,099,777 - - 2,099,777 

Total 140,757,647 29,630,370 - 170,388,017 

 

14. Inventory 

 

Details of valuation of inventory. 

(unit: at the end of current and prior periods are as follows thousand won) 

 

Current period Prior period Transition date 

Acquisiti

on cost 

Loss 

from 

valuation 

Book 

Value 

Acquisiti

on cost 

Loss 

from 

valuation 

Book 

Value 

Acquisiti

on cost 

Loss 

from 

valuation 

Book 

Value 

Merchandise 2,475,548 - 2,475,548 8,939,999 - 8,939,999 863,824 - 863,824 

Finished 

goods 

82,349,20

0 

-

5,679,967 

76,669,23

3 

98,803,18

6 

-

4,922,008 

93,881,17

8 

52,761,62

9 

-

1,410,165 

51,351,46

4 

Work in 

process 

44,284,39

9 

-747,085 43,537,31

4 

32,923,65

9 

-418,609 32,505,05

0 

34,639,61

9 

-774,418 33,865,20

1 

Raw 

materials 

68,522,93

9 

-

3,705,335 

64,817,60

4 

98,958,70

5 

-120,484 98,838,22

1 

52,621,09

6 

-363,362 52,257,73

4 

Storage 18,183,70

5 

- 18,183,70

5 

22,990,57

5 

- 22,990,57

5 

25,786,37

5 

- 25,786,37

5 

Goods in 

transit 

5,902,078 - 5,902,078 5,277,128 - 5,277,128 21,115,50

9 

- 21,115,50

9 

Other 

Inventories 

348,883 - 348,883 113,021 - 113,021 109,998 - 109,998 

Total 222,066,7

52 

-

10,132,38

7 

211,934,3

65 

268,006,2

73 

-

5,461,101 

262,545,1

72 

187,898,0

50 

-

2,547,945 

185,350,1

05 

 

Losses from valuation of inventories recognized regarding the above the book value of 

inventories in current and prior periods are each 4,671,286 („000 KRW) and 2,913,156 

(„000 KRW). 

 

15. Held-for-sale assets 
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Details of held-for-sale assets at the end of current and prior periods are as follows. 

(Unit : thousand won) 

 
Current period Prior period Transition date 

Machinery and equipment  6,298,737 3,783,968 - 

Impairment loss -4,561,447 -2,986,738 - 

Net asset 1,737,290 797,230 - 

#2RM classified as assets not in use is transferred to held-for-sale assets and 

impairment loss for the machinery and equipment is recognized by deducting from the 

sales price.  

 

16. Other current assets  

 

  (unit: thousand won) 

 
Current period Prior period Transition date 

Prepayment 3,238,715 266,894 746,204 

Prepaid expenses 187,800 93,080 800,986 

Income tax refunds 3,228,668 6,383,417 5,977,689 

Total 6,655,183 6,743,391 7,524,879 

 

17. Tangible Assets  

 

(1) Tangible assets at the end of reporting period are as follows 

 

<Current period> 

(unit: thousand won) 

 
Land Building Structures 

Machinery 

and 

equipment  

Other 

Tangible 

Assets 

Construction 

in progress 
Total 

Acquisition 254,020,062 141,348,118 31,943,404 796,340,830 20,957,446 83,407,524 1,328,017,384 

Accumulated 

depreciation 

(Including 

impairment 

loss) 

- (40,303,811) (9,156,264) (332,717,222) (18,700,752) - (400,878,049) 

Ending 254,020,062 101,044,307 22,787,140 463,623,608 2,256,694 83,407,524 927,139,335 

 

<Prior period> 

(unit: thousand won) 

 
Land Building Structures 

Machinery 

and 

equipment  

Other 

Tangible 

Assets 

Construction 

in progress 
Total 

Acquisition 256,214,768 139,533,599 31,668,831 829,217,396 22,463,910 7,560,423 1,286,658,927 
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Accumulated 

depreciation 

(Including 

impairment 

loss) 

- (36,504,736) (8,098,453) (345,089,611) (20,532,748) - (410,225,548) 

Ending 256,214,768 103,028,863 23,570,378 484,127,785 1,931,162 7,560,423 876,433,379 

 

<Transition date> 

(unit: thousand won) 

account Land Building Structures 

Machinery 

and 

equipment  

Other 

Tangible 

Assets 

Construction 

in progress 
Total 

Acquisition 289,439,676 146,813,737 30,688,011 830,796,307 21,155,793 12,388,447 1,331,281,971 

Accumulated 

depreciation 

(Including 

impairment 

loss) 

- (32,380,215) (6,999,315) (314,566,902) (19,781,292) - (373,727,724) 

       

Ending 289,439,676 114,433,522 23,688,696 516,229,405 1,374,501 12,388,447 957,554,247 

 

(2) Details of increase and decrease of tangible assets in current and prior periods are as 

follows. 

 

<Current period> 

(unit: thousand won) 

classification Land Building Structures 

Machinery 

and 

equipment  

Other 

Tangible 

Assets 

Construction 

in progress 
Total 

Beginning 

balance 

256,214,768 103,028,863 23,570,378 484,127,785 1,931,162 7,560,423 876,433,379 

Acquisition 1,392,454 87,000 - 5,272,986 1,160,769 84,759,786 92,672,995 

Other 

increases and 

decreases 

(3,587,160) 1,850,482 348,709 1,584,083 53,999 (8,912,685) (8,662,572) 

Disposal and 

abandonment 

- (22,947) - (45,599) (82) - (68,628) 

Depreciation - (3,899,091) (1,131,947) (27,315,647) (889,154) - (33,235,839) 

Ending 

balance 

254,020,062 101,044,307 22,787,140 463,623,608 2,256,694 83,407,524 927,139,335 

 

<Prior period> 

(unit: thousand won) 
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Land Building Structures 

Machinery 

and 

equipment  

Other 

Tangible 

Assets 

Construction 

in progress 
Total 

Beginning 

balance 
289,439,676 114,433,522 23,688,696 516,229,405 1,374,501 12,388,447 957,554,247 

Acquisition - - 760000 3,203,322 863,064 13,248,295 18,074,681 

Other increases 

and decreases 
(26,576,896) (7,253,492) 220,820 (1,906,259) 445,053 (18,076,319) (53,147,093) 

Disposal and 

abandonment (6,648,012) (26,646) - (145,716) - - (6,820,374) 

Depreciation 

- (4,124,521) (1,099,138) (30,522,709) (751,456) - (36,497,824) 

Impairment 

loss 
- - - (2,730,258) - - (2,730,258) 

Ending balance 256,214,768 103,028,863 23,570,378 484,127,785 1,931,162 7,560,423 876,433,379 

 

18. Investment property  

(1) Details of investment property at the end of current and prior period are as follows.  

<Current period> 

  (unit: thousand won) 

 Land Building Total 

Acquisition 79,282,011 50,205,281 129,487,292 

Accumulated depreciation - (19,207,329) (19,207,329) 

Book Value 79,282,011 30,997,952 110,279,963 

 

<Prior period> 

  (unit: thousand won) 

 Land Building Total 

Acquisition 75,592,480 49,277,206 124,869,686 

Accumulated depreciation - (17,635,417) (17,635,417) 

Book Value 75,592,480 31,641,789 107,234,269 

 

<Transition date> 

  (unit: thousand won) 

 
Land Building Total 

Acquisition 48,938,822 38,064,761 87,003,583 

Accumulated depreciation - (16,294,979) (16,294,979) 

Book Value 48,938,822 21,769,782 70,708,604 
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(2) Details of increase and decrease in investment property in current and prior periods 

are as follows. 

 

<Current period> 

(unit: thousand won) 

 
Land Building Total 

Beginning balance 75,592,480 31,641,789 107,234,269 

Depreciation - (1,513,734) (1,513,734) 

Other increases and 

decreases 
3,689,531 869,897 4,559,428 

Ending balance 79,282,011 30,997,952 110,279,963 

 

<Prior period> 

(unit: thousand won) 

 
Land Building Total 

Beginning balance 48,938,822 21,769,782 70,708,604 

Depreciation 26,653,658 11,212,445 37,866,103 

Other increases and 

decreases 
- (1,340,438) (1,340,438) 

Ending balance 75,592,480 31,641,789 107,234,269 

 

3) Details of revenue and expense in investment property in current and prior periods are 

as follows. 

  (unit: thousand won) 

 
Current period Prior period 

Rental income 7,497,742 6,073,964 

Operating expenses (regarding to the investment 

property) 
(3,641,710) (3,129,080) 

Total 3,856,032 2,944,884 

 

(4) Details of fair value of investment property in current and prior periods are as follows. 

(unit: thousand won) 

 

Current period Prior period Prior period 

Book Value Fair value Book Value Fair value Book Value Fair value 

Land 79,282,011 79,282,011 75,592,480 75,592,480 48938822 48938822 

Building 30,997,952 42,397,864 31,641,789 41,527,967 21,769,782 39,487,341 

Total 110,279,963 121,679,875 107,234,269 117,120,447 70,708,604 88,426,163 

 

19. Intangible Assets 
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(1) Details of intangible assets at the end of current and prior periods are as follows. 

 

<current period> 

  (unit: thousand won) 

 
club membership other intangible assets Total 

Acquisition 3,896,788 4,918,306 8,815,094 

Accumulated depreciation - (1,493,923) (1,493,923) 

Accumulated impairment 

losses 
(594,452) - (594,452) 

Book value 3,302,336 3,424,383 6,726,718 

 

<Prior period> 

  (unit: thousand won) 

 
club membership other intangible assets Total 

Acquisition 3,822,484 4,918,306 8,740,790 

Accumulated depreciation - (1,165,183) (1,165,183) 

Book value 3,822,484 3,753,123 7,575,607 

 

<Transition date> 

  (unit: thousand won) 

 
club membership other intangible assets Total 

Acquisition 2,687,484 4,918,306 7,605,790 

Accumulated depreciation - (836,442) (836,442) 

Book value 2,687,484 4,081,864 6,769,348 

 

(2) Changes in intangible assets in current period are as follows. 

 

<Current> 

  (unit: thousand won) 

 
club membership other intangible assets Total 

Beginning balance 3,822,484 3,753,123 7,575,607 

Capital expenditure 74,304 - 74,304 

Depreciation - (328,740) (328,740) 

Impairment loss (594,452) - (594,452) 

Ending 3,302,336 3,424,383 6,726,718 

Acquisition 3,896,788 4,918,306 8,815,094 

Accumulated depreciation 

(Including impairment loss) 
(594,452) (1,493,923) (2,088,375) 

 

<Prior> 

  (unit: thousand won) 

 
club membership other intangible assets Total 
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Beginning balance 2,687,484 4,081,864 6,769,347 

Capital expenditure 1,135,000 - 1,135,000 

Depreciation - (328,741) (328,741) 

Ending 3,822,484 3,753,123 7,575,607 

Acquisition 3,822,484 4,918,306 8,740,790 

Accumulated depreciation 

(Including impairment loss) 
- (1,165,183) (1,165,183) 

Club membership classified as intangible assets is regarded as having an indefinite 

useful life and not amortized 

 

20. Financial liabilities by categories 

 

Details of financial instruments by category are as follows; 

 

<Current> 

(unit: thousand won) 

 

Liabilities at fair 

value through the 

profit and loss 

Other financial 

liabilities 
Derivatives Total 

Trade and other payables - 157,734,285 - 157,734,285 

Borrowings and 

Debentures 
- 511,911,594 - 511,911,594 

Other financial liabilities - 35,425,590 - 35,425,590 

Long-term borrowings and 

Debentures 
- 443,853,362 - 443,853,362 

Long-term other financial 

liabilities 
- 11,821,911 - 11,821,911 

Derivatives liabilities - - 1,479,199 1,479,199 

Total - 1,160,746,742 1,479,199 1,162,225,941 

 

<Prior> 

(unit: thousand won) 

 

Liabilities at fair 

value through the 

profit and loss 

Other financial 

liabilities 
Derivatives Total 

Trade and other payables - 164,742,838 - 164,742,838 

Borrowings and 

Debentures 
- 540,280,198 - 540,280,198 

Other financial liabilities - 32,404,962 - 32,404,962 

Long-term borrowings and 

Debentures 
- 348,804,648 - 348,804,648 

Long-term other financial 

liabilities 
- 9,869,947 - 9,869,947 



58 

 

Total - 1,096,102,593 - 1,096,102,593 

 

<Transition date> 

(unit: thousand won) 

 

Liabilities at fair 

value through the 

profit and loss 

Other financial 

liabilities 
Derivatives Total 

Trade and other payables - 199,796,161 - 199,796,161 

Borrowings and 

Debentures 
- 347,059,533 - 347,059,533 

Derivatives liabilities 132668 - - 132,668 

Other financial liabilities - 39,726,528 - 39,726,528 

Long-term borrowings and 

Debentures 
- 463,525,966 - 463,525,966 

Long-term other financial 

liabilities 
- 10125576 - 10,125,576 

Total 132668 1,060,233,764 - 1,060,366,432 

 

The company determines that the book value approximates a reasonable estimate of fair 

value for the financial liabilities. 

 

21. Borrowings and Debentures  

Details of Korean currency denominated long-term borrowings at the end of current and 

prior periods are as follows. 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Lender Interest rate (%) Current period Prior period Transition date 

Bank overdraft Hana bank 6.7 723,101 1,939,606 1,951,956 

Sub-Total 723,101 1,939,606 1,951,956 

Short-term 

borrowings 

Korea Exim Bank  

(note 1) 
- - 40,000,000 40,000,000 

Shinhan bank - - - 11,676,000 

SCFB - - - 10,000,000 

Sub-Total - 40,000,000 61,676,000 

Collateral 

borrowings 

Shinhan bank 1.67 ~ 3.81 9,730,143 4,239,773 - 

KEB 1.64 ~ 4.56 9,097,293 19,491,921 - 

Hana bank 1.64 1,373,502 - - 

Sub-Total 20,200,938 23,731,694 - 

Trade financing Shinhan bank 1.37 ~ 2.58 6,711,522 25,740,446 - 

KEB 1.39 ~ 1.73 68,128,834 95,789,213 36,743,286 

Hana bank 1.18 ~ 1.93 27,618,265 39,660,393 14,761,374 

Kookmin bank 1.48 ~ 1.88 49,410,282 55,693,316 31,178,107 

Nong-hyup 1.59 ~ 2.62 32,285,599 56,745,090 14,675,168 



59 

 

Woori bank 1.23 ~ 2.58 21,229,754 12,797,205 15,087,893 

KDB 1.38 ~ 1.68 117,215,305 123,660,152 81,670,625 

SCFB - - 5,222,827 - 

Busan bank 1.48 ~ 1.89 36,316,360 - - 

Kyongnam bank 1.5 4,315,260 - - 

Sub-Total 363,231,181 415,308,642 194,116,453 

Total 384,155,220 480,979,942 257,744,409 

Current portion of long-term borrowings in foreign 

currency 
74,453,480 46,237,580 47,380,680 

Current portion of long-term borrowings in Korean won 13,302,894 13,062,676 11,934,444 

Current portion of debentures  40,000,000 - 30,000,000 

Total 511,911,594 540,280,198 347,059,533 

 

(2) Details of Korean currency denominated long-term borrowings at the end of current 

and prior periods are as follows: 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Lender Interest rate (%) Current period Prior period Transition date 

Industry Facility 

loan 
KDB 4.50 ~ 5.87 310,732,040 313,917,720 330,175,000 

Energy saving Hana bank 2.25 4,365,050 4,555,950 5,679,350 

Sub-Total 
  

315,097,090 318,473,670 335,854,350 

Deduction: 

Transfer to 

current 
  

(74,453,480) (46,237,580) (47,380,680) 

Total 
  

240,643,610 272,236,090 288,473,670 

 

(3) Details of Foreign currency denominated long- term borrowings at the end of current 

and prior periods are as follows: 

(KRW unit: 1,000 won, foreign currency unit: 1,000 US$, 1,000 JPY) 

Account Lender 
Interest rate 

(%) 

Current period Prior period Prior period 

FCY KRW FCY KRW FCY KRW 

Foreign 

facility 

loans 

KDB 
2.40 ~ 3.00 

JPY 

2,580,000 
38,317,128 

JPY 

3,440,000 
48,059,552 

JPY 

4,300,000 
54,301,260 

1.78 ~ 1.88 US$460 530,518 US$1,380 1,571,682 US$2,300 2,685,480 

KEB 2.05 US$20,000 23,066,000 - - - - 

Sub-Total 
   

61,913,646 
 

49,631,234 
 

56,986,740 

Deduction: 

Transfer to 

current 
   

(13,302,894) 
 

(13,062,676) 
 

(11,934,444) 

Total 
   

48,610,752 
 

36,568,558 
 

45,052,296 

 

(4)Details of bonds at the end of current and prior periods are as follows: 

 (unit: thousand won) 
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Type Underwriter Issue date Maturity 
Interest rate 

(%) 

Current 

period 
Prior period 

Transition 

date 

1- 3 

Debentures 
Nong-hyup 

2005.8.8 2010.8.8 - - - 30,000,000 

2- 1 

Debentures 
2006.1.24 2010.2.12 - - - 50,000,000 

3- 1 

Debentures 
Hana bank 2009.1.7 2010.10.29 - - - 40,000,000 

35 

Debentures KB 

Investment 

2009.5.8 2012.5.8 7.4 40,000,000 40,000,000 40,000,000 

36 

Debentures 
2011.1.24 2014.1.24 4.9 120,000,000 - - 

37 

Debentures 
SCFB 2011.4.12 2014.4.12 3.9 34,599,000 - - 

Sub-Total 
    

194,599,000 40,000,000 160,000,000 

Deduction: 

Transfer to 

current 
    

(40,000,000) - (30,000,000) 

Total 
    

154,599,000 40,000,000 130,000,000 

 

(5) Redemption schedule of long term borrowings and bonds including current portion 

of long term liabilities at the end of current period is as follows.  

(KRW unit: 1,000 won, foreign currency unit: 1,000 US$, 1,000 JPY) 

Account 

KRW FCY Long-term borrowings 

Bond Total Long-term 

borrowings 
FCY KRW 

2012.01 ~ 

2012.12 
74,453,480 US$460 JPY 860,000 13,302,894 40,000,000 127,756,374 

2013.01 ~ 

2013.12 
72,651,330 US$20,000 JPY 860,000 35,838,376 - 108,489,706 

2014.01 ~ 

2014.12 
70,719,980 - JPY 860,000 12,772,376 154,599,000 238,091,356 

2015.01 ~ 

2015.12 
38,962,400 - - - - 38,962,400 

2016.01 and 

after 
58,309,900 - - - - 58,309,900 

Total 315,097,090 US$20,460 JPY 2,580,000 61,913,646 194,599,000 571,609,736 

 

(6) In regard to the above borrowings, Korean development bank etc. established 

pledges on land and machinery of the company as collateral (refer to note 36). 

 

22. Other financial liabilities 
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Details of other financial liabilities at the end of current and prior periods are as follows: 

 

 (unit: thousand won) 

 

Current period Prior period Transition date 

Current Non-current Current Non-current Current Non-current 

Accounts 

payables 
27,383,368 - 24,879,427 - 32,368,593 - 

Accrued 

expenses 
5,708,355 - 5,745,968 - 6,959,124 - 

Deposit 

received 

on sale 

- 114,500 - 110,000 - 107,000 

Rent 

deposit 
- 11,707,411 - 9,759,947 - 10,018,576 

Financial 

guarante

e liability 

2,333,867 - 1,779,567 - 398,811 - 

Total 35,425,590 11,821,911 32,404,962 9,869,947 39,726,528 10,125,576 

 

23. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS  

 

 (1) Hedge 

 

The Company entered into interest rate swaps contracts to manage exposures to change 

interest rate of borrowings. 

 

(KRW unit: 1,000 won, foreign currency unit: 1,000 US$, 1,000EUR) 

Account contract date maturity 

Amount 

subject to 

interest 

contract amount 
fair market 

value buying selling 

SCFB 2011.3.24 2014.4.14 30,000 4 
3M Libor + 

1.50 
(1,479,199) 

As of June 30, 2010 1,479,199 („000₩) incurred regarding above the FMV evaluation of 

the interest rate swap is accounted for loss on valuation of derivative in the accumulated 

other comprehensive income (before income tax)  

 

 (2) Trading purposes 

 

The Company enters into foreign currency forward contracts and Interest rate swaps to 

manage the exposure to changes in currency exchange rates and interest rates in 

accordance with its risk management policy.  
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1) Currency forward 

 

<Transition date> 

(KRW unit: 1,000 won, foreign currency unit: 1,000 US$) 

 

Account Position Contract date Maturity 
contract 

amount 
contract rate 

fair market 

value 

KEB 

Selling 2009.10.28 2010.6.30 US$3,000 1,195.2 59,394 

Selling 2009.10.28 2010.6.30 US$2,000 1,195.3 39,794 

Selling 2009.10.29 2010.6.30 US$3,000 1,204.3 86,474 

Selling 2009.10.29 2010.6.1 US$3,000 1,204.1 90,557 

Selling 2009.12.17 2010.6.1 US$2,000 1,185.4 23,212 

Selling 2009.12.18 2010.6.1 US$2,000 1,188.7 29,670 

Selling 2009.12.21 2010.6.16 US$3,000 1,187.0 37,162 

Selling 2009.12.22 2010.6.16 US$2,000 1,190.5 31,783 

Selling 2009.12.23 2010.5.3 US$1,000 1,188.7 16,308 

Total 
   

US$21,000 
 

414,354 

 

2) Interest rate swaps 

 

<Transition date> 

(KRW unit: 1,000 won, foreign currency unit: 1,000 US$) 

Account contract date maturity 

Amount 

subject to 

interest 

contract amount 
fair market 

value buying selling 

Hana bank 2009.1.7 2011.1.7 40,000,000 7 3M CD + 4.10 93,398 

SCFB 2009.3.31 2010.3.31 10,000,000 7 3M CD + 1.30 (59,755) 

Shinhan bank 2009.5.4 2010.4.29 10,000 9 
3M Libor + 

7.24 
(72,913) 

Total 
     

(39,270) 

 

24. Other current liabilities 

 

Details of other current liabilities at the end of current and prior periods are as follows: 

 

  (unit: thousand won) 

 
Current period Prior period Transition date 

Advances from customers 2,026,970 1,880,139 4,241,707 

Deposit received 831,061 1,449,023 343,606 

Total 2,858,031 3,329,162 4,585,313 
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25. Retirement and severance Benefits  

 

(1) The company operates the defined benefit plans for employees. The defined benefit 

obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit 

method at the end of each reporting period.  

 

(2) Details of the amounts recognized in the statement of financial position at the end of 

current and prior periods are as follows: 

 

  (unit: thousand won) 

 
Current period Prior period Transition date 

present value of defined 

benefit obligations 
55,346,255 53,945,507 43,832,015 

fair value of plan assets (35,090,163) (25,233,112) (26,681,240) 

Defined benefit obligations 20,256,092 28,712,395 17,150,775 

 

(3) Details of changes in defined benefit obligations at the end of current and prior 

periods are as follows: 

 

  (unit: thousand won) 

 
Current period Prior period 

Beginning 53,945,507 43,832,015 

Current service costs 4,483,226 3,683,095 

Interest costs 2,705,389 2,569,820 

Actuarial losses (gains) (1,453,554) 8,409,280 

Benefits paid by the plan (4,549,794) (4,548,703) 

Transferred from the related company 215,481 - 

Ending 55,346,255 53,945,507 

 

(3) Changes in the plan assets at the end of current and prior periods are as follows: 

(4)  

  (unit: thousand won) 

 
Current period Prior period 

Beginning 25,233,112 26,681,240 

Expected return on plan assets 1,153,120 1,168,642 

Actuarial gains and losses (101,692) (85,846) 

Benefits paid (2,194,377) (2,530,924) 

Additional costs 11,000,000 - 

Ending 35,090,163 25,233,112 
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(5) Expenses for employee benefits at the end of current and prior periods are as follows: 

 

  (unit: thousand won) 

 
Current period Prior period 

Current service costs 4,483,226 3,683,095 

interest cost 2,705,389 2,569,820 

Expected return on plan assets (1,153,120) (1,168,642) 

Total 6,035,495 5,084,273 

 

(6) Major actuarial assumptions at the end of current and prior periods are as follows: 

 

 
Current period Prior period Transition date 

Discount rate 4.60% 4.95% 5.77% 

Expected return on plan 

assets 
4.00% 4.69% 4.50% 

Future salary increases 

(Including inflation) 
5.00% 6.07% 6.00% 

 

26. Provisions 

 

(1) Provisions are recognized when the company accrues warranty reserves for estimated 

costs of future service, repairs and recalls, based on historical experience and terms of 

warranty programs.  

 

(2) Details of changes in provisions at the end of current and prior periods are as follows: 

 

  (unit: thousand won) 

 
Current period Prior period 

Beginning 2,457,724 2,259,073 

allowances 92,806 1,063,085 

Written off (900,134) (864,434) 

Ending 1,650,396 2,457,724 

 

27. Capital stock 

 

(1) Details of Capital stock at the end of current and prior periods are as follows. 

 

 
Current period Prior period Transition date 

Total number of stocks to be 40,000,000 40,000,000 40,000,000 
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issued (Unit: stock) 

Face value per share (Unit: won) 5,000 5,000 5,000 

Number of issued stock 

(Unit: stock) 
10,260,000 10,260,000 10,260,000 

Common Stock 

(unit: thousand won) 
51,300,000 51,300,000 51,300,000 

 

(2) Details of other capital surplus at the end of current and prior periods are as 

follows. 

 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Current period Prior period Transition date 

Revaluation surplus reserve 29,889,067 29,889,067 29,889,067 

Others 21,760,762 21,760,762 21,760,762 

Treasury stock (note1) (9,126) (9,126) (9,126) 

Total 51,640,703 51,640,703 51,640,703 

(Note1) 322 of the treasury stocks held by the company at the end of current and prior 

periods have restricted voting rights and are accounted for capital adjustment at the 

acquisition price. 

 

(3) Details of legal reserve and voluntary reserve at the end of current and prior periods 

are as follows. 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Current period Prior period Transition date 

Legal reserve 

Profit reserves (note 1) 6,360,468 5,847,468 5,847,468 

Voluntary reserves 

Capital structure rebuilding reserve 820,000 820,000 820,000 

Reserve for business rationalization 46,910,000 41,910,000 41,910,000 

Reserve for business expansion 170,800,000 163,800,000 215,000,000 

Reserve for R &D - - 666,667 

Voluntary reserves 12,700,000 - 24,800,000 

Unappropriated Retained Earnings 

(note 2) 
390,480,166 409,284,472 285,137,073 

Total 628,070,634 621,661,940 574,181,208 

(note 1) According to the regulations of commercial law, the Company reserves more 

than 10% of dividends as profit reserve until they reach up to 50% of capital. This profit 

reserve cannot be used as dividend and can be used only for capital transfer-in and 

deficit covering.  

(note 2) The company revaluated assets according to revaluation of assets law and 
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incurred excess of 264,628,972 („000 ₩). This is accounted for as reserve for revaluation.     

This profit reserve cannot be used as dividend and can be used only for capital transfer-

in and deficit covering.  

 

(4) Retained earnings at the end of current and prior periods are as follows. 

  

The 50th : 
From Jan 1, 2011 

 The 49th : 
From Jan 1, 2010 

 
To Dec 31, 2011 

 
To Dec 31, 2010 

 
Appropriation 

Date: 
March 16, 2012 

 

Appropriation 

Date: 
March 11, 2011 

 

 

Union Steel Co., Ltd (Unit: KRW) 
 

Description 2011 2010 

I. Unappropriated Retained Earnings 
 

390,480,166 
 

409,284,472 

1. Unappropriated retained earnings 

carried over from prior year 
378,941,633 

 
361,803,739 

 

2.Net Income(loss) 10,484,080 
 

54,106,931 
 

Actuarial gains and losses 1,054,453 
 

(6,626,198) 
 

III. Appropriations of retained earnings 
 

390,157,136 
 

30,342,839 

1. Legal reserves 205,200 
 

513,000 
 

2.Reserve for business rationalization - 
 

5,000,000 
 

3.Reserve for business expansion - 
 

7,000,000 
 

4. Voluntary reserves 387,900,000 
 

12,700,000 
 

5. Dividends(cash dividend) (note 16) 2,051,936 
 

5,129,839 
 

IV. Unappropriated retained earnings to 

be carried forward to subsequent year  
323,030 

 
378,941,633 

Comparative statement of retained earnings is reconciled in accordance with K-IFRS, it is 

different from the statement of retained earnings presented on Mar, 11, 2011.  

(5) Assessment details of dividends in current and prior periods are as follows. 

Account 
Common stock 

Current period Prior period 

Dividend per share (unit: won) 200 500 

Number of outstanding stock (Note) (Unit: stock) 10,259,678 10,259,678 

Total dividend (Unit: „000 ₩) 2,051,936 5,129,839 

(note 1) 322 of the treasury stock held by the company at the end of current period is 

excluded in the assessment of the dividend. 

 

(6)The components of other capital at the end of current and prior periods are as follows.  

(unit: thousand won) 
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Current period Prior period Transition date 

Income or loss on valuation 

of available-for-sale 

securities 

327,872 21,633,301 27,819,927 

Income or loss on valuation 

of interest rate swaps 
(1,153,775) - - 

Total (825,903) 21,633,301 27,819,927 

 

28. Expenses by Nature 

 

Details of expenses by nature in current and prior periods are as follows: 

 

(unit: thousand won) 

 
Current period Prior period 

Merchandise, Finished goods, 5,093,246 (47,006,744) 

Raw material and supplies 1,541,754,894 1,561,289,331 

employee benefits (wages and pension expenses) 58,478,068 59,215,652 

Rent expenses 3,815,270 3,990,607 

Depreciation expenses 34,438,570 36,420,029 

Amortization expenses 328,740 328,741 

Transportation expenses 17,915,256 20,470,917 

Advertising expenses 803,385 640,904 

Sundry commission paid 32,228,534 28,866,831 

Expense from export  26,388,656 31,548,668 

fuel and power expenses 78,540,897 78,123,960 

repairs expenses 27,037,255 25,470,341 

others 84,709,833 36,751,704 

Total 1,911,532,604 1,836,110,941 

 

29. Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 

 

Selling, general and administrative expenses in current and prior periods are as 

following: 

(unit: thousand won) 

  Current period Prior period 

Selling expense: 
  

Expense from export  6,034,593 6,780,623 

Export ocean freight  20,354,062 24,768,045 

Transportation expenses 17,553,453 20,084,642 

Entertainment 523,118 490,024 

warranty expense 92,806 1,063,085 

Sub-total 44,558,032 53,186,419 
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  Current period Prior period 

G&A expenses 
  

Salaries 10,858,563 11,187,580 

pension expenses 1,197,852 1,024,155 

employee benefits 1,742,276 1,205,581 

Travel 803,627 615,926 

Communications 335,105 315,731 

Utilities 50,264 102,276 

Taxes and dues 1,230,707 1,560,275 

Rent expenses 1,738,770 654,607 

Depreciation expenses 429,502 382,076 

repairs expenses 2,171 20,866 

Insurance 213,601 170,021 

Advertising expenses 686,326 496,620 

Sundry commission paid  4,060,095 3,698,439 

supplies 31,926 21,823 

Vehicle maintenance 302,998 300,537 

Publication 100,138 42,158 

Conference 118,923 95,909 

Cost of electronic calculation 2,614,172 2,361,084 

Training 496,924 355,237 

overseas branch expenses 463,613 253,658 

Miscellaneous  12,477 15,034 

Sub-total 27,490,030 24,879,593 

Total 72,048,062 78,066,012 

 

30. Other operating revenues and other operating expenses  

 

(1) Other operating revenues in current and prior periods are as follows:  

 

 (unit: thousand won) 

  Current period Prior period 

Reversal of allowance for doubtful accounts 479,158 228,002 

Foreign currency transaction gain 4,787,499 5,061,419 

Foreign currency translation gain 131,729 867,683 

Gain on sale of available for sale 20,359,613 - 

Gain on disposition of property, plant and 

equipment 
223,300 130,144 

Gain on derivatives - 3,555,793 

Gain on financial guarantees 1,542,255 1,202,273 

Interest revenue 89,427 - 

Miscellaneous gains 5,127,515 3,036,539 

Total 32,740,496 14,081,851 
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(2) Other operating expenses in current and prior periods are as following. 

 

(unit: thousand won) 

  Current period Prior period 

loss on foreign currency transaction gain 5,329,848 7,869,008 

Loss on foreign currency translation gain 233,428 463,877 

Donations 152,921 11,424,250 

Loss on disposition of inventories 17,575 - 

depreciation 311,003 1,418,234 

Loss on disposition of Tangible assets 59,014 545,512 

Loss on retirement of Tangible assets 756,325 - 

Loss on impairment of Tangible assets - 2,730,258 

Loss on impairment of intangible assets 594,452 - 

Loss on impairment of held-for-sale 6,554,371 2,986,740 

Loss on Derivatives 346,562 2,344,155 

Interest expense 74,817 894,281 

Miscellaneous loss 709,258 125,069 

Total 15,139,574 30,801,384 

Items above were classified as non-operating revenue (expense) under K-GAAP, and are 

reclassified as other revenue (expense) under K-IFRS. Accordingly, there is difference in 

the operating revenue (expense).  

 

31. Finance income and finance costs  

 

(1) Net financial income in current and prior periods are as follows:  

(unit: thousand won) 

 
Current period Prior period 

financial income 23,992,023 22,139,355 

financial expense 59,614,026 47,179,713 

Net financial income (expense) (35,622,003) (25,040,358) 

 

 (2) Interest revenues included in finance income in current and prior periods are as 

follows:  

(unit: thousand won) 

 
Current period Prior period 

Bank deposits 3,362,058 3,428,638 

Available-for-sale financial assets 2,677,997 2,727,655 

Held-to-maturity investment 123,550 234,052 

Total 6,163,605 6,390,345 
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Interest expenses included in finance cost in current and prior periods are as follows:  

(3)  

(Unit : thousand won) 

 
Current period Prior period 

Interests on bank overdraft and borrowings 25,329,523 28,038,779 

Interests on debentures 8,825,387 6,606,395 

Total 34,154,910 34,645,174 

 

(4)  Categories of financial instruments in current and prior periods are as follows: 

(Unit : thousand won) 

 

Current period Prior period 

Financial 

revenue 

Financial 

expense 

Net financial 

amount 

Financial 

revenue 

Financial 

expense 

Net financial 

amount 

financial asset: 
      

Available-for-sale 3,441,177 - 3,441,177 3,393,980 - 3,393,980 

       Held- to-maturity 123,550 - 123,550 234,052 - 234,052 

Loans and receivables 3,362,058 (473,011) 2,889,047 3,428,638 (150,692) 3,277,946 

financial liability: 
      

Borrowings and debentures 17,065,238 (59,141,015) (42,075,777) 15,082,685 (47,029,021) (31,946,336) 

Total 23,992,023 (59,614,026) (35,622,003) 22,139,355 (47,179,713) (25,040,358) 

 

32.  Income tax expense (benefits) and deferred income taxes 

 

(1) The composition of income tax expense (benefits) in current and prior periods are as 

follows.  

 

(Unit : thousand won) 

account Current period Prior period 

Income tax (additional payment in income tax included) 1,676,266 (639,896) 

± Changes in deferred tax due to temporary difference 

(note1) 
(1,717,939) (7,493,092) 

± Deferred tax directly reflected to capital 6,037,237 3,613,873 

Income tax expense (benefit) 5,995,564 (4,519,115) 

  
  

(note1) Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) in the end of 

the year due to temporary differences 
(18,652,300) (20,370,239) 

Net deferred tax liabilities (assets) in the beginning of 

the year due to temporary differences 
(20,370,239) (27,863,331) 

Changes in deferred income tax due to temporary 

differences 
1,717,939 7,493,092 
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(2) The relationship with income tax expenses (benefits)) and net income  (loss) 

before income tax in current and prior periods is as follows . 

 

(Unit : thousand won) 

account Current period Prior period 

Net income (loss) before income tax 16,479,644 49,587,816 

Tax amount according to applied tax rate (current 24.2%) 3,988,074 12,000,251 

Adjustments: 
  

Non taxable income (91,285) (30,859) 

Non taxable expense 404,629 386,883 

Temporary differences of not reflecting deferred tax 179,737 25,305 

Deficit Carried Forward not reflecting deferred income 

tax, Deduction of unused tax credit 
- (17,272,376) 

Additional payment in income tax included 1,676,266 - 

The effect of different Income tax rate (161,857) 371,681 

Income Tax expense (loss) 5,995,564 (4,519,115) 

Income tax expense (benefits) 39.7% (주1) 

(Note1) Due to loss before income tax, we did not calculate the effective tax rate. 

 

(3) Increase and decrease of temporary differences in the current year and details of 

deferred income tax assets (liabilities) are as follows. 

 

<Current period> 

(Unit : thousand won) 

account Beginning 
Increase / Decrease 

Ending 
Current period Equity 

Allowance for bad debt 2,865,575  (479,158) - 2,386,417  

Accrued income (1,655,614) 205,913  - (1,449,701) 

Loss on valuation of  

Inventories 
5,475,404  4,017,480  - 9,492,884  

Labor cost of Chinese 

subsidiary 
728,751  - - 728,751  

Impairment loss on 

available-for-sale securities 
35,937  - - 35,937  

Equity method investment  57,311,339  - - 57,311,339  

Land(Advanced depreciation 

provision) 
(28,642,890) - - (28,642,890) 

Impairment loss on tangible 

assets 
1,242,404  (241,172) - 1,001,232  

Depreciation (27,449,171) 468,302  - (26,980,869) 

Interest related to loan for 

construction and others  
8,749,086  (863,517) - 7,885,569  

Provision for severance pay 7,190,667  (7,600,647) - (409,980) 
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Interest expense 1,558,061  56,148  - 1,614,209  

Impairment loss on 

investment assets 
2,997,920  1,140,977  - 4,138,897  

foreign currency gains (5,982,386) 5,982,386  - - 

foreign currency losses 20,048,085  (5,388,972) - 14,659,113  

Gain on valuation of 

available-for-sale 
(27,735,003) - 27,314,655  (420,348) 

Loss on valuation of interest 

rate swap 
- - 1,479,199  1,479,199  

Actuarial gain or loss 8,495,126  - (1,351,863) 7,143,263  

(Negative)Capital variation 

of equity method  
(21,259,502) - - (21,259,502) 

Equity method retained 

earnings(Capital) and others 
3,721,990  686,565  - 4,408,555  

Gain on revaluation of Land (94,985,568) - - (94,985,568) 

Impairment loss of Tangible 

Assets 
2,012,329  (2,012,329) - - 

Donation of Land 11,388,714  - - 11,388,714  

Warranty provision 2,457,724  (807,328) - 1,650,396  

Others 2,363,322  4,504,778  - 6,868,100  

Deficit Carried Forward 19,791,357  (17,582,516) - 2,208,841  

subtotals (49,276,343) (17,913,090) 27,441,991  (39,747,442) 

Not recognized amount 42,060,639  742,713  - 42,803,352  

Recognized amount (91,336,982) (18,655,803) 27,441,991  (82,550,794) 

Income tax rate (note1) 24.2%/22.0%     0  

Deferred income tax asset 

due to temporary difference 

(liability) 

(20,370,239) (4,319,298) 6,037,237  (18,652,300) 

 

<Prior period> 

(Unit : thousand won) 

account Beginning 

Increase / Decrease 

Ending 
Current period Equity 

Allowance for bad debt 
3,744,459  (878,884) - 2,865,575  

Accrued income 
(1,216,042) (439,572) - (1,655,614) 

Loss on valuation of  

Inventories 
2,562,248  2,913,156  - 5,475,404  

Labor cost of Chinese 

subsidiary 
728,751  - - 728,751  

Impairment loss on 

available-for-sale securities 
39,979  (4,042) - 35,937  
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Equity method investment  
57,311,339  - - 57,311,339  

Land(Advanced 

depreciation provision) 
(28,642,890) - - (28,642,890) 

Impairment loss on 

tangible assets 
1,483,577  (241,173) - 1,242,404  

Depreciation 
(15,070,165) (12,379,006) - (27,449,171) 

Interest related to loan for 

construction and others  
8,543,632  205,454  - 8,749,086  

Provision for severance 

pay 
4,680,681  2,509,986  - 7,190,667  

Interest expense 
1,453,493  104,568  - 1,558,061  

Impairment loss on 

investment assets 
- 2,997,920  - 2,997,920  

foreign currency gains 
(18,671,431) 12,689,045  - (5,982,386) 

foreign currency losses 
26,274,394  (6,226,309) - 20,048,085  

Gain on valuation of 

available-for-sale 
(35,666,573) - 7,931,570  (27,735,003) 

Actuarial gain or loss 
- - 8,495,126  8,495,126  

(Negative)Capital variation 

of equity method  
(21,259,502) - - (21,259,502) 

Equity method retained 

earnings(Capital) and 

others 

3,721,990  - - 3,721,990  

Gain on revaluation of 

Land 
(97,729,404) 2,743,836  - (94,985,568) 

Impairment loss of 

Tangible Assets 
- 2,012,329  - 2,012,329  

Donation of Land 
- 11,388,714  - 11,388,714  

Warranty provision 
2,259,073  198,651  - 2,457,724  

Others 
(937,850) 3,301,172  - 2,363,322  

Deficit Carried Forward 
87,643,413  (67,852,056) - 19,791,357  

subtotals 
(18,746,828) (46,956,211) 16,426,696  (49,276,343) 

Not recognized amount 
113,191,477  (71,130,838) - 42,060,639  
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Recognized amount 
(131,938,305) 24,174,627  16,426,696  (91,336,982) 

Income tax rate (note1) 
24.2%/22.0%     24.2%/22.0% 

Deferred income tax asset 

due to temporary 

difference (liability) 

(27,863,331) 3,879,220  3,613,873  (20,370,239) 

 (note1) Income tax rate is not recognized for the reason that related temporary 

differences will be resolved. 

 

(3) Details of deferred income tax directly reflected on capital of at the end of current 

and prior periods are as follows 

  

(Unit : thousand won) 

Account 
Current period Prior period Transition date 

Before tax tax effects After tax Before tax tax effects After tax Before tax tax effects After tax 

Gain on 

valuation 

of 

available-

for-sale 

420,349  (92,477) 327,872  27,735,001  (6,101,700) 21,633,301  35,666,574  (7,846,646) 27,819,928  

Loss on 

valuation 

of interest 

rate swap 

(1,479,199) 325,424  (1,153,775) -  -  -  -  -  -  

Actuarial 

gain or 

loss 

(7,143,263) 1,571,518  (5,571,745) (8,495,126) 1,868,928  (6,626,198) -  -  -  

Total (8,202,113) 1,804,465  (6,397,648) 19,239,875  (4,232,772) 15,007,103  35,666,574  (7,846,646) 27,819,928  

 

(4) ) Details of temporary differences of deficit carried forward and deduction of unused 

tax credit not recognized as deferred income tax assets at the end of current and prior 

periods and to be deducted are as follows. 

(Unit : thousand won) 

 
Current period Prior period Transition date Reason for exclusion 

Temporary differences to 

be deducted :      

Labor cost of Chinese 

subsidiary 
728,751 728,751 728,751 

Low possibility of debt collection 

from Chinese subsidiary 

Deemed interest for 

suspense payment 
1,614,209 1,558,061 1,453,493 

 Equity method 

investment  
40,460,392 39,773,827 39,773,827 

Low possibility of realization due to 

dividend and disposition 
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subtotals 42,803,352 42,060,639 41,956,071 
 

Deficit Carried Forward 
- - 71,235,406 

High Uncertainty for future taxable 

income 

 

33. Earnings per share 

 

Earnings (loss) per share are what calculate income or loss per one common stock and 

the details are as follows. 

(Unit : thousand won) 

account Current period Prior period 

Net income (loss) 10,484,080 54,106,931 

(-)Dividend for preferred stock - - 

Net income(loss) for common stock 10,484,080 54,106,931 

Number of average weighed outstanding common 

stock 
10,259,678 10,259,678 

Basic earnings (loss) per share 1,022 5,274 

Calculation details of number of issued common stocks in current and prior periods 

weighted averaged by outstanding period are as follows.  

 

<Current period>  

(unit: share) 

Account Date Number of stocks Weighted Number of outstanding common 

stock 

Beginning 2011.1.1 10,260,000 365/365 10,260,000 

Treasury Stock 2011.1.1 (322) 365/365 (322) 

Total  10,259,678  10,259,678 

 

<Prior period> 

(unit: share) 

Account Date Number of stocks Weighted Number of outstanding common 

stock 

Beginning 2010.1.1 10,260,000 365/365 10,260,000 

Treasury Stock 2010.1.1 (322) 365/365 (322) 

Total  10,259,678  10,259,678 

 

The company doesn‟t calculated diluted earnings (loss) per share because it has no 

dilutive potential common stocks. 

 

34. Cash flow statement 
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(1)  Reconciliation of cash flow statement at the end of current and prior periods is as 

follows 

. 

  
(Unit : thousand won) 

account Current period Prior period 

Loss on evaluation of Inventories 4,671,286 2,913,156 

Warranty expense 92,806 1,063,085 

Pension expense 6,035,495 5,084,273 

Depreciation 34,438,570 36,420,029 

Amortization 328,740 328,741 

Loss on transaction in foreign exchange 

(other expense) 
233,428 463,877 

Other depreciation 311,003 1,418,234 

Loss on disposition of Tangible Assets 59,014 545,512 

Loss on retirement of Tangible Assets 756,325 - 

Loss on impairment of Tangible Assets - 2,730,258 

Loss on impairment of intangible Assets 594,452 - 

Loss on impairment of held-for-sale 6,554,371 2,986,740 

Interest expense 74,817 894,281 

Loss on translation in foreign exchange 

(financial expense) 
23,618,002 7,411,064 

Donation - 11,388,713 

Interest expense(financial expense) 34,154,910 34,645,174 

Tax expense (tax income) 5,995,564 (4,519,115) 

Recovery of impairment loss (479,158) (228,002) 

Gain on transaction in foreign exchange 

(other revenue)  
(131,729) (867,683) 

Gain on available-for-sale (20,359,613) - 

Gain on tangible assets (223,300) (130,144) 

Revenue on financial guarantee (1,542,255) (1,202,273) 

Interest revenues (89,427) - 

Gain on foreign currency translation (금

융수익) 
(483,211) (7,556,087) 

Interest revenues (finance income) (6,163,605) (6,390,345) 

Dividends income (financial income) (763,180) (666,325) 

Total 87,683,305 86,733,163 

 

(2) Details of changes in working capital at the end of current and prior periods are as 

follows 
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(Unit : thousand won) 

 Current period Prior period 

Increase of accounts receivable (51,743,022) (90,212,577) 

Decrease (Increase) of loans and receivables (2,425,025) 8,248,961 

Decrease (Increase) of inventory 41,298,212 (79,999,864) 

Decrease (Increase) of other current assets 88,209 (5,196,202) 

Decrease of long-term borrowings and 

receivables 
3,623,980 2,723,573 

Decrease (Increase) of derivatives - 375,084 

Decrease of payables (3,503,017) (34,271,160) 

Increase (Decrease) of other financial liability 5,091,436 (7,699,147) 

Decrease of other current liabilities (617,962) (1,256,151) 

Payment of pension obligations (13,139,936) (3,100,573) 

Decrease of provision  (900,133) (864,434) 

Total (22,227,258) (211,252,490) 

 

(3) Significant transactions not affecting inflow and outflow of the cash are as follows. 

 

(Unit : thousand won) 

Account Current period Prior period 

Transfer to current portion of available-

for-sale securities 
4,000,000 - 

Transfer from construction in progress 

to building 
2,720,279 3,958,953 

Transfer from construction in progress 

to structures 
348,709 - 

Transfer from construction in progress 

to machinery 
4,728,765 1,877,711 

Transfer from construction in progress 

to other tangible assets 
53,998 445,000 

Transfer from land to construction in 

progress 
102,371 76,762 

Transfer from machinery to held-for-

sale asset 
3,569,682 13,065,530 

Transfer from tangible assets to other 

investment property 
4,559,428 43,436,206 

Transfer to current portion of long-

term borrowings and Debentures 
127,756,374 98,172,024 

Cash in cash flow statement is cash and cash equivalent on balance sheet. 

 

35. Disclosure of related parties 
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(1) Details of parent and subsidiary relationships and other special relationships are as 

follows: 

Class Name of parent and subsidiary companies 

Controlling company Dongkuk Steel Mills 

Subsidiary Wuxi-Changjiang Metal, Union steel china, Union Coating, Kukje machinery, 

Branson Mchinery, LLC., Union Steel Mexico, S.A. De C.V. Anhui machinery,  

USI Service center Private Ltd. Union Steel Processing Center (Thailand), Ltd 

Investee under equity 

method 

Dongkuk International Inc., Dongkuk, Intergis, DK UNC,  Union Logistic Co., Ltd 

Other affiliates DKS& and, Ferrum infra Ltd. 

 

(2)Significant transactions which occurred in the normal course of business with related 

companies are summarized as follows. 

(Unit : thousand won) 

Affiliates 
Current period Prior period 

receivables payables receivables payables 

Dongkuk Steel Mills - 3,247,404 2,086,934 859,280 

Wuxi-Changjiang Metal 434,354 22,297,929 500,965 7,815,179 

Union steel china 1,590,696 114,765,768 4,626,074 60,166,130 

Union Coating - 8,059,530 830 8,051,280 

Dongkuk International 

Inc. 
127,330,146 7,606 121,353,203 - 

Union steel Mexico 50,438 - - - 

Dongkuk 24,475,636 47,280,828 16,549,431 77,688,853 

Intergis  54,622 30,294,542 848,103 31,834,168 

DK UNC - 17,137,857 - 5,353,464 

DKS& - 4,640,618 - 8,984,942 

Ferrum infra Ltd. - 1,198,403 - - 

DK UIL - 4,000     

 

(3) Account balances with related companies as of current and prior period are as follows 

 

(unit : thousand won) 

Related party 
Current period Prior period Transition date 

receivables Payables receivables Payables receivables payables 

Dongkuk Steel Mills 1,457,200  139,554  1,063,000  73,135  412  1,858,283  

Wuxi-Changjiang Metal - - 1,276,240  - 2,886,201  - 

Union steel china - 3,371,867  3,151,639  - 4,568,660  - 

Union Coating 491,000  40,909  834,000  37,059  834,000  38,225  

Kukje machinary 12,000,000  - - - - - 

Dongkuk International 

Inc. 

6,796,038  - 4,630,275  - 7,180,472  - 
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Dongkuk - - 1,274,615  - 1,353,839  - 

Intergis - 8,709,106  - 10,387,195  244  2,061,633  

DK UNC - 4,483,659  - 669,115  144,937  520,729  

DKS& - 142,551  - 2,579,552  - 3,257,799  

Ferrum infra Ltd. - 79,486  - - - - 

 

(4) Details of payment guarantee and collateral provided to affiliates are as follows 

 (KRW unit : thousand won, foreign currency unit : thousand US$, thousand RMB) 

classification Detail Beneficiary Current period Prior period Transition date 

Providing 

collaterals 

Short-term financial 

instrument Wuxi-Changjiang 

Metal 

7,000,000 7,000,000 12,500,000 

Current held-to-

maturity securities 
- 5,500,000 - 

Short-term financial 

instrument 

Union steel china 

- 1,700,000 1,700,000 

Current held-to-

maturity securities 
- 1,000,000 - 

Held-to-maturity 

securities 
- 900,000 2,000,000 

Total  7,000,000 16,100,000 16,200,000 

Guarantee LC Guarantee Wuxi-Changjiang 

Metal 
- US$ 6,600 US$ 6,600 

Local financing Wuxi-Changjiang 

Metal 

US$ 9,800 - - 

RMB 285,500 RMB 303,900 RMB 382,800 

Union steel china 

RMB 119,000 RMB 121,000 RMB 88,000 

US$ 61,200 US$ 25,000 US$ 32,500 

68,900,000 68,900,000 - 

Total 
 

US$ 71,000 US$ 31,600 US$ 39,100 

 
RMB 404,500 RMB 424,900 RMB 470,800 

 
68,900,000 68,900,000 

 

 

(5) The company determines directors with significant right and responsibilities as a key 

management and the compensation for the key management in current and prior 

periods is as follows.  

(Unit : thousand won) 

 
Current period Prior period 

short-term employee benefits 3,718,174 3,697,308 

Benefits after retirement 918,325 630,065 

Total 4,636,499 4,327,373 

 

36. Assets as collateral  
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Details of assets that the company provided as collaterals at the end of the current 

period are as follows.  

(KRW unit : thousand won, foreign currency unit : thousand US$, thousand JPY, thousand RMB) 

Classification Collaterals BV 
Collateralized 

amount 

Amount of 

borrowings or 

guarantee 

Holder 

Collaterals for 

borrowings 

Land, Machinery 

and equipment  

744,150,187 

478,530,000 310,732,040 

KDB and others Investment 

property 
JPY 11,100,000 JPY 2,580,000 

  US$64,981  US$460  

Subsidiary Short-term 

financial 

instrument 

10,000,000 10,000,000 - Korea Exim Bank  

 Collaterals for    

borrowings 
7,000,000 7,000,000 RMB 93,000 KDB 

Total 

    495,530,000 310,732,040   

    JPY 11,100,000 JPY 2,580,000   

    US$64,981  US$460    

      RMB 93,000   

 

37. Contingent liability and commitments 

 

(1) Details of commitments as of current period are as follows. 

(KRW unit : thousand won, foreign currency unit : thousand US$) 

 
Institution Amount 

Bank overdraft limit KEB and others 4,000,000 

Note discount limit Kumho bank 20,000,000 

Foreign currency loan limit KDB  US$133,684  

L/C transaction limit Shinhan bank and others US$663,200  

D/A, D/P discount limit KEB  US$50,000  

Trade finance Hana bank and others 9,000,000 

Comprehensive credit limit KEB  95,000,000 

Corporate card limit KEB and others 1,334,000 

General revolving loan fund  Hana bank  30,000,000 

 

(2) The lender sets leasehold rights and mortgage for the amount of 10,852,934(„000) 

KRW in order to secure guarantee deposit receivable for the company headquarter‟s 

building and land. 

  

(3) HP Korea bought 6,197 new shares of DK U&C at 962 million won through allotment 

to the third party and can exercise put option (principal of investment and interest of 
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government bond with 3 year maturity + 1% additional interest rate) to the company 

and other related parties from April 1, in 2014 to June 30, 2014. Also, the company and 

the related parties can exercise call option in the same period. 

 

38. Risk management 

 

(1) Capital risk management 

 

 The object of capital management is to maintain sound capital structure as going 

concern (i.e. continuing to provide profits to shareholders). If necessary, the company has 

the accounting policy for the sound capital such as adjusting the dividend, returning of 

capital to shareholders, or issuing new stocks etc.  

 

The capital structure of the company comprises net liability after deducting cash and 

cash equivalents from borrowings (including bonds) and equity. Capital risk 

management is the same as the prior period.  

 Capital on the basis of the debt to equity ratio at the end of current and prior period is 

as follow 

(Unit : thousand won) 

account Current period Prior period Transition date 

Total borrowings  955,764,956 889,084,846 810,585,499 

less: cash & cash equivalents (42,736,562) (66,451,435) (95,462,349) 

        Net borrowings 913,028,394 822,633,411 715,123,150 

Total equity 730,185,434 746,235,945 704,941,838 

debt to equity ratio 125.0% 110.2% 101.4% 

 

(2)Financial risk management 

The company has exposure to market risk (foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, price 

risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk from its use of financial instruments:  

 

The company‟s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks 

faced by the company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks 

and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly 

to reflect changes in market conditions and the company‟s activities. The company uses 

the derivatives for hedges. The risk management policy is the same as the prior period.  
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1) Foreign exchange risk 

 

 The company has exposure to currency risk on the transactions in the course of business that are 

denominated in a currency other than the functional currency. 

Book values of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional 

currency at the end of current and prior periods are as follows.  

 

(Unit : thousand US$, thousand EUR, thousand JPY) 

classification 
Current period Prior period Transition date 

US$ EUR JPY US$ EUR JPY US$ EUR JPY 

Foreign 

currency 

assets 

73,930 1,675 143,153 72,925 1,208 151,928 53,879 829 60,694 

Foreign 

currency 

liability 

385,129 156 2,589,915 402,027 558 3,533,514 824,669 2 3,452,195 

 

The company internally reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in 

relation to the foreign currency risks on a regular basis. 

Foreign currency exposure to financial assets and liabilities of a 10% currency rate 

change against the KRW are presented below. 

(Unit : thousand won) 

account 
Current period Prior period Transition date 

US$ EUR JPY US$ EUR JPY US$ EUR JPY 

Increase (35,890,611) 227,005 (3,633,833) (37,481,427) 98,384 (4,724,346) (89,997,440) 138,463 (4,282,855) 

Decrease 35,890,611 (227,005) 3,633,833 37,481,427 (98,384) 4,724,346 89,997,440 (138,463) 4,282,855 

The sensitivity risk of the Company is determined based on the monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency at the end of current 

and prior period 

 

2) Interest rate risk 

 

 The company has exposure to interest rate risk as it possesses financial assets and 

liabilities bearing interest.  

Effects on income (expense) from the reporting date as a result of change in interest 

rate are as follows.  

(Unit : thousand won) 

 
Current period Prior period Transition date 

borrowings 412,332,837 410,044,420 462,311,826 
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The company internally reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in 

relation to the interest rate risks on a regular basis.  

 

Based on the above assumption, changes to profit or loss and net asset as a result of 1% 

increases in interest rate on borrowings are presented below. 

(Unit : thousand won) 

 

If increase by 1% If decreased by 1% 

Gain or loss Net asset Gain or loss Net asset 

Current period (412,333) (412,333) 412,333 412,333 

Prior period (410,044) (410,044) 410,044 410,044 

Transition date (462,312) (462,312) 462,312 462,312 

 

The company enters into interest rate swap contracts to hedge the risk of interest 

fluctuations.  

 Details of valuation on interest rate swap contracts are presented below. 

 (Unit : thousand won) 

 

Contractual 

amount 

valuation valuation Fair value 

gain loss 
Other comprehensive 

income 
asset liability 

Interest rate 

swap 
US$ 30,000 - 1,479,199 1,153,775 - 1,479,199 

 

 

3) Price risk 

 

 Price risk arises from the available-for-sale financial assets that the company possesses. 

The market values for the company‟s equity investments (Available-for-sale instruments 

at fair value) at the end of reporting period are ￦85,650(„000 ₩). If there is change in 

price of equity investment by 10%, the amount of equity changes is ￦8,565(„000 ₩) 

(before income tax effect). 

 

4) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a customer or counterparty to a 

financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk arises from cash 

and cash equivalents, savings and derivative instruments transactions with financial 

institutions. To minimize such risk, the Company transacts only with banks which have 

strong international credit rating. The company‟s exposure to credit risk is influenced 
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mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. The company regularly 

performs credit assessment of customers and counterparties considering their financial 

position and historical data in order to manage the credit risk. The company does not 

have an individual risk management policy for counterparty. 

 No exceeded credit limits exists in the current period, the company has evaluated there 

is no indication of default by any of its counterparties. 

Maximum amounts of possible financial loss to the company due to credit risk at the 

reporting period are as follows: However, the effect of obtained collateral value is not 

considered.  

(Unit : thousand won) 

 
Book value 

Maximum amounts of possible financial 

loss 

Cash & cash equivalents 42,736,562 42,736,562 

Long-term and short-term financial 

assets 
19,057,400 19,057,400 

Trade and other receivables 414,056,738 414,056,738 

Available for sale financial asset 23,202,181 23,202,181 

Held to maturity financial asset 1,444,835 1,444,835 

Total 500,497,716 500,497,716 

 

5) Liquidity risk 

 

 The company monitors its cash flow through long-term and short-term management 

strategies and manages its liquidity risk to maintain adequate net working capital by 

constantly managing projected cash flows. The company‟s approach to managing 

liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet 

its liabilities when due 

 

Book values of Non-derivative financial liabilities based on the remaining maturities as 

of December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 are as follows: 

(Unit : thousand won) 

 
Less than one year One to two year Two to five year More than five year 

borrowings 471,911,594 108,489,706 161,298,656 19,466,000 

debentures 40,000,000 - 154,599,000 - 

Trade and other payables 157,734,285 - - - 

Other financial liability 35,425,590 11,821,911 - - 

Total 705,071,469 120,311,617 315,897,656 19,466,000 
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The following table below is an undiscounted cash flow analysis for financial liabilities 

that are presented on the balance sheet according to their remaining contractual 

maturity.  

Book values of Derivative financial liabilities based on the remaining maturities as of 

December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 are as follows: 

(Unit : thousand won) 

 
Less than one year One to two year Two to five year More than five year 

Derivative liability 
    

Interest rate swap - - 1,479,199 - 

 

 (3) Measurement of fair value 

 

 The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted 

market prices at the balance sheet date. The book value of financial assets is the market 

value at the end of reporting date.  

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is 

determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximize the use 

of observable market data where it is available, and the assumption is based on the 

market situation at the end of reporting period. Financial liability is measured in market 

price or a bid price, and discounted cash flow analysis is also used to determine fair 

value for the remaining financial instruments. As for trade and other receivables, the 

book value approximates a reasonable estimate of fair value.  

 

The levels of the fair value hierarchy and its application to financial assets and liabilities 

are described below 

 

Hierarchy 

level 1 The levels of the fair value hierarchy and its application to financial assets and liabilities are described below 

level 2 

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly or indirectly 

level 3 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) 

 

The fair values of financial instruments based on the fair value hierarchy as of December 

31, 2011, 2010 and January 1, 2010 are as follows: 

<Current period> 

(Unit : thousand won) 

category Book value 
Fair value 

level1 level2 level3 subtotals 

financial asset 
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Listed equity securities 11,393,274 11,393,274 - - 11,393,274 

Non-listed equity securities 1,328,872 - - 1,328,872 1,328,872 

Debt securities 10,480,035 10,480,035 - - 10,480,035 

financial asset Total 23,202,181 21,873,309 - 1,328,872 23,202,181 

financial liability 

Derivative liability 1,479,199 - 1,479,199 - 1,479,199 

financial liability Total 1,479,199 - 1,479,199 - 1,479,199 

 

<Prior period> 

(Unit : thousand won) 

category Book value 
Fair value 

level1 level2 level3 subtotals 

financial asset 

Listed equity securities 58,056,607 58,056,607 - - 58,056,607 

Non-listed equity securities 1,328,872 - - 1,328,872 1,328,872 

Debt securities 6,671,579 6,671,579 - - 6,671,579 

financial asset Total 66,057,058 64,728,186 - 1,328,872 66,057,058 

 

<Transition date> 

(Unit : thousand won) 

category Book value 
Fair value 

level1 level2 level3 subtotals 

financial asset 

Listed equity securities 40,439,757 40,439,757 - - 40,439,757 

Non-listed equity securities 9,892,685 - - 9,892,685 9,892,685 

Current derivatives - - 414,354 - - 

Non-current derivatives - - 93,398 - - 

financial asset Total 52,826,277 42,933,592 507,752 9,892,685 52,826,277 

financial liability 

Derivative liability 132,668 - 132,668 - 132,668 

financial liability Total 132,668 - 132,668 - 132,668 

 

39. Issuance of the financial statements 

 

 The financial statements approved by the Board of director at the date of Feb, 17, 2012. 
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Opinions on the operation of internal accounting control system 

 

The attached “Independent Accountants‟ Review Report on Internal Accounting Control 

System” is provided in accordance with clause 2-3 of act on external audit of stock 

companies after conducting external audit of financial statements of Union Steel as of 

Dec. 31 of 2011 and reviewing internal accounting control system of the company.  

 

 

Attachments: 

 

1.  Independent Accountants‟ Review Report on Internal Accounting Control System 

2.  Assessment review of internal accounting managers‟ operation  
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Independent Accountants’ Review Report on Internal Accounting Control System 

 

To the President of Union Steel: 

 

We have reviewed the accompanying Report on the Operations of Internal Accounting 

Control System (“IACS”) of Union Steel (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2010. The 

Company's management is responsible for designing and maintaining effective IACS and 

for its assessment of the effectiveness of IACS. Our responsibility is to review 

management's assessment and issue a report based on our review. In the accompanying 

report of management‟s assessment of IACS, the Company‟s management stated: “Based 

on the assessment on the operations of the IACS, the Company‟s IACS has been 

effectively designed and is operating as of December 31, 2010, in all material respects, in 

accordance with the IACS Framework (name of other standard, if used) issued by the 

Internal Accounting Control System Operation Committee”.  

 

We conducted our review in accordance with IACS Review Standards, issued by the 

Korean Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those Standards require that we plan 

and perform the review to obtain assurance of a level less than that of an audit as to 

whether Report on the Operations of Internal Accounting Control System is free of 

material misstatement. Our review consists principally of obtaining an understanding of 

the Company‟s IACS, inquiries of company personnel about the details of the report, and 

tracing to related documents we considered necessary in the circumstances.  

 

A company's IACS is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 

purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Korea. Because 

of its inherent limitations, however, IACS may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that 

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree 

of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that Report on the Operations 

of Internal Accounting Control System as of December 31, 2010 is not prepared in all 

material respects, in accordance with IACS Framework issued by the Internal Accounting 

Control System Operation Committee.  
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This report applies to the Company‟s IACS in existence as of December 31, 2010. We 

did not review the Company‟s IACS subsequent to December 31, 2010. This report has 

been prepared for Korean regulatory purposes, pursuant to the External Audit Law, and 

may not be appropriate for other purposes or for other users. 

 

 

 

 

Anjin Deloitte LLC. 

23-5 Yoio-dong,  

Youngdeungpo-gu, Seoul 

CEO Jae sul Lee 

Mar 7. 2012 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

 

Union Steel Co., Ltd.  

To Shareholders & The Board of Directors 

 

 

Reviewed financial statements  

We have reviewed the accompanying separate statement of financial position of Union 

Steel Co., Ltd (“the Company”) as of June 30, 2012, and separate statements of 

comprehensive income for the three-month and six month periods ended June 30, 2012 

and 2011 changes in equity and cash flows for the six-month periods ended June 30, 

2012 and 2011 and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and 

other explanatory information (“the separate interim financial information”).  

 

Management’s responsibility  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of this separate 

interim financial information in accordance with Korean International Financial Reporting 

Standard (“K-IFRS”). The Company management is also responsible for the internal 

controls determined necessary to prepare the separate interim financial statements free 

of material misstatements due to error or fraud.  

Auditor’s review responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on this separate interim financial information 

based on our review.  

We conducted our reviews in accordance with the Review Standards for 

Quarterly/Semiannual Financial Statements established by the Securities and Futures 

Commission of the Republic of Korea. A review of interim financial information consists 

of making inquiries primarily of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, 

and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in 
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scope than an audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards and consequently 

does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant 

matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit 

opinion.  

Conclusion  

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that 

the accompanying separate interim financial information referred to above is not 

presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with K-IFRS 1034 “Interim Financial 

Reporting”.  

Other considerations  

As discussed in note 2, the Company can elect to prepare the Quarterly/Semiannual 

separate financial information in accordance with accounting policies which management 

adopted for its first annual financial statements in accordance with K-IFRS instead of 

preparing Quarterly/Semiannual consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, these 

interim financial statements are separate interim financial statements in accordance with 

K-IFRS 1027 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”. The standards only apply 

to Quarterly/Semiannual financial statements and require the controlled entity to prepare 

both consolidated and separate financial statements for annual reports. 

We have audited the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2011, and 

comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows (not attached in this review 

report) for the year ended December 31, 2011 in accordance with auditing standards 

generally accepted in the Republic of Korea. We expressed an unqualified opinion on 

those financial statements in our report dated March 08, 2012. The accompanying 

financial statements as of December 31, 2011, presented herein for comparative 

purposes, are consistent, in all material respects, with the above audited statements. 

 

 

 

23-5, Yeoido-Dong, 

Yeongdeungpo-Gu, Seoul 

Anjin Accounting Corp. 

CEO, Jae Sul Lee 
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Aug 14, 2012 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This report is effective as of August 14, 2012, the review report date. Certain subsequent events 

or circumstances, which may occur between the review report date and the time of reading this 

report, could have a material impact on the accompanying separate interim financial information. 

Accordingly, the readers of the review report should understand that there is a possibility that the 

above review report may have to be revised to reflect the impact of such subsequent events or 

circumstances, if any. 
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Statement of Financial Position 

 

Current period: as of June 30, 2012 

Prior period: as of Dec 31, 2011 

 

Union Steel Co., Ltd (unit: KRW) 

 

Description 2012 2011 

Assets   

I. Current Assets   892,939,344,837    695,188,582,171  

1. Cash and cash 

equivalent (note 

5,7,33) 

142,442,387,590    42,736,561,818    

2. Short-term 

financial 

instrument (note 

6,7,34,35) 

31,237,001,000    17,000,000,000    

3. Trade 

receivables  (note 

7,8) 

386,752,706,977    371,315,699,319    

4. Loans and 

receivables (note 

7,9) 

2,126,991,958    26,663,579,818    

5. Current held-

to-maturity 

securities (note 

7,10,34,35) 

1,027,115,000    20,135,000    

6. Current 

available-for-sale 

securities (note 

7,11) 

60,795,813,753    16,656,161,941    

7. Inventories 

(note 13) 
252,756,649,181    211,934,365,286    

8. Current assets 

held for sale (note 

14) 

1,734,680,000    1,737,289,742    

9. Income tax 

refund receivable  
-   469,606,639    

10. Other Current 

Assets (note15) 
14,065,999,378    6,655,182,608    

II. Non-current 

Assets 
  1,227,340,047,049    1,240,639,611,145 

1. Long term 

financial 
2,069,400,000    2,057,400,000    
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Description 2012 2011 

instruments (note 

6,7) 

2. Long-term 

loans and 

receivables (note 

7,9) 

15,441,746,178    16,077,458,707    

3. Held-to-

maturity securities 

(note 7,10) 

410,195,000    1,424,700,000    

4. Available-for-

sale securities 

(note 7,11) 

11,415,186,466    6,546,018,595    

5. Investment in 

Subsidiaries and 

Associates (note 

12) 

151,266,652,646    170,388,017,852    

6. Tangible Assets 

(note 16,20,35) 
930,760,267,175    927,139,334,739    

7. Investment 

Property (note 17) 
109,522,252,017    110,279,963,333    

8. Intangible 

Assets (note 18) 
6,454,347,567    6,726,717,919    

Total Assets   2,120,279,391,886    1,935,828,193,316 

Liabilities         

I. Current 

Liabilities 
  799,190,447,773    707,929,498,979  

1. Trade payables  

(note 19) 
225,448,720,642    157,734,284,502    

2. Short-term 

borrowings and 

debentures (note 

8,19,20) 

539,433,377,607    511,911,593,833    

3. Other financial 

liability (note 

19,21) 

31,529,319,480    35,425,589,887    

4. Income tax 

payables 
1,168,130,658    -   

5. Other current 

liability (note 23) 
1,610,899,386    2,858,030,757    

II. Non-Current 

Liabilities 
  607,607,021,822    497,713,260,451  

1. Long-term 

borrowings and 

Debentures  

(note 19, 20) 

555,105,800,815    443,853,362,000    

2. Pension liability 20,835,366,889    20,256,092,277    
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Description 2012 2011 

(note 24)  

3. Other long-

term financial 

liability (note 19, 

21) 

11,830,305,220    11,821,910,500    

4. Non-current 

deferred income 

tax liabilities  

(note 31) 

17,644,711,701    18,652,300,450    

5. Provision (note 

25) 
885,355,564    1,650,396,239    

6. Non-current 

derivatives 

liabilities(note 19, 

22) 

1,305,481,633    1,479,198,985    

Total Liabilities   1,406,797,469,595    1,205,642,759,430 

Stockholder‟s 

Equity 
        

1. Capital Stock 

(note 26) 
  51,300,000,000    51,300,000,000  

2. Capital Surplus 

(note 26) 
  51,640,703,538    51,640,703,538  

3. Retained 

Earnings (note 26) 
  610,824,601,039    628,070,633,791  

4. Other capital 

(note 26) 
  (283,382,286)   (825,903,443) 

Total 

Stockholder‟s 

Equity 

  713,481,922,291    730,185,433,886  

Total Liabilities 

and Stockholder‟s 

Equity  

  2,120,279,391,886    1,935,828,193,316 
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Statements of comprehensive Income 

 

For the three-month and six-month periods ended June 30, 2012 and 2011  

Union Steel Co., Ltd (Unit: KRW) 

 

Description 

2012 2011 

three months 

(4.1-6.30) 

six months (1.1-

6.30) 

three months 

(4.1-6.30) 

six months (1.1-

6.30) 

I. Sales (note 4) 498,954,736,662  937,235,486,839  554,882,063,889  1,045,892,708,581  

II. Cost of sales (note27) 460,078,236,492  874,062,606,054  513,207,574,592  961,984,548,292  

III. Gross profit(loss) 38,876,500,170  63,172,880,785  41,674,489,297  83,908,160,289  

IV. Selling expenses (note 27,28) 12,881,107,381  23,409,247,808  13,034,239,444  24,596,196,379  

V. SG&A (note 27,28) 5,618,074,452  11,399,385,085  7,379,008,855  14,513,369,314  

VI. Other operating revenues (note 30) 4,107,966,654  5,769,403,852  1,727,741,580  5,174,835,250  

VII. Other operating expense (note 29) 2,522,647,665  4,185,264,420  4,691,089,861  6,299,049,197  

VIII. Operating income(Loss) 21,962,637,326  29,948,387,324  18,297,892,717  43,674,380,649  

IX. Impaired loss on investment in 

subsidiary (note12) 
- (27,299,955,206) - - 

X.. Financial income (note30) 3,822,236,034  8,467,231,306  13,548,947,085  29,267,517,267  

XI. Financial cost (note 30) 19,260,488,168  23,969,132,717  8,483,323,623  16,341,210,243  

XII. Net Profit(loss) before income tax 6,524,385,192  (12,853,469,293) 23,363,516,179  56,600,687,673  

XIII. Income tax expense(note 31) 1,441,225,252  2,340,627,859  4,548,398,409  12,835,902,709  

XIV. Net profit(loss) 5,083,159,940  (15,194,097,152) 18,815,117,770  43,764,784,964  

XV. Other comprehensive income 236,355,091  542,521,157  (2,489,469,082) (2,193,016,413) 

1. Net changes in fair value of 

available-for-sale investments (note11) 
157,303,357  407,021,623  (2,100,542,251) (1,123,652,599) 

2. Net changes in valuation of Interest 

swap (note 22) 
79,051,734  135,499,534  (388,926,831) (1,069,363,814) 

XVI. Total other comprehensive income 5,319,515,031  (14,651,575,995) 16,325,648,688  41,571,768,551  

XVII. Earnings per share         

1. Basic EPS (note 32) 495  (1,481) 1,834  4,266  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



See accompanying notes to separate interim financial statements. 

 

Statement of Changes in Equity 

 

 
Current period: For the year ended June 30, 2012 

 
Prior period: For the year ended June 30, 2011 

  (Unit: KRW) Union Steel Co., Ltd 

 

Description 
Common  Capital 

retained earnings 
Other  

Total 
stock  Surplus capital  

2011.1.1 

[beginning 

balance] 

51,300,000,000  51,640,703,538  621,661,940,482  21,633,301,464  746,235,945,484  

1. Annual 

Dividends 
- - (5,129,839,000) - (5,129,839,000) 

2..Total 

comprehensive 

income 

          

1)  Net Income - - 43,764,784,964  - 43,764,784,964  

2) Other 

comprehensive 

income and loss 

- - - (2,193,016,413) (2,193,016,413) 

2011.6.30 [Ending 

balance] 
51,300,000,000  51,640,703,538  660,296,886,446  19,440,285,051  782,677,875,035  

2012.1.1 

[beginning 

balance] 

51,300,000,000  51,640,703,538  628,070,633,791  (825,903,443) 730,185,433,886  

1. Annual 

Dividends 
- - (2,051,935,600) - (2,051,935,600) 

2. Total 

comprehensive 

income 

          

1) Net Income - - (15,194,097,152) - (15,194,097,152) 

2)Other 

comprehensive 

income  

- - - 542,521,157  542,521,157  

2012.06.30 

[Ending balance] 
51,300,000,000  51,640,703,538  610,824,601,039  (283,382,286) 713,481,922,291  
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Statements of Cashflows 

 

Current period: For the year ended June 30, 2012 

Prior period: For the year ended June 30, 2011 

 

Union Steel Co., Ltd (Unit: KRW) 

 

Description 2012 2011 

Ⅰ. Cash Flow from Operating 

Activities  
56,970,993,851    (33,232,854,873) 

1. Cash generated from operations 74,464,796,604    (16,315,743,440)   

A. Net Income(Loss) (15,194,097,152)   43,764,784,964    

B. Adjustments (note 33) 68,526,863,317    30,589,484,382    

 C. Changes in working capital (note 

33) 
21,132,030,439    (90,670,012,786)   

2. Dividends received  686,329,050    600,280,400    

 3. Dividends paid (2,051,935,600)   (5,129,839,000)   

 4. Interest earned  2,908,408,268    3,030,245,323    

5. Interest paid      (15,417,798,156)   

6. Income tax paid (1,863,498,100)   -   

Ⅱ. Cash flows from investing activities    (93,124,381,676)   (64,000,502,052) 

1. Decrease in Short-term financial 

instruments 
(14,237,001,000)   4,280,761,527    

2. Increase in Long term financial 

instruments 
(12,000,000)   (9,500,000)   

3. Disposition of  Held-to-maturity 

securities 
17,930,000    5,732,915,000    

4. Acquisition of  Held-to-maturity 

securities 
(10,405,000)   (314,450,000)   

5. Disposition of Available-for-sale 

securities   
24,273,563,232    18,220,000,000    

6. Acquisition of Available-for-sale 

securities   
(72,825,000,000)   (51,100,000,000)   

7. Acquisition of investment in 

subsidiary  
(8,178,590,000)   (13,268,790,000)   

8. Disposition of Tangible assets 20,599,818    14,854,546    

9. Acquisition of Tangible assets (22,173,478,726)   (27,968,012,635)   

10. Acquisition of Intangible assets -   (75,803,500)   

11. Cash flow from Other Investment -   487,523,010    

Ⅲ. Cash flows from financing activities   136,006,477,463    151,421,150,340  
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Description 2012 2011 

A. Increase(Decrease)  in Short-term 

borrowings  
66,546,533,648    4,764,028,340    

B. Increase in borrowings and 

Debentures 
154,484,039,815    181,721,758,000    

C. Redemption of borrowings and 

Financial debentures 
(85,024,096,000)   (35,064,636,000)   

Ⅳ. Increase(Decrease) in Cash 

(Ⅰ＋Ⅱ＋Ⅲ) 
  99,853,089,638    54,187,793,415  

Ⅴ. Beginning Cash (note 34)   42,736,561,818    66,451,435,348  

VI. Effect of exchange rate fluctuations 

on cash and cash equivalent 
  (147,263,866)   165,790,898  

Ⅷ. Ending Cash  (note 34)   142,442,387,590    120,805,019,661  

 

 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

 

June 30, 2012and 2011, and December 31, 2011 

 

Union Steel Co., Ltd 

 

1. Summary of the company 

 

Union Steel Co., Ltd (“the Company”) is established in 1962, and listed on Korea Stock 

Exchange in 1973 and engaging in manufacturing and selling of cold rolled corrosion 

resistant flat products. As of the balance sheet date, the Company‟s headquarters are 

located in Suha-dong, Jung-gu and factory is located in Gamman-Dong, Busan and 

Hwasung-si, Dongtan-myun and annual capacity is 2,000,000 ton.  

The company has increased its capital by several free issue of new shares and issue of 

new shares to be purchased and the current capital comprises of common stocks. (51, 

300, 000)(000 KRW) The list of major shareholders is as follows: 

Name # of shares Ratio (%) 

Dongkuk Steel Mill 6,680,297 65.11 

POSCO 1,005,000 9.80 

Others 2,574,703 25.09 

Total 10,260,000 100.00 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies  

 

 (1) Basis of Presentation 

These separate interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with K-

IFRS 1034 “Interim Financial Reporting” as part of the period covered by its first IFRS 

financial statements. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the 

annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011, which have been 

prepared in accordance with K-IFRSs. 

The Company can elect to prepare the Quarterly/Semiannual separate financial 

information in accordance with accounting policies which management adopted for its 

first annual financial statements in accordance with K-IFRS instead of preparing 

Quarterly/Semiannual consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, these interim 

financial statements are separate interim financial statements in accordance with K-IFRS 

1027 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”.  

The significant accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all 

periods presented in these financial statements and in preparing the statement of 

financial position as of December 31, 2011 except for the effects of the following new 

standards, interpretations and amendments.  

1) New standards, amendments and interpretations issued and effective for the financial 

year beginning January 1, 2012 

 (i) Amendments to K-IFRS No. 1107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures  

If the Company derecognizes transferred financial assets but still has their specific risks 

and rewards, the amendments require additional disclosures on their effect of risks. It is 

not expected to have any impact on these interim financial statements.  

(ii) Amendments to K-IFRS No. 1012 „Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets‟ 

 The amendment addresses the measurement of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax 

assets shall reflect the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the 

company expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of investment properties 
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measured in accordance with K-IFRS 1040 “Investment properties”, unless any contrary 

evidence exists. In addition, regardless of the carrying amount of non-depreciable 

tangible assets measured using revaluation model in accordance with K-IFRS 1016, the 

measurement of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets shall reflect the tax 

consequences that would follow from selling price. It is not expected to have any impact 

on these interim financial statements.  

(iii) Amendments to K-IFRIC 2114 „Prepayments of a minimum funding requirement‟. 

Without the amendments, the company was not permitted to recognize as an asset on 

some voluntary prepayments for minimum funding contributions. After the amendments 

are effective, the company recognizes them as assets. It is not expected to have any 

impact on these interim financial statements.  

 

2) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet 

effective and have not been early adopted by the Company.  

(i) Amendments to K-IFRS No. 1019 Employee Benefits  

The standard requires that the corridor approach will no longer be applied and instead 

all actuarial gains and losses will be recognized in other comprehensive income as they 

occur. The standard will be applied for the company‟s annual periods beginning on or 

after January 1, 2013.  

(ii) Amendments to K-IFRS No. 1113 Fair Value Measurement  

The standard defines fair value and a single framework for fair value, and requires 

disclosures about fair value measurements. The standard will be applied prospectively for 

the Company‟s annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. 

The Company expects the amendments described above to not have a material impact 

on these interim financial statements.  

 

3. Significant estimates and judgments 
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The preparation of the interim financial statements in conformity with K-IFRS requires 

management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application 

of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 

expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

The significant accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all 

periods presented in these financial statements and in preparing the statement of 

financial position as of December 31, 2011.  

 

4. Operating segments 

 

(1) The company identifies the single reportable segment as a company. Accordingly, 

note to the reportable segment for operating incomes, income (loss) before income 

tax expenses, total Liabilities and Stockholder‟s Equity is not provided. 

 

(2) Details of operating incomes for goods and services at the ends of current and prior 

accounting periods are as follows. 

(unit: thousand won) 

Reporting segment Primary goods and services 

Current period Prior period 

three 

months (4.1-

6-30) 

six months 

(1.1-6.30) 

three 

months 

(4.1-6-30) 

six months 

(1 1-6.30) 

Union steel 

Sales in Finished goods 475,805,928 898,407,523 521,975,879 996,116,144 

Sales in merchandise 20,962,862 34,461,600 30,768,556 46,155,631 

Rental sales 2,185,947 4,366,364 2,137,629 3,620,934 

Total 498,954,737 937,235,487 554,882,064 1,045,892,709 

 

(3)Details of sales by regions are as follows. 

 (unit: thousand won) 

Period Domestic Asia America Oceania East Asia Africa Total 

Current 

period 

three 

months 

(4.1-6-30) 

273,088,475  54,884,238  114,976,907  7,257,244  11,366,096  37,381,777  498,954,737  

six 

months 

(1.1-6.30) 

505,452,716  112,396,171  225,811,162  11,155,831  17,042,090  65,377,517  937,235,487  

Prior period 
three 

months 
334,375,764  67,727,407  101,211,354  5,835,378  15,234,045  30,498,116  554,882,064  
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(4.1-6-30) 

six 

months 

(1.1-6.30) 

630,411,596  129,237,048  180,419,681  10,507,631  25,814,104  69,502,649  1,045,892,709  

 

Sales by regions above are inclusive all in domestic. 

Meanwhile, no customer that solely owns more than 10% of profit of the company exists.   

5. Cash and Cash equivalent 

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position are treated the same 

amount in the cash flow statement. 

Details of cash and cash equivalents at the ends of current and prior accounting periods 

are as follows; 

(unit: thousand won) 

  Current period Prior period 

Deposits and Savings 112,430,521 42,725,576 

Cash equivalent 30,011,867 10,986 

Total 142,442,388 42,736,562 

 

6. Restricted Bank Deposits 

Details of bank deposit at the ends of current and prior accounting periods are as 

follows;  

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Bank Current period Prior period Restriction 

Short-term financial 

instrument 

KDB 
- 7,000,000 

Collaterals for subsidiary company‟s 

borrowings (note 34-4) 

- 10,000,000 Collaterals for borrowings 

Long term financial 

instruments 

Shinhan Bank 

and others 
17,400 17,400 

Deposits for account opening 

Total   17,400 17,017,400   

 

7. Financial instruments by category 

 Details of financial instruments by category at the ends of current and prior accounting 

periods are as follows; 

<Current> 

(unit: thousand won) 



See accompanying notes to separate interim financial statements. 

  

Financial assets at 

fair value through 

profit or loss 

Held-to-

maturity 

securities 

Available-for-

sale securities 

Loans and 

Receivables 
Total 

Cash and Cash equivalent - - - 142,442,388  142,442,388  

Short-term financial instruments - - - 31,237,001  31,237,001  

Trade and other receivables - - - 386,752,707  386,752,707  

Loans and Receivables - - - 2,126,992  2,126,992  

Current held-to-maturity 

securities 
- 1,027,115  - - 1,027,115  

Current available-for-sale 

securities 
- - 60,795,814  - 60,795,814  

Long-term financial instruments - - - 2,069,400  2,069,400  

Long-term loans and receivables - - - 15,441,746  15,441,746  

Held-to-maturity securities - 410,195  - - 410,195  

Available-for-sale securities - - 11,415,186  - 11,415,186  

Total - 1,437,310  72,211,000  580,070,234  653,718,544  

 

<Prior> 

(unit: thousand won) 

  

Financial assets at 

fair value through 

profit or loss 

Held-to-

maturity 

securities 

Available-for-

sale securities 

Loans and 

Receivables 
Total 

Cash and Cash equivalent - - - 42,736,562  42,736,562  

Short-term financial instruments - - - 17,000,000  17,000,000  

Trade and other receivables - - - 371,315,699  371,315,699  

Loans and Receivables - - - 26,663,580  26,663,580  

Current held-to-maturity 

securities 
- 20,135  - - 20,135  

Current available-for-sale 

securities 
- - 16,656,162  - 16,656,162  

Long-term financial instruments - - - 2,057,400  2,057,400  

Long-term loans and receivables - - - 16,077,459  16,077,459  

Held-to-maturity securities - 1,424,700  - - 1,424,700  

Available-for-sale securities - - 6,546,019  - 6,546,019  

Total 
- 1,444,835  23,202,181  475,850,700  500,497,716  
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The company determines that BV of financial assets (loans and receivables) measured at 

amortized cost approximates a reasonable estimate of fair value for the financial liabilities. 

 

8. Trade receivables 

(1) Details of receivables are as follows;. 

(unit: thousand won) 

  Current period Prior period 

Accounts receivable 387,684,596  372,914,676  

less: allowance (931,889) (1,598,977) 

Accounts receivable(net amount) 386,752,707  371,315,699  

 

(2) Details of aging analysis for receivables are as follows;. 

(Unit : thousand won) 

  Current period Prior period 

Less than 3 months - - 

3-6 months - - 

6 ~ 12 months - - 

More than 1 year 1,146,862 1,243,288 

Total 1,146,862 1,243,288 

Allowances for bad debt expenses regarding above receivables are established 

excluding recoverable amounts due to collateral and pledges.  

(3) Details of analysis on possibility of collection for overdue but not impaired 

receivables are as follows; 

(Unit : thousand won) 

  Current period Prior period 

Less than 3 months 112,433,373 120,340,347 

3-6 months 2,933,502 12,106,268 

6 ~ 12 months 83,710 977,997 

More than 1 year 812 1,828 

Total 115,451,397 133,426,440 

 

 (4) Details of changes in allowances at the ends of current and prior accounting periods 

are as follows;  
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 (Unit : thousand won) 

 
Current period Prior period 

Beginning 1,598,977 2,080,211  

Unused amounts reversed (667,088) (479,158) 

Receivables written off during 
- (2,076) 

the year as uncollectible 

ending 931,889  1,598,977  

 

(5) The Company transferred receivables balance amount of 40,767,466,000 KRW to 

financial institutions (KEB, etc) and provided credit guarantee for expected losses of 

relevant receivables as of a reporting date. The company recognized relevant transactions 

as borrowings with collaterals. Accordingly, received cash by transferring receivables is 

recognized as borrowings (note 20). Transferee has the right to sell or deposit for other 

borrowings regarding transferred assets 

 

9. Loans and receivables 

(1) Details of Loans and receivables at the ends of current and prior periods are as 

follows; 

(Unit : thousand won) 

  
Current period Prior period 

Current Non-current Current Non-current 

Account receivable 154,295  43,467  25,213,879  - 

Accrued revenue 1,971,278  - 1,449,701  - 

Loans 1,419  12,000,000  - 12,000,000  

Deposit - 3,398,279  - 4,077,459  

Total 2,126,992  15,441,746  26,663,580  16,077,459  

 

(2) Details of ages of loans and receivables at the ends of current and prior 

accounting periods are as follows; 

(Unit : thousand won) 

  Current period Prior period 

Less than 3 months 2,126,992 26,663,580 

3 ~ 6 months - - 

6 ~ 12 months - - 

More than 1 year 15,441,746 16,077,459 

Total 17,568,738 42,741,039 
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10. Held to maturities securities 

(1) Details of Held-to-maturity securities are as follows.  

(unit: thousand won) 

Account 
Current period Prior period 

Acquisition cost Book Value Acquisition cost Book Value 

Current held-to-

maturity securities: 

        

 Housing Bond 1,023,640  1,023,640  14,320  14,320  

 Train Bond 340  340  3,010  3,010  

 Region Development 

Bond 
3,135  3,135  2,805  2,805  

Sub-Total 1,027,115  1,027,115  20,135  20,135  

Held-to-maturity 

securities: 
        

 Housing Bond  385,430  385,430  1,398,860  1,398,860  

 Train Bond 15,915  15,915  16,110  16,110  

 Region Development 

Bond 
8,850  8,850  9,730  9,730  

Sub-Total 410,195  410,195  1,424,700  1,424,700  

Total 1,437,310  1,437,310  1,444,835  1,444,835  

 

(2) Classification details of HTM are as follows. 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Within 1yr 1yr ~ 5yr Total 

Housing Bond 1,023,640 385,430 1,409,070 

Train Bond 340 15,915 16,255 

Region Development Bond 3,135 8,850 11,985 

Total 1,027,115 410,195 1,437,310 

 

Interest income recognized regarding the above HTM in current and prior periods are 

each 23,254 („000 KRW) and 97,337 („000 KRW). 

 

11. Available-for-sale securities  

(1) Details of Available-for-sale securities are as follows 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Current period Prior period 
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Acquisition cost Book Value Acquisition cost Book Value 

Current available-for-sale securities: 

Funds: 

  Restricted Trust 52,000,000  52,673,906  6,000,000  6,176,127  

Sub-Total 52,000,000  52,673,906  6,000,000  6,176,127  

Investment Bonds         

  Bond 7,958,000  8,121,908  10,242,000  10,480,035  

Sub-Total 7,958,000  8,121,908  10,242,000  10,480,035  

Total 59,958,000  60,795,814  16,242,000  16,656,162  

Available-for-sale securities: 

Funds: 

  Mutual Fund 10,000,000  10,226,714  5,000,000  5,131,497  

Sub-Total 10,000,000  10,226,714  5,000,000  5,131,497  

Listed Stock: 

  KTB Network 210,960  88,603  210,960  85,650  

Sub-Total 210,960  88,603  210,960  85,650  

Non-Listed Stock: 

 The Korea economic 

daily 
8,632  8,632  8,632  8,632  

 Daehan steel Co., Ltd 246,000  246,000  246,000  246,000  

 Sinsung control 345,230  345,230  574,233  574,233  

 Ace industry 500,007  500,007  500,007  500,007  

Sub-Total 1,099,869  1,099,869  1,328,872  1,328,872  

Total 11,310,829  11,415,186  6,539,832  6,546,019  

 

(2) Details of Funds among Available-for-sale at the end of current and prior periods are 

as follows 

<Current> 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Acquisition cost 

Unrealized holding income or loss 

BV 
Before tax 

Income tax 

effects 
After tax 

Trust 52,000,000  673,906  (148,259) 525,647  52,673,906  

Mutual Fund 10,000,000  226,714  (49,878) 176,836  10,226,714  

Bond 7,958,000  163,908  (36,060) 127,848  8,121,908  

Total 69,958,000  1,064,528  (234,197) 830,331  71,022,528  

 

<Prior> 

(unit: thousand won) 
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Account Acquisition cost 

Unrealized holding income or loss 

BV 
Before tax 

Income tax 

effects 
After tax 

Trust 6,000,000  176,127  (38,748) 137,379  6,176,127  

Mutual Fund 5,000,000  131,497  (28,929) 102,568  5,131,497  

Bond 10,242,000  238,035  (52,368) 185,667  10,480,035  

Total 21,242,000  545,659  (120,045) 425,614  21,787,659  

 

 (3) Details of listed stocks among Available-for-sale at the end of current and prior 

periods are as follows. 

<Current> 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account 
Acquisition 

cost 

Unrealized holding income or loss 

BV (note 1) 
Before tax 

Income tax 

effects 
After tax 

KTB Network 210,960 (122,357) 26,919  (95,438) 88,603  

 

<Prior> 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account 
Acquisition 

cost 

Unrealized holding income or loss 

BV (note 1) 
Before tax 

Income tax 

effects 
After tax 

KTB Network 210,960 (125,310) 27,568  (97,742) 85,650  

 

(Note 1) BV of listed stocks is a FMV and assessed as closing price on the BS date (in the 

absence of closing price on the BS date, closing price on the closest trading date before 

the BS date). 

 

 (4) Changes in unrealized holding income or loss of listed stocks, funds, bonds for the 

current period is as follows  

<Current> 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Beginning balance 
Increase and 

decrease by valuation 
Realization by sales Ending balance 
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Trust 176,127  497,779  - 673,906  

Mutual Fund 131,497  95,217  - 226,714  

Bond 238,035  (74,127) - 163,908  

KTB Network (125,310) 2,953  - (122,357) 

Sub-Total 420,349  521,822  - 942,171  

Income tax effect (92,477) (114,801) - (207,278) 

Amounts after 

reflecting income tax 

effect 

327,872  407,021  - 734,893  

 

<Prior> 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Beginning balance 

Increase and 

decrease by 

valuation 

Realization by sales Ending balance 

Trust 282,823  (106,696) - 176,127  

Mutual Fund 125,137  6,360  - 131,497  

Bond 141,579  96,456  - 238,035  

POSCO 27,170,696  - (27,170,696) - 

KTB Network 14,767  (140,077) - (125,310) 

Sub-Total 27,735,002  (143,957) (27,170,696) 420,349  

Income tax effect (6,101,701) 31,671  5,977,553  (92,477) 

Amounts after 

reflecting income tax 

effect 

21,633,301  (112,286) (21,193,143) 327,872  

 

 (5) Details of non-listed stocks among Available-for-sale securities at the ends of 

current and prior periods are as follows 

<Current> 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Ratio(%) acquisition cost Net Asset Value BV (note 1) 

The Korea economic daily 0.01 8,632 13,134 8,632 

Daehan steel Co., Ltd. 4.59 246,000 67,192 246,000 

Sinsung control 3.17 345,230 488,395 345,230 

Ace industry 7.53 500,007 439,498 500,007 

Total   1,099,869 1,058,323 1,099,869 
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<Prior> 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Ratio(%) acquisition cost Net Asset Value BV (note 1) 

The Korea economic daily 0.01 8,632 12,610 8,632 

Daehan steel Co., Ltd. 4.59 246,000 22,327 246,000 

Sinsung control 4.83 574,233 797,597 574,233 

Ace industry 7.53 500,007 393,406 500,007 

Total   1,328,872 1,225,940 1,328,872 

 

(Note 1) As it was impossible to assess fair market value with reliable assessment models 

due to insufficient information for estimating fair market value, the company used 

acquisition cost for alteration.  

 

12. Investment in Subsidiaries and Associates 

(1) Details of investment in subsidiaries and associates are as follows. 

<Current> 

(Unit : thousand won) 

Company Location Ratio (%) Acquisition cost 
Book Value 

 (Deemed cost) 

Book value  

at equity method 

Investments in subsidiaries 

Wuxi-Changjiang Metal China 100 40,400,898  39,362,014  33,678,570  

Union steel china China 87.6 76,623,951  32,939,049  35,039,606  

Union Coating Korea 70.9 51,080,000  - - 

Union Steel Mexico, S.A. De C.V. Mexico 55.6 4,618,775  4,728,582  4,478,120  

USI Service Center Private Ltd. India 75 15,192,240  15,192,240  12,970,110  

USP Center (Thailand), Ltd. Thailand 100 10,301,480  10,301,480  10,049,555  

sub-total     198,217,344  102,523,365  96,215,961  

Investments in associates 

Dongkuk International Inc. U.S.A 35.4 143,800  11,152,810  8,986,140  

Dongkuk Japan 44.8 2,172,588  14,289,725  19,570,996  

Intergis Korea 10.2 8,291,375  15,540,459  19,034,443  

Union Logistic Co., Ltd China 40 5,660,516  5,660,516  5,657,006  

DK UNC  Korea 14.6 133,000  2,099,777  2,689,850  

sub-total     16,401,279  48,743,287  55,938,435  

Total     214,618,623  151,266,652  152,154,396  
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<Prior> 

(Unit : thousand won) 

Company Location Ratio (%) Acquisition cost 
Book Value  

(Deemed cost) 

Book value  

at equity method 

Investments in subsidiaries 

Wuxi-Changjiang Metal China 100 40,400,898  39,362,014  37,090,086  

Union steel china China 92.5 76,623,951  32,939,049  44,161,954  

Union Coating Korea 70.9 51,080,000  27,299,955  - 

Union Steel Mexico, S.A. De C.V. Mexico 55.6 4,618,775  4,728,582  5,578,493  

USI Service Center Private Ltd. India 75 12,626,790  12,626,790  11,535,621  

USP Center (Thailand), Ltd. Thailand 100 4,688,340  4,688,340  4,620,714  

sub-total     190,038,754  121,644,730  102,986,868  

Investments in associates 

Dongkuk International Inc. U.S.A 35.4 143,800  11,152,810  8,972,890  

Dongkuk Japan 44.8 2,172,588  14,289,725  18,215,423  

Intergis Korea 10.2 8,291,375  15,540,459  19,784,063  

Union Logistic Co., Ltd China 40 5,660,516  5,660,516  5,791,903  

DK UNC  Korea 14.6 133,000  2,099,777  2,471,969  

sub-total     16,401,279  48,743,287  55,236,248  

Total     206,440,033  170,388,017  158,223,116  

The company elects to measure the investment in subsidiaries and associates on the 

transition to Korean IFRS using the carrying value in accordance with K-GAAP as its 

deemed cost and evaluates using a cost method.  

 

The impairment loss of 27,299,955(‘000 KRW) were recorded on investments in 

instances where the recoverable amount of the investment has declined significantly 

below the BV due to Giheung factory shutdown in Union coating.  

 (2) Changes of investment in subsidiaries and associates under the equity method are 

as follows. 

<Current> 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account 
Beginning 

balance 

Acquisition 

cost 

Equity method 

gains 

Changes under 

Equity method 

Other 

Inc(Dec) 

Ending 

balance 

Wuxi-Changjiang 

Metal 
37,090,086  - (3,188,821) (222,695) - 33,678,570  

Union steel china 44,161,954  - (10,539,624) 1,417,276  - 35,039,606  
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Union Coating - - - - - - 

Union Steel Mexico, 

S.A. De C.V. 
5,578,493  - (1,255,563) 155,190  - 4,478,120  

USI Service Center 

Private Ltd. 
11,535,621  2,565,450  (252,937) (878,024) - 12,970,110  

USP Center 

(Thailand), Ltd. 
4,620,714  5,613,140  (70,684) (113,615) - 10,049,555  

Dongkuk 

International Inc. 
8,972,890  - (37,724) 50,974  - 8,986,140  

Dongkuk 18,215,423  - 1,714,609  (359,036) - 19,570,996  

Intergis 19,784,063  - 742,058  (1,357,294) (134,384) 19,034,443  

Union Logistic Co., 

Ltd 
5,791,903  - (102,053) (32,844) - 5,657,006  

DK UNC 2,471,969  - 268,940  - (51,059) 2,689,850  

Total 158,223,116  8,178,590  (12,721,799) (1,340,068) (185,443) 152,154,396  

 

<Prior> 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account 
Beginning 

balance 

Acquisition 

cost 

Equity method 

gains 

Changes under 

Equity method 

Dividend 

received 

Ending 

balance 

Wuxi-Changjiang 

Metal 
41,931,822  - (6,836,349) 1,994,613  - 37,090,086  

Union steel china 28,016,083  12,315,240  (804,469) 4,635,100  - 44,161,954  

Union Coating - - - - - - 

Union Steel Mexico, 

S.A. De C.V. 
6,024,603  - 189,642  (635,752) - 5,578,493  

USI Service Center 

Private Ltd. 
- 12,626,790  (225,705) (865,464) - 11,535,621  

USP Center 

(Thailand), Ltd. 
- 4,688,340  (26,873) (40,753) - 4,620,714  

Dongkuk 

International Inc. 
12,157,810  - (3,037,114) (147,806) - 8,972,890  

Dongkuk 16,298,127  - 833,707  1,083,589  - 18,215,423  

Intergis 20,700,953  - (1,632,562) 796,302  (80,630) 19,784,063  

Union Logistic Co., 

Ltd 
5,599,880  - (124,748) 316,771  - 5,791,903  

DK UNC  2,227,957  - 268,285  (4,323) (19,950) 2,471,969  

Total 132,957,235  29,630,370  (11,396,186) 7,132,277  (100,580) 158,223,116  

 

(Note1) Union coating was to stop applying equity methods due to “0” balance in 

investment under equity methods. Accordingly, cumulative losses on equity methods 

investment not recognized for the current and prior periods are each 18,212,428 („000 
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KRW) and 17,473,405 („000 KRW) 

(3) Details of changes in unrealized gain or loss on intercompany transactions are as 

follows.  

<Current> 

(Unit : thousand won) 

Account Transaction 
Beginning 

balance 
Increase Decrease 

Ending 

balance 

Wuxi-Changjiang Metal Inventories 4,652  - (4,652) - 

Union steel china Inventories 90,970  39,413  (90,970) 39,413  

Union Coating 
Tangible assets, 

Investment 
- 36,041  - 36,041  

Union Steel Mexico, S.A. De 

C.V. 
Inventories - 1,210,999  - 1,210,999  

Dongkuk International Inc. Inventories 813,527  1,164,642  (813,527) 1,164,642  

Dongkuk Inventories - 165  - 165  

Intergis Tangible assets 4,687  2,856  (4,687) 2,856  

Total   913,836  2,454,116  (913,836) 2,454,116  

 

<Prior> 

(Unit : thousand won) 

Account Transaction 
Beginning 

balance 
Increase Decrease 

Ending 

balance 

Wuxi-Changjiang Metal Inventories 10,478  4,652  (10,478) 4,652  

Union steel china Inventories 99,945  90,970  (99,945) 90,970  

Union Coating Tangible assets - - - - 

Dongkuk International Inc. Inventories 404,471  813,527  (404,471) 813,527  

Dongkuk Inventories 39,946  - (39,946) - 

Intergis Tangible assets 5,458  4,687  (5,458) 4,687  

Total   560,298  913,836  (560,298) 913,836  

 

(4) Details of major financial status and management performance in investment in 

subsidiaries and associates are as follows. 

<Current> 

(Unit : thousand won) 

Account Total assets Total liabilities Net assets Sales net income 

Wuxi-Changjiang Metal 179,449,224  145,770,653  33,678,571  210,000,776  (3,193,473) 
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Union steel china 278,073,291  237,995,838  40,077,453  198,690,491  (11,768,490) 

Union Coating 49,154,986  8,217,961  40,937,025  961,380  (366,696) 

Union Steel Mexico, S.A. De C.V. 35,645,266  25,404,853  10,240,413  40,479,455  (80,216) 

USI Service Center Private Ltd. 20,485,648  3,192,168  17,293,480  1,846,026  (337,249) 

USP Center (Thailand), Ltd. 10,064,380  14,824  10,049,556  - (70,684) 

Dongkuk International Inc. 168,129,214  139,498,250  28,630,963  155,461,790  898,770  

Dongkuk 149,521,857  103,936,555  45,585,303  51,132,743  1,993,360  

Intergis 320,730,593  133,430,104  187,300,490  207,741,811  8,283,997  

Union Logistic Co., Ltd 14,213,765  78,825  14,134,940  346,538  (255,133) 

DK UNC  98,043,649  79,625,329  18,418,319  109,417,860  1,823,935  

<Prior> 

(Unit : thousand won) 

Account Total assets Total liabilities Net assets Sales net income 

Wuxi-Changjiang Metal 195,467,655  158,372,916  37,094,739  471,352,768  (6,842,175) 

Union steel china 265,668,485  217,837,827  47,830,658  477,355,646  (813,444) 

Union Coating 50,843,082  9,521,004  41,322,077  8,068,530  442,355  

Union Steel Mexico, S.A. De C.V. 24,948,770  14,907,483  10,041,287  77,229,088  341,355  

USI Service Center Private Ltd. 17,944,032  2,563,204  15,380,828  21,264  (300,940) 

USP Center (Thailand), Ltd. 4,621,732  1,017  4,620,715  - (26,873) 

Dongkuk International Inc. 154,508,917  126,796,742  27,712,175  269,841,491  (7,501,623) 

Dongkuk 120,150,686  75,648,676  44,502,010  111,735,056  3,736,408  

Intergis 312,355,926  117,882,369  194,473,557  383,904,913  13,471,329  

Union Logistic Co., Ltd 14,499,499  27,316  14,472,183  131,547  (311,869) 

DK UNC  84,826,122  67,884,025  16,942,097  200,854,309  2,139,877  

 

(5) The company uses the equity method by adjusting separate financial statements of 

subsidiaries and associates. Details of adjustments are as follows. 

<Current> 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account 
Net assets before 

adjustment 
Adjustments 

Net assets after 

adjustment 
Description 

Union Coating 40,937,025  (66,557,618) (25,620,593) 
Application equity method 

to investee 

Dongkuk 

International Inc. 
28,630,963  84,122  28,715,085  

Application equity method 

to investee 

Dongkuk 45,585,303  (1,899,676) 43,685,627  
Application equity method 

to investee 

Intergis 187,300,490  (1,207,634) 186,092,856  
Application equity method 

to investee 
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<Prior> 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account 
Net assets before 

adjustment 
Adjustments 

Net assets after 

adjustment 
Description 

Union Coating 41,322,077  (65,951,779) (24,629,702) 
Application equity 

method to investee 

Dongkuk International 

Inc. 
27,712,175  (27,827) 27,684,348  

Application equity 

method to investee 

Dongkuk 44,502,010  (3,842,583) 40,659,427  
Application equity 

method to investee 

Intergis 194,473,557  (1,035,142) 193,438,415  
Application equity 

method to investee 

(6) Changes in separate financial statements under the equity method for investment in 

subsidiaries and associates are as follows.. 

<Current> 

(Unit : thousand won) 

Account Assets Liability Equity net income 

Total 

comprehensive 

income 

separate 

financial 

statements 

2,120,279,392  1,406,797,470  713,481,922  (15,194,097) (14,651,576) 

Equity method 887,744  - 887,744  (12,721,799) (14,061,867) 

Reversal of 

impairment 

losses  

- - - 27,299,955  27,299,955  

Total 2,121,167,136  1,406,797,470  714,369,666  (615,941) (1,413,488) 

 

<Prior> 

(Unit : thousand won) 

Account Assets Liability Equity net income 

Total 

comprehensive 

income 

separate 

financial 

statements 

1,935,828,193  1,205,642,759  730,185,434  10,484,080  (10,920,673) 

Equity method (12,164,901) - (12,164,901) (11,396,186) (4,263,909) 

Reversal of 

impairment 

losses  

1,923,663,292  1,205,642,759  718,020,533  (912,106) (15,184,582) 
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13. Inventory 

 

Details of valuation of inventory at the end of current and prior periods are as follows. 

(unit: thousand won) 

  

Current period Prior period 

Acquisition cost 
Loss from 

valuation 
Book Value 

Acquisition 

cost 

Loss from 

valuation 
Book Value 

Merchandise 5,168,426  - 5,168,426  2,475,548  - 2,475,548  

Finished 

goods 
75,451,788  (1,013,487) 74,438,301  82,349,200  (5,679,967) 76,669,233  

Work in 

process 
36,125,065  (184,925) 35,940,140  44,284,399  (747,085) 43,537,314  

Raw materials 94,582,412  (348,537) 94,233,875  68,522,939  (3,705,335) 64,817,604  

Storage 16,307,666  - 16,307,666  18,183,705  - 18,183,705  

Goods in 

transit 
26,330,888  - 26,330,888  5,902,078  - 5,902,078  

Other 

Inventories 
337,353  - 337,353  348,883  - 348,883  

Total 254,303,598  (1,546,949) 252,756,649  222,066,752  (10,132,387) 211,934,365  

Reversal of loss on inventory valuation of 8,585,438 („000 KRW) and 1,722,037 („000 

KRW) due to increase of net realizable value are deducted from the cost of inventories 

recognized as an expense in the current and prior period. 

 

14. Held-for-sale assets 

 

Details of held-for-sale assets are as follows. 

(Unit : thousand won) 

  Current period Prior period 

Machinery and equipment  6,147,771  6,298,737  

Accumulated impairment loss (4,413,091) (4,561,447) 

BV 1,734,680  1,737,290  

 

15. Other current assets  

Details of other current assets are as follows. 

  (unit: thousand won) 
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  Current period Prior period 

Prepayment 17,626 3,238,715 

Prepaid expenses 97,486 187,800 

Income tax refunds 13,950,887 3,228,668 

Total 14,065,999 6,655,183 

 

16. Tangible Assets  

 

(1) Tangible assets at the end of reporting period are as follows 

<Current> 

(unit: thousand won) 

  Land Building Structures 

Machinery 

and 

equipment  

Other 

Tangible 

Assets 

Construction 

in progress 
Total 

Acquisition 254,049,506  160,056,134  35,459,831  852,851,091  14,326,145  23,482,585  1,340,225,292  

Accumulated 

depreciation 

- (42,452,866) (9,791,375) (344,920,203) (12,300,581) - 
(409,465,025) 

  
(Including 

impairment 

loss) 

Ending 254,049,506  117,603,268  25,668,456  507,930,888  2,025,564  23,482,585  930,760,267  

 

<Prior> 

(unit: thousand won) 

  Land Building Structures 

Machinery 

and 

equipment  

Other 

Tangible 

Assets 

Construction 

in progress 
Total 

Acquisition 254,020,062  141,348,118  31,943,404  796,340,830  20,957,446  83,407,524  1,328,017,384  

Accumulated 

depreciation 

- (40,303,811) (9,156,264) (332,717,222) (18,700,752) - 
(400,878,049) 

  
(Including 

impairment 

loss) 

Ending 254,020,062  101,044,307  22,787,140  463,623,608  2,256,694  83,407,524  927,139,335  

 

(2) Details of increase and decrease of tangible assets for current and prior periods are as 

follows. 

<Current> 
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(unit: thousand won) 

classification Land Building Structures 

Machinery 

and 

equipment  

Other 

Tangible 

Assets 

Construction 

in progress 
Total 

Beginning 

balance 
254,020,062  101,044,307  22,787,140  463,623,608  2,256,694  83,407,524  927,139,335  

Acquisition 1,715  116,030  360,000  2,301,767  257,531  19,136,436  22,173,479  

Other 

increases and 

decreases 

27,729  18,597,966  3,156,427  56,971,649  28,680  (79,061,375) (278,924) 

Disposal and 

abandonment 
- (2,397) - (165,026) (10,385) - (177,808) 

Depreciation - (2,152,638) (635,111) (14,801,110) (506,956) - (18,095,815) 

Ending 

balance 
254,049,506  117,603,268  25,668,456  507,930,888  2,025,564  23,482,585  930,760,267  

 

<Prior> 

(unit: thousand won) 

classification Land Building Structures 

Machinery 

and 

equipment  

Other 

Tangible 

Assets 

Construction 

in progress 
Total 

Beginning 

balance 
256,214,768  103,028,863  23,570,378  484,127,785  1,931,162  7,560,423  876,433,379  

Acquisition 1,392,454  87,000  - 5,272,986  1,160,769  84,759,786  92,672,995  

Other 

increases and 

decreases 

(3,587,160) 1,850,482  348,709  1,584,083  53,999  (8,912,685) (8,662,572) 

Disposal and 

abandonment 
- (22,947) - (45,599) (82) - (68,628) 

Depreciation - (3,899,091) (1,131,947) (27,315,647) (889,154) - (33,235,839) 

Ending 

balance 
254,020,062  101,044,307  22,787,140  463,623,608  2,256,694  83,407,524  927,139,335  

 

17. Investment property  

(1) Details of investment property at the end of current and prior period are as follows.  

<Current > 

  (unit: thousand won) 

  Land Building Total 

Acquisition 79,282,011  50,205,281  129,487,292  
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Accumulated depreciation - (19,965,040) (19,965,040) 

Book Value 79,282,011  30,240,241  109,522,252  

 

<Prior> 

  (unit: thousand won) 

  Land Building Total 

Acquisition 79,282,011  50,205,281  129,487,292  

Accumulated depreciation - (19,207,329) (19,207,329) 

Book Value 79,282,011  30,997,952  110,279,963  

 

(2) Details of increase and decrease in investment property in current and prior periods 

are as follows. 

<Current> 

(unit: thousand won) 

  Land Building Total 

Beginning balance 79,282,011  30,997,952  110,279,963  

Depreciation - (757,711) (757,711) 

Ending balance 79,282,011  30,240,241  109,522,252  

 

<Prior> 

(unit: thousand won) 

  Land Building Total 

Beginning balance 75,592,480  31,641,789  107,234,269  

Transfer - (1,513,734) (1,513,734) 

Depreciation 3,689,531  869,897  4,559,428  

Ending balance 79,282,011  30,997,952  110,279,963  

 

3) Details of revenue and expense regarding investment property for current and prior 

periods are as follows. 

 

  (unit: thousand won) 

  

Current period Prior period 

three months  

(4.1-6.30) 

six months 

 (1.1-6.30) 

three months 

 (4.1-6.30) 

six months 

 (1.1-6.30) 

Rental income 2,185,947  4,366,364  2,137,629  3,620,934  
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Operating expenses 

(regarding to 

investment property) 

898,488  1,697,555  773,414  1,538,211  

Total 1,287,459  2,668,809  1,364,215  2,082,723  

 

18. Intangible Assets 

 

(1) Details of intangible assets at the end of current and prior periods are as follows. 

 

<Current period> 

  (unit: thousand won) 

  club membership other intangible assets Total 

Acquisition 3,896,788  4,918,306  8,815,094  

Accumulated depreciation - (1,658,294) (1,658,294) 

Accumulated impairment 

losses 
(702,452) - (702,452) 

Book value 3,194,336  3,260,012  6,454,348  

 

<Prior> 

  (unit: thousand won) 

  club membership other intangible assets Total 

Acquisition 3,896,788  4,918,306  8,815,094  

Accumulated depreciation - (1,493,923) (1,493,923) 

Accumulated impairment 

losses 
(594,452) - (594,452) 

Book value 3,302,336  3,424,383  6,726,719  

 

 (2) Changes in intangible assets in current period are as follows. 

<Current period> 

  (unit: thousand won) 

  club membership other intangible assets Total 

Beginning balance 3,302,336  3,424,383  6,726,719  

Depreciation - (164,371) (164,371) 

Accumulated impairment 

losses 
(108,000) - (108,000) 

Ending 3,194,336  3,260,012  6,454,348  
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<Prior> 

  (unit: thousand won) 

  club membership other intangible assets Total 

Beginning balance 3,822,484  3,753,123  7,575,607  

Capital expenditure 74,304  - 74,304  

Depreciation - (328,740) (328,740) 

Accumulated impairment 

losses 
(594,452) - (594,452) 

Ending 3,302,336 3,424,383 6,726,719 

Club membership classified as intangible assets is regarded as having an indefinite 

useful life and not amortized 

  

19. Financial liabilities by categories 

Details of financial liabilities by category are as follows; 

 

<Current> 

(unit: thousand won) 

  

Liabilities at fair 

value through the 

profit and loss 

Other financial 

liabilities 
Derivatives Total 

Trade and other 

payables 
- 225,448,721 - 225,448,721 

Borrowings and 

Debentures 
- 539,433,378 - 539,433,378 

Other financial 

liabilities 
- 31,529,319 - 31,529,319 

Long-term borrowings 

and Debentures 
- 555,105,801 - 555,105,801 

Long-term other 

financial liabilities 
- 11,830,305 - 11,830,305 

Derivatives liabilities - - 1,305,482 1,305,482 

Total - 1,363,347,524 1,305,482 1,364,653,006 

 

<Prior> 

(unit: thousand won) 

  
Liabilities at fair 

value through the 

Other financial 

liabilities 
Derivatives Total 
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profit and loss 

Trade and other 

payables 
- 157,734,285 - 157,734,285 

Borrowings and 

Debentures 
- 511,911,594 - 511,911,594 

Other financial 

liabilities 
- 35,425,590 - 35,425,590 

Long-term borrowings 

and Debentures 
- 443,853,362 - 443,853,362 

Long-term other 

financial liabilities 
- 11,821,911 - 11,821,911 

Derivatives liabilities - - 1,479,199 1,479,199 

Total - 1,160,746,742 1,479,199 1,162,225,941 

The company determines that the book value approximates a reasonable estimate of fair 

value for the financial liabilities. 

 

20. Borrowings and Debentures  

(1) Details of borrowings and debentures accounted for current liabilities as of reporting 

period are as follows. 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Lender Interest rate (%) Current period Prior period 

Bank overdraft Hana bank 6.7 2,543,858  723,101  

Sub-Total 2,543,858  723,101  

Collateral borrowings Shinhan bank 1.67 ~ 3.81 2,800,357  9,730,143  

KEB 1.59 ~ 4.74 37,967,109  9,097,293  

Hana bank 1.64 - 1,373,502  

Sub-Total 40,767,466  20,200,938  

Trade financing Shinhan bank 1.88 ~ 2.78 12,920,632  6,711,522  

KEB 1.54 ~ 2.57 81,013,232  68,128,834  

Hana bank 1.68 ~ 2.61 47,777,289  27,618,265  

Kookmin bank 1.48 ~ 2.69 40,480,088  49,410,282  

Nong-hyup 1.68 ~ 2.63 39,587,374  32,285,599  

Woori bank 1.63 ~ 2.79 39,639,240  21,229,754  

KDB 1.59 ~ 2.67 100,504,835  117,215,305  

SCFB 1.83 ~ 1.84 8,706,564  - 

Busan bank 1.53 ~ 1.89 28,786,453  36,316,360  

Kyongnam bank 1.50 ~ 2.35 11,493,923  4,315,260  

Sub-Total 410,909,630  363,231,181  

Total 454,220,954  384,155,220  

Current portion of long-term borrowings in foreign currency 72,709,830  74,453,480  
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Current portion of long-term borrowings in Korean won 12,502,594  13,302,894  

Current portion of debentures  - 40,000,000  

Total 539,433,378  511,911,594  

 

(2) Details of long-term borrowings denominated Korean currency as of reporting  

period are as follows. 

 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Lender Interest rate (%) Current period Prior period 

Industry Facility fund KDB 4.50 ~ 5.87 273,139,200  310,732,040  

Energy saving Hana bank 2.25 4,092,500  4,365,050  

Sub-Total     277,231,700  315,097,090  

Deduction: Transfer 

to current 
    (72,709,830) (74,453,480) 

Total     204,521,870  240,643,610  

 

(3) Details of long- term borrowings denominated foreign currency as of reporting  

period are as follows. 

(KRW unit: 1,000 won, foreign currency unit: 1,000 US$, 1,000 JPY) 

Account Lender Interest rate (%) 
Current period Prior period 

FCY KRW FCY KRW 

Borrowings for 

foreign facility  
KDB 

2.40 ~ 3.00 JPY 2,150,000 31,256,485 JPY 2,580,000 38,317,128 

1.78 ~ 1.88 - - US$460  530,518 

Operating 

funds 

KEB 2.05 US$20,000  23,076,000 US$20,000  23,066,000 

KDB 4.06 US$30,000  34,614,000     

Sub-Total       88,946,485    61,913,646  

Deduction: 

Transfer to 

current 

      (12,502,594)   (13,302,894) 

Total       76,443,891    48,610,752  

 

(4) Details of bonds are as follows: 

(unit: thousand won) 

Type Underwriter Issue date Maturity 
Interest rate 

(%) 
Current period Prior period 

35 Debentures KB Investment 2009.5.8 2012.5.8 7.4 - 40,000,000  

36 Debentures KB Investment 2011.1.24 2014.1.24 4.9 120,000,000  120,000,000  

37 Debentures SCFB 2011.4.12 2014.4.12 3.9 34,614,000  34,599,000  

38 Debentures KB Investment 2012.1.5 2015.1.5 4.65 119,526,040  - 

Sub-Total         274,140,040  194,599,000  

Deduction: 
 

      - (40,000,000) 
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Transfer to 

current 

liabilities 

Total         274,140,040  154,599,000  

 

(5) Redemption schedules of long term borrowings and bonds including current portion 

of long term liabilities is as follows.  

(KRW unit: 1,000 won, foreign currency unit: 1,000 US$, 1,000 JPY) 

Account 

KRW FCY Long-term borrowings 

Bond Total Long-term 

borrowings 
FCY KRW 

2012.7 ~ 

2013.6 
72,709,830 JPY 860,000 - 12,502,594 - 85,212,424 

2013.7 ~ 

2014.6 
74,552,030 JPY 860,000 US$ 20,000 35,578,594 154614000 264,744,624 

2014.7 ~ 

2015.6 
51,959,788 JPY 430,000 US$ 30,000 40,865,297 119,526,040 212,351,125 

2015.7 ~ 

2016.6 
39,008,495 - - - - 39,008,495 

2016.07 and 

after 
39,001,557 - - - - 39,001,557 

Total 277,231,700 JPY 2,150,000 US$ 50,000 88,946,485 274,140,040 640,318,225 

 

(6) In regard to the above borrowings, Korean development bank etc. established 

pledges on land and machinery of the company as collateral (refer to note 35). 

21. Other financial liabilities 

 

Details of other financial liabilities are as follows: 

(unit: thousand won) 

  
Current period Prior period 

Current Non-current Current Non-current 

Accounts payables 22,289,388 - 27,383,368 - 

Accrued expenses 7,453,361 - 5,708,355 - 

Deposit payables - 76,000 - 114,500 

Rent deposit payables - 11,754,305 - 11,707,411 

Financial guarantee 

liability 
1,786,570 - 2,333,867 - 

Total 31,529,319 11,830,305 35,425,590 11,821,911 

. 
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22. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS  

The Company entered into interest rate swaps contracts to manage exposures to change 

interest rate of borrowings. 

Details of interest rate swaps contracts are as follows. 

(KRW unit: 1,000 won, foreign currency unit: 1,000 US$, 1,000EUR) 

Account contract date maturity 

Amount 

subject to 

interest 

Contractual rate (%) fair market value 

buying selling Current Prior 

SCFB 2011.3.24 2014.4.14 US$30,000  3.9 
3M Libor + 

1.50 
(1,305,482) (1,479,199) 

 

As of June 30, 2012, 173,717 („000₩) incurred regarding above the FMV evaluation of the 

interest rate swap is accounted for gains on valuation of derivative in the accumulated 

other comprehensive income (before income tax)  

 

23. Other current liabilities 

Details of other current liabilities are as follows: 

  (unit: thousand won) 

  Current period Prior period 

Advances from customers 1,065,675 2,026,970 

Deposit payables 545,224 831,061 

Total 1,610,899 2,858,031 

 

24. Severance benefits 

(1) The company operates the defined benefit plans for employees. According to this 

plans, the payment is calculated by adding or subtracting to the average salary of final 

three months for each service year before retirement. The defined benefit obligation and 

plan assets are calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit 

credit method.   

(2) Details of the amounts recognized in the statement of financial position at the end of 

current and prior periods are as follows: 
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  (unit: thousand won) 

  Current period Prior period 

present value of defined benefit 

obligations 
53,358,689  55,346,255  

fair value of plan assets (32,523,322) (35,090,163) 

Defined benefit obligations 20,835,367  20,256,092  

 

(3) Details of changes in defined benefit obligations at the end of current and prior 

periods are as follows:  

  (unit: thousand won) 

  Current period Prior period 

Beginning 55,346,255  53,945,507  

Current service costs 3,105,137  4,483,226  

Interest costs 1,237,218  2,705,389  

Actuarial losses (gains) - (1,453,554) 

Benefits paid by the plan (6,329,921) (4,549,794) 

Transferred from the related company - 215,481  

Ending 53,358,689  55,346,255  

 

(4) Changes in the plan assets at the end of current and prior periods are as follows: 

  (unit: thousand won) 

  Current period Prior period 

Beginning 35,090,163  25,233,112  

Expected return on plan assets 690,321  1,153,120  

Actuarial gains and losses - (101,692) 

Benefits paid (3,257,162) (2,194,377) 

Additional costs - 11,000,000  

Ending 32,523,322  35,090,163  
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(5) Expenses for employee benefits at the end of current and prior periods are as follows: 

  (unit: thousand won) 

  Current period Prior period 

Current service costs 3,105,137  4,483,226  

interest cost 1,237,218  2,705,389  

Expected return on plan assets (690,321) (1,153,120) 

Total 3,652,034  6,035,495  

 

(6) Major actuarial assumptions at the end of current and prior periods are as follows: 

  Current period Prior period 

Discount rate 4.60% 4.60% 

Expected return on plan assets 4.00% 4.00% 

Future salary increases (Including 

inflation) 
5.00% 5.00% 

 

25. Provisions 

(1) Provisions are recognized when the company accrues warranty reserves for estimated 

costs of future service, repairs and recalls, based on historical experience and terms of 

warranty programs.  

 

(2) Details of changes in provisions at the end of current and prior periods are as follows: 

 

  (unit: thousand won) 

  Current period Prior period 

Beginning 1,650,396  2,457,724  

Reversal of allowances 81,543  92,806  

Written off (846,583) (900,134) 

Ending 885,356  1,650,396  
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26. Capital stock 

(1) Details of Capital stock at the end of current and prior periods are as follows. 

  Current period Prior period 

Total number of stocks to be issued 

(Unit: stock) 
40,000,000 40,000,000 

Face value per share (Unit: won) 5,000 5,000 

Number of issued stock 
10,260,000 10,260,000 

(Unit: stock) 

Common Stock 
51,300,000 51,300,000 

(unit: thousand won) 

 

(2) Details of other capital surplus at the end of current and prior periods are as 

follows. 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Current period Prior period 

Revaluation surplus reserve 29,889,067  29,889,067  

Others 21,760,762  21,760,762  

Treasury stock (note1) (9,126) (9,126) 

Total 51,640,703  51,640,703  

(Note1) 322 of the treasury stocks held by the company at the end of current and prior 

periods have restricted voting rights and are accounted for capital adjustment at the 

acquisition price. 

 

 (3) Details of legal reserve and voluntary reserve at the end of current and prior periods 

are as follows. 

(unit: thousand won) 

Account Current period Prior period 

Legal reserve 

Profit reserves (note 1) 6,565,668 6,360,468 

Voluntary reserves 

Capital structure rebuilding reserve 820,000  820,000  

Reserve for business rationalization 46,910,000  41,910,000  

Reserve for business expansion 170,800,000  163,800,000  

Voluntary reserves (note2) 400,600,000  12,700,000  

Unappropriated earned surplus  (14,871,067) 390,480,166  

Total 610,824,601  628,070,634  

(note 1) According to the regulations of commercial law, the Company reserves more 
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than 10% of dividends as profit reserve until reaching up to 50% of capital. This profit 

reserve cannot be used as dividend and can be used only for capital transfer-in and 

deficit covering.  

(note 2) The company revaluated assets according to revaluation of assets law and 

incurred excess of 264,628,972 („000 ₩). This is accounted for as reserve for revaluation.     

This profit reserve cannot be used as dividend and can be used only for capital transfer-

in and deficit covering.  

 

 (4) The components of other capital at the end of current and prior periods are as 

follows.  

(unit: thousand won) 

  Current period Prior period 

Profit or loss on valuation of available-

for-sale securities 
734,893  327,872  

Profit or loss on valuation of interest rate 

swaps 
(1,018,275) (1,153,775) 

Total (283,382) (825,903) 

 

27. Expenses by Nature 

Details of expenses by nature in current and prior periods are as follows: 

(unit: thousand won) 

  

Current period Prior period 

three months 

(4.1-6.30) 

six months 

 (1.1-6.30) 

three months 

 (4.1-6.30) 

six months  

(1.1-6.30) 

Merchandise, Finished goods, 2,419,447  9,828,106  (22,838,596) (22,131,991) 

Raw material and supplies 361,476,926  701,893,144  451,479,420  843,323,616  
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employee benefits (wages and pension 

expenses) 
13,271,601  26,540,738  17,422,231  29,638,172  

Rent expenses 472,587  1,292,607  710,553  1,996,717  

Depreciation expenses 9,573,721  18,844,221  8,633,049  17,095,637  

Amortization expenses 82,185  164,370  82,185  164,370  

Transportation expenses 4,223,813  8,119,630  5,164,340  10,135,363  

Advertising expenses 310,993  542,058  119,892  183,261  

Sundry commission paid 6,092,637  12,992,152  8,755,058  16,355,724  

Expense from export  7,944,485  15,115,728  7,526,899  14,439,305  

fuel and power expenses 20,416,594  42,355,469  20,085,095  40,418,520  

repairs expenses 7,891,039  14,851,997  7,213,310  13,219,731  

Others 44,401,390  56,331,019  29,267,387  36,255,689  

Total 478,577,418  908,871,239  533,620,823  1,001,094,114  

 

28. Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 

 

Selling, general and administrative expenses in current and prior periods are as 

following:  

(unit: thousand won) 

  

Current period Prior period 

three months 

 (4.1-6.30) 

six months 

(1.1-6.30) 

three months 

(4.1-6.30) 

six months 

(1.1-6.30) 

Selling expense:         

Expense from export  1,597,501  3,374,431  1,697,435  3,141,491  

Export ocean freight  6,346,985  11,741,298  5,829,465  11,297,814  

Transportation expenses 4,131,366  7,939,076  5,060,971  9,936,238  

Entertainment 155,560  272,900  116,387  220,654  

warranty expense 649,696  81,543  329,982  - 

Sub-total 12,881,108  23,409,248  13,034,240  24,596,197  
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G&A expenses         

Bad debt expense  - - 283,983  837,495  

Salaries 2,092,866  4,351,116  3,182,266  5,492,131  

pension expenses 316,716  660,852  278,163  602,737  

employee benefits 482,990  880,928  309,653  736,278  

Travel 297,231  478,882  260,411  432,117  

Communications 75,225  152,382  81,655  158,812  

Utilities 301  301  7,417  17,025  

Taxes and dues 134,383  328,393  298,542  434,198  

Rent expenses 472,587  965,607  449,053  901,217  

Depreciation expenses 112,185  224,075  - 176,027  

repairs expenses 626  2,201  308  578  

Insurance 20  20  13  1,032  

Advertising expenses 227,864  389,901  99,796  137,672  

Sundry commission paid  451,152  963,509  1,074,813  2,489,948  

supplies 5,620  15,534  6,266  15,269  

Vehicle maintenance 98,325  179,328  58,980  143,674  

Publication 10,770  30,001  18,761  36,800  

Conference 27,665  62,013  22,460  60,672  

Cost of electronic 

calculation 
658,415  1,373,867  736,348  1,408,201  

Training 57,399  153,533  81,715  172,594  

overseas branch expenses 92,313  180,414  125,274  252,890  

Miscellaneous  3,421  6,528  3,130  6,002  

Sub-total 5,618,074  11,399,385  7,379,007  14,513,369  

Total 18,499,182  34,808,633  20,413,247  39,109,566  

 

 29. Other operating revenues and other operating expenses  

(1) Other operating revenues in current and prior periods are as follows:  

(unit: thousand won) 

  

Current period Prior period 

three months  

(4.1-6.30) 

six months 

 (1.1-6.30) 

three months 

 (4.1-6.30) 

six months 

 (1.1-6.30) 

Reversal of allowance for 

doubtful accounts 
697,511  667,088  - - 

Reversal of warranty 

expense  
- - - 271,817  

Foreign currency 

transaction gain 
1,037,580  1,275,948  727,377  1,399,514  

Foreign currency 

translation gain 
526,678  741,719  224,244  97,922  

Gain on sale of available 

for sale 
- 12,479  5,399  12,853  
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Gain on disposition of 

property, plant and 

equipment 

2,496  2,496  - - 

Gain on settlement of  

derivatives 
215,800  332,900  - - 

Gain on valuation of 

derivatives 
25,290  - - - 

Gain on financial 

guarantees 
453,589  899,291  350,754  686,856  

Interest income 180,694  369,236  - - 

Miscellaneous gains 968,329  1,468,247  419,968  2,705,873  

Total 4,107,967  5,769,404  1,727,742  5,174,835  

 

(2) Other operating expenses in current and prior periods are as following. 

(unit: thousand won) 

  

Current period Prior period 

three months (4.1-

6.30) 

six months (1.1-

6.30) 

three months (4.1-

6.30) 

six months (1.1-

6.30) 

loss on foreign currency 

transaction gain 
1,135,823  1,997,613  1,538,992  2,742,568  

Loss on foreign currency 

translation gain 
29,460  114,916  110,769  379,808  

Donations 29,239  47,025  107,227  124,777  

Loss on disposition of 

inventories 
- 490,093  17,575  17,575  

depreciation 4,373  8,745  78,421  157,737  

Loss on disposition of 

Available-for-sale securities 
64,440  64,440  - - 

Loss on disposition of 

Tangible assets 
- - 43,599  43,599  

Loss on impairment of 

Tangible assets 
177,802  177,802  733,377  733,377  

Loss on impairment of 

intangible assets 
21,000  108,000  - - 

Loss on settlement of 

derivatives 
638,292  822,485  - - 

Loss on valuation of 

derivatives 
126,300  - - - 

Loss on impairment of 

held-for-sale assets 
274,194  275,912  1,992,924  1,992,924  

Interest expense(Shipper's 

usance) 
9,369  9,369  13,657  38,506  

Miscellaneous loss 12,356  68,864  54,549  68,178  

Total 2,522,648  4,185,264  4,691,090  6,299,049  
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30. Finance income and finance costs  

(1) Net financial expense for current and prior periods is as follows:  

(unit: thousand won) 

  

Current period Prior period 

three months (4.1-6.30) six months (1.1-6.30) 
three months (4.1-

6.30) 
six months (1.1-6.30) 

Finance income 

Gain on foreign 

transaction 
2,186,657  2,964,606  6,608,039  8,293,792  

Gain on foreign 

translation 
- 1,755,547  5,020,016  17,205,672  

Interest income 1,489,009  3,060,749  1,829,262  3,167,773  

Dividend income 146,570  686,329  91,630  600,280  

Sub- total 3,822,236  8,467,231  13,548,947  29,267,517  

Finance cost 

Loss on foreign 

transaction 
360,274  389,833  18,185  30,861  

Loss on foreign 

translation 
9,466,674  4,670,556  1,434  154,360  

Interest expense 9,433,540  18,908,744  8,463,705  16,155,989  

Sub- total 19,260,488  23,969,133  8,483,324  16,341,210  

Net finance income 

(cost) 
(15,438,252) (15,501,902) 5,065,623  12,926,307  

 

(2) Interest income included in finance income for current and prior periods are as 

follows: 

(unit: thousand won) 

  

Current period Prior period 

three months 

(4.1-6.30) 

six months  

(1.1-6.30) 

three months  

(4.1-6.30) 

six months  

(1.1-6.30) 

Bank deposits 497,243  1,177,027  782,499  1,547,063  

Available-for-sale 

financial assets 
980,096  1,860,468  1,010,015  1,523,373  

Held-to-maturity 

investment 
11,669  23,254  36,749  97,337  

Total 1,489,008  3,060,749  1,829,263  3,167,773  

 

 (3) Interest expenses included in finance costs in current and prior periods are as 

follows: 
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(unit: thousand won) 

  

Current period Prior period 

three months  

(4.1-6.30) 

six months  

(1.1-6.30) 

three months  

(4.1-6.30) 

six months  

(1.1-6.30) 

Interests on bank 

overdraft and 

borrowings 

6,250,950  12,160,064  5,900,741  11,798,012  

Interests on 

debentures 
3,182,590  6,748,680  2,562,963  4,357,977  

Total 9,433,540  18,908,744  8,463,705  16,155,989  

 

(4) Categories of financial instruments in current and prior periods are as follows: 

(Unit : thousand won) 

  

Current period Prior period 

Finance 

income 
Finance cost 

Net finance 

amount 

Finance 

income 
Finance cost 

Net finance 

amount 

financial asset:             

Available-for-

sale 
2,546,797  - 2,546,797  2,123,653  - 2,123,653  

       Held- 

to-maturity 
23,254  - 23,254  97,337  - 97,337  

Loans and 

receivables 
1,872,247  208,863  1,663,384  9,860,717  98,198  9,762,519  

financial 

liability: 
          - 

Borrowings and 

debentures 
4,024,933  23,760,270  (19,735,337) 17,185,810  16,243,012  942,798  

Total 8,467,231  23,969,133  (15,501,902) 29,267,517  16,341,210  12,926,307  

 

Gain or loss on financial assets regarding to assets or liabilities at fair value through the 

profit and loss gain or loss on foreign currency transaction regarding to receivables and 

payables are included in other operating incomes and expenses described as Note 29. 

 

31. Income tax expense (benefits) and deferred income taxes 

(1) The composition of income tax expense (benefits) in current and prior periods are as 

follows.  
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(unit: thousand won) 

  

Current period Prior period 

three months (4.1-6.30) six months (1.1-6.30) three months (4.1-6.30) six months (1.1-6.30) 

Income tax (additiona  

payment in income tax 

included) 

1,249,858  3,501,235  3,102,584  3,102,585  

± Changes in deferred 

tax due to temporary 

difference (note1) 

258,031  (1,007,588) 743,656  9,114,775  

± Deferred tax directly 

reflected to capital 
(66,664) (153,019) 702,158  618,543  

Income tax expense 

(benefit) 
1,441,225  2,340,628  4,548,398  12,835,903  

          

(note1) Net deferred tax 

assets (liabilities) in the 

end of the year due to 

temporary differences 

(17,644,712) (17,644,712) (29,485,014) (29,485,014) 

Net deferred tax 

liabilities (assets) in the 

beginning of the year 

due to temporary 

differences 

(17,386,681) (18,652,300) (28,741,358) (20,370,239) 

Changes in deferred 

income tax due to 

temporary differences 

(258,031) 1,007,588  (743,656) (9,114,775) 

 

 (2) The relationship with income tax expenses (benefits)) and net income 
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( loss) before income tax in current and prior periods is as follows . 

(unit: thousand won) 

  

Current period Prior period 

three months  

(4.1-6.30) 

six months  

(1.1-6.30) 

three months 

(4.1-6.30) 

six months 

(1.1-6.30) 

Net income (loss) 

before income tax 
6,524,385  (12,853,469) 23,363,516  56,600,688  

Tax amount according 

to applied tax rate  
1,435,364  (2,827,764) 5,653,970  13,697,366  

Adjustments:   -     

Non taxable income - - (3,113) (35,482) 

Non taxable expense 80,165  171,182  56,549  112,626  

Temporary differences 

of not reflecting 

deferred tax 

83,700  5,222,508  - - 

The effect of different 

Income tax rate 
(158,004) (225,298) (1,159,007) (938,607) 

Income Tax expense 

(loss) 
1,441,225  2,340,628  4,548,398  12,835,903  

Effective tax rate 22.09% (Note 1) 19.47% 22.68% 

(Note1) Due to loss before income tax, we did not calculate the effective tax rate. 

 

 32. Earnings per share 

Earnings (loss) per share are what calculate income or loss per one common stock and 

the details are as follows. 

(unit: thousand won) 

  

Current period Prior period 

three months (4.1-

6.30) 
six months (1.1-6.30) 

three months (4.1-

6.30) 
six months (1.1-6.30) 

Net income (loss) 5,083,160  (15,194,097) 18,815,118  43,764,785  

(-)Dividend for 

preferred stock 
- - - - 

Net income(loss) for 

common stock 
5,083,160  (15,194,097) 18,815,118  43,764,785  

Number of average 

weighed outstanding 

common stock 

10,259,678  10,259,678  10,259,678  10,259,678  

Basic earnings (loss) 

per share 
495  (1,481) 1,834  4,266  

 

Calculation details of number of issued common stocks in current and prior periods 

weighted averaged by outstanding period are as follows.  
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<Current period>  

(unit: share) 

Account Date Number of stocks Weighted 

Number of 

outstanding common 

stock 

Beginning 2012.1.1 10,260,000 181 10,260,000 

Treasury Stock 2012.1.1 (322) 181 (322) 

Total   10,259,678   10,259,678 

 

<Prior> 

(unit: share) 

Account Date Number of stocks Weighted 

Number of 

outstanding common 

stock 

Beginning 2011.1.1 10,260,000 181 10,260,000 

Treasury Stock 2011.1.1 (322) 181 (322) 

Total   10,259,678   10,259,678 

 

The company doesn‟t calculated diluted earnings (loss) per share because it has no 

dilutive potential common stocks. Annual basic earnings per share for prior period were 

1,022 KRW. 

33. Cash Flows 

(1) Reconciliation for operating cash flows for the six-month periods ended June 30, 

2012 and 2011 are as follows:  

(Unit : thousand won) 

account Current period Prior period 

severance benefits 3,652,034  3,762,463  

Depreciation 18,844,783  17,098,163  

Amortization 164,370  164,370  

Bad debt expense - 837,495  

Warranty expense 81,543  - 

Loss on transaction in foreign exchange (other expense) 114,916  379,808  

Other depreciation 8,745  157,737  

Loss on disposition of Available-for-sale securities 64,440  - 

Loss on disposition of Tangible Assets - 43,599  

Loss on retirement of Tangible Assets 177,802  733,377  

Loss on impairment of intangible Assets 108,000  - 

Loss on impairment of held-for-sale 275,912  1,992,924  
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Interest expense (shipper's usance) 9,369  38,506  

Impaired loss on investment in subsidiary 27,299,955  - 

Loss on translation in foreign exchange (financial expense) 4,670,556  154,360  

Interest expense(financial expense) 18,908,744  16,155,989  

Tax expense (tax income) 2,340,628  12,835,903  

Recovery on impairment loss of inventory valuation - (1,722,037) 

Reversal of allowance for bad debt expense (667,088) - 

Reversal of warranty provisions - (271,817) 

Gain on translation in foreign exchange (other operating income) (741,719) (97,922) 

Gain on disposition of tangible assets (12,479) (12,853) 

Gain on disposition of held-for-sale assets (2,496) - 

Gain on financial guarantee (899,291) (686,856) 

Interest income (other operating income) (369,236) - 

Gain on translation in foreign exchange (finance income) (1,755,547) (17,205,672) 

Interest income(finance income) (3,060,749) (3,167,773) 

Dividends income (financial income) (686,329) (600,280) 

Total 68,526,863  30,589,484  

 

(2) Details of changes in working capital for operating cash flows for the six-month 

periods ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 are as follows:  

(Unit : thousand won) 

  Current period Prior period 

Increase of accounts receivable (14,485,003) (33,485,978) 

Decrease (Increase) of loans and receivables 25,406,375  (5,519,320) 

Decrease (Increase) of inventory (40,822,284) (53,627,611) 

Decrease (Increase) of other current assets (7,410,817) (5,756,131) 

Decrease (Increase) of long-term loans and receivables 635,223  (1,161,735) 

Increase (Decrease) of trade payables 68,046,712  (332,736) 

Increase (Decrease) of income tax payables - 404,593  

Increase (Decrease) of other financial liability (6,032,997) 14,353,242  

Increase (Decrease) of other current liabilities (285,836) 136,616  

Payment of pension obligations (3,072,760) (5,317,657) 

Decrease of allowance (846,583) (363,296) 

Total 21,132,030  (90,670,013) 

 

(3) Details of significant transactions not affecting inflow and outflow of the cash are as 

follows. 

 (Unit : thousand won) 

Account Current period Prior period 
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Transfer to current portion of held to maturity securities 1,024,910  - 

Transfer to current portion of available-for-sale securities - 4,000,000  

Transfer from construction in progress to land 27,729  - 

Transfer from construction in progress to building 18,597,966  810,770  

Transfer from construction in progress to structures 3,156,427  - 

Transfer from construction in progress to machinery 57,250,573  2,396,890  

Transfer from construction in progress to other tangible assets 28,680  54,000  

Transfer from building to held-for-sale asset - 65,902  

Transfer from structure to held-for-sale asset - 13,406  

Transfer from machinery to held-for-sale asset 278,924  1,941,405  

Transfer from tangible assets to other investment property - 4,559,428  

Transfer to current portion of long-term borrowings and Debentures 42,615,037  90,017,486  

 

Meanwhile, cash in cash flow statement is cash and cash equivalent on balance sheet. 

 

34. Disclosure of related parties 

 (1) Details of parent, subsidiary, affiliates and other special related parties are as follows: 

Class Name of parent and subsidiary companies 

Controlling company Dongkuk Steel Mills 

Subsidiary Wuxi-Changjiang Metal, Union steel china, Union Coating, 

Kukje machinery, 

Branson Mchinery, LLC., Union Steel Mexico, S.A. De C.V. 

Anhui machinery,  

USI Service Center Private Ltd. USP Center (Thailand), Ltd. 

Investee under equity method Dongkuk International Inc., Dongkuk, Intergis, DK 

UNC,  Union Logistic Co., Ltd 

Other affiliates DKS& and, Ferrum infra Ltd. 

 

(2) Significant transactions which occurred in the normal course of business with related 

companies are summarized as follows. 

 (Unit : thousand won) 

Affiliates 
Current period Prior period 

receivables payables receivables payables 

Dongkuk Steel Mills - 1,334,303  - 1,938,097  

Wuxi-Changjiang Metal 239,802  421,834  205,305  17,871,735  

Union steel china 2,867,243  29,280,751  481,551  116,170,283  

Union Coating 1,326  959,380  - 4,029,390  

Kukje machinary 359,014  - - - 
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USI Service Center Private Ltd. - 2,565,450  - 12,626,790  

USP Center (Thailand), Ltd. - 5,613,140  - 4,688,340  

Dongkuk International Inc. 80,404,439  - 68,340,528  7,606  

Union steel Mexico 3,842,502  - - - 

Dongkuk 11,606,179  36,391,870  15,706,755  34,974,148  

Intergis (note1) 12,387  14,606,427  19,224  17,519,001  

DK UNC - 7,445,265  - 3,015,222  

DKS& (note1) - 2,757,336  - 3,477,637  

Ferrum infra Ltd. - 1,108,616  - 531,475  

(Note 1) Intergis and DKS&K were merged on the date of 1st of July, 2012.  

 

(3) Account balances with related companies as of current and prior period are as follows 

(Unit : thousand won) 

Affiliates 
Current period Prior period 

receivables payables receivables payables 

Dongkuk Steel Mills 1,366,700  28,755  1,457,200  139,554  

Wuxi-Changjiang Metal 43,467  - - - 

Union steel china - - - 3,371,867  

Union steel Mexico 787,050  - - - 

Union Coating 176  160  491,000  40,909  

Kukje machinary 12,049,315  - 12,000,000  - 

Dongkuk International Inc. 4,867,530  - 6,796,038  - 

Dongkuk 1,574,702  7,455,883  - - 

Intergis  - 10,783,816  - 8,709,106  

DK UNC - 1,558,541  - 4,483,659  

DKS&  - 1,276,368  - 142,551  

Ferrum infra Ltd. - 357,291  - 79,486  

 

(4) Details of payment guarantee and collateral provided to related parties are as follows 

(Unit of KRW: in thousand won, unit of foreign currency: in thousand US$, in thousand RMB) 

classification Detail Beneficiary 2012 2011 

Providing collaterals Short-term financial instrument Wuxi-Changjiang Metal - 7,000,000  

Total - 7,000,000  

Guarantee Local financing Wuxi-Changjiang Metal US$9,800  US$9,800  

RMB 247,400 RMB 285,500 

Union steel china RMB 87,000 RMB 119,000 

US$75,200  US$61,200  

68,900,000  68,900,000  

Total   US$85,000  US$71,000  



See accompanying notes to separate interim financial statements. 

  RMB 334,400 RMB 404,500 

  68,900,000  68,900,000  

 

(5) The company determines directors with significant right and responsibilities as a key 

management and the compensation for the key management in current and prior 

periods is as follows.  

(Unit : thousand won) 

  Current period Prior period 

Short-term employee benefits 1,381,840 1,507,885 

Benefits after retirement 284,919 596,625 

Total 1,666,759 2,104,510 

 

35. Assets as collateral  

Details of assets that the company provided as collaterals are as follows.  

 

(KRW unit : thousand won, foreign currency unit : thousand US$, thousand JPY, thousand RMB) 

Classification Collaterals BV 
Collateralized 

amount 

Amount of 

borrowings or 

guarantee 

Holder 

Collaterals for 

borrowings 

Land, Machinery 

and equipment  

748,148,837 

478,530,000 273,139,200 
KDB and others 

Investment 

property 
JPY 11,100,000 JPY 2,150,000 

  US$64,981  - 

Total     

478,530,000 273,139,200   

JPY 11,100,000 JPY 2,150,000   

US$64,981  -   

 

36. Contingent liability and commitments 

 (1) Details of commitments as of current period are as follows. 

(KRW unit : thousand won, foreign currency unit : thousand US$) 

  Institution Amount 

Bank overdraft limit KEB and others 4,000,000 

Note discount limit Kumho bank 40,000,000 

Foreign currency loan limit KDB  US$107,090  
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L/C transaction limit Shinhan bank and others US$626,672  

D/A, D/P discount limit KEB  US$50,000  

Trade finance Hana bank and others 9,000,000 

Comprehensive credit limit KEB  95,000,000 

Corporate card limit KEB and others 1,334,000 

General revolving loan fund  Hana bank  30,000,000 

 

(2) The lender sets leasehold rights and mortgage for the amount of 12,262,984 („000) 

KRW in order to secure guarantee deposit receivable for the company headquarter‟s 

building and land. 

(3) ) HP Korea bought 6,197 new shares of DK U&C at 962 million won through 

allotment to the third party and can exercise put option (principal of investment and 

interest of government bond with 3 year maturity + 1% additional interest rate) to the 

company and other related parties from April 1, in 2014 to June 30, 2014. Also, the 

company and the related parties can exercise call option in the same period. 

 

38. Risk management 

(1) Capital risk management 

 

 The purpose of capital management is to maintain sound capital structure as going 

concern (i.e. continuing to provide profits to shareholders). If necessary, the company has 

the accounting policy for the sound capital such as adjusting the dividend, returning of 

capital to shareholders, or issuing new stocks etc.  

The capital structure of the company comprises equity and net liability after deducting 

cash and cash equivalents from borrowings (including bonds). Capital risk management 

is the same as the prior period.  

 Capital on the basis of the debt to equity ratio at the end of current and prior period is 

as follow 

(Unit : thousand won) 

Classification Current period Prior period 

Total borrowings 1,094,539,178 955,764,956 

less: cash & cash equivalents (142,442,388) (42,736,562) 

Net borrowings 952,096,790 913,028,394 

Total equity 713,481,922 730,185,434 

debt to equity ratio 133.40% 125.00% 
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(2) Financial risk management 

The company has exposure to market risk (foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and 

price risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk from its use of financial instruments: The 

company‟s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks 

faced by the company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks 

and adherence to limits. The company uses the derivatives for hedges. The risk 

management policy is the same as the prior period.  

 

1) Foreign exchange risk 

 

 The company has exposure to currency risk on the transactions in the course of 

business that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency. 

Book values of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the 

functional currency at the end of current and prior periods are as follows.  

 

(Unit : thousand US$, thousand EUR, thousand JPY) 

classification 
Current period Prior period 

US$ EUR JPY US$ EUR JPY 

Foreign currency assets 132,333 245 515,150 73,930 1,675 143,153 

Foreign currency liability 496,964 - 2,377,267 385,129 156 2,589,915 

 

The company internally reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in 

relation to the foreign currency risks on a regular basis. 

Foreign currency exposure to financial assets and liabilities of a 10% currency rate 

change against the KRW are presented below. 

(Unit : thousand US$, thousand EUR, thousand JPY) 

classification 
Current period Prior period 

US$ EUR JPY US$ EUR JPY 

Increase by 10% (42,071,125) 35,158  (2,707,127) (35,890,611) 227,005  (3,633,833) 

Decrease by 10% 42,071,125  (35,158) 2,707,127  35,890,611  (227,005) 3,633,833  

The sensitivity risk of the Company is determined based on the monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency at the end of 

current and prior reporting period.  

2) Interest rate risk 
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 The company has exposure to interest rate risk as it possesses financial assets and 

liabilities bearing interest.  

The book value of interest-bearing financial liabilities at the end of reporting period is 

as follows. 

(Unit : thousand won) 

Classification Current period Prior period 

borrowings 400,792,185 412,332,837 

 

The company internally reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in 

relation to the variable interest rate risks on a regular basis.  

Based on the above assumption, changes to profit or loss and net asset as a result of 1% 

increases or decreases in interest rate on borrowings are presented below. 

(Unit : thousand won) 

  
If increase by 1% If decreased by 1% 

Profit or loss Net asset Profit or loss Net asset 

Current period (4,007,922) (4,007,922) 4,007,922  4,007,922  

Prior period (4,123,328) (4,123,328) 4,123,328  4,123,328  

 

The company enters into interest rate swap contracts to hedge the risk of interest 

fluctuations. Cash flows hedge accounting is applied to this contract for the purpose of 

financial reporting.  

 Details of valuation on interest rate swap contracts are presented below. 

 (Unit : thousand won) 

  Commitment amount 

valuation valuation Fair value 

profit loss 
Accumulated other 

comprehensive income 
asset liability 

Interest rate swap  US$ 30,000  - - (1,018,276) - 1,305,482  

 

3) Price risk 

 

 Price risk arises from the available-for-sale financial assets that the company possesses. 

The market values for the company‟s equity investments (Available-for-sale instruments 

at fair value) at the end of reporting period are ￦10,315,317(„000 ₩). If there is change 

in price of equity investment by 10%, the amount of equity changes is ￦1,031,532(„000 

₩) (before income tax effect). 
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4) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a customer or counterparty to a 

financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk arises from cash 

and cash equivalents, savings and derivative instruments transactions with financial 

institutions. To minimize such risk, the Company transacts only with banks which have 

strong international credit rating. The Company has transacted only with customers with 

a strong credit rating and established a credit policy and process for creditworthiness.  

  

The carrying amount of financial assets is maximum exposure to credit risk except for the 

table below.  

(Unit : thousand won) 

Classification Book value 
Maximum amounts of credit risk 

exposure 

Guarantee (note1) 1,786,570  227,663,256  

(Note1) The company provided the maximum limit of guarantee to the financial 

institution regarding borrowings of subsidiaries. 

5) Liquidity risk 

 

 The company monitors its cash flow through long-term and short-term management 

strategies and manages its liquidity risk to maintain adequate net working capital by 

constantly managing projected cash flows. The company‟s approach to managing 

liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet 

its liabilities when due 

 

The maturity analysis of non-derivative financial liabilities is as follows. 

(Unit : thousand won) 

  Less than one year One to two year Two to five year More than five year 

borrowings 539,433,378  110,130,624  155,580,725  15,254,412  

debentures - 154,614,000  119,526,040  - 

Trade and other 

payables 
225,448,721  - - - 

Other financial 

liability 
29,742,749  10,593,666  1,236,640  - 

Guarantee 156,457,216  59,898,800  11,307,240  - 

Total 951,082,064  335,237,090  287,650,645  15,254,412  
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The above table is established based on the BV of obligations with the closest maturity 

date. 

  

The maturity analysis of derivative financial liabilities is as follows. 

(Unit : thousand won) 

  Less than one year One to two year Two to five year More than five year 

          

Interest rate swap - 1,305,482  - - 

 

(3) Measurement of fair value 

 

 The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted 

market prices at the balance sheet date. The book value of financial assets is the market 

value at the end of reporting date.  

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is 

determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximize the use 

of observable market data where it is available, and the assumption is based on the 

market situation at the end of reporting period. Financial liability is measured in market 

price or a bid price, and discounted cash flow analysis is also used to determine fair 

value for the remaining financial instruments. As for trade and other receivables, the 

book value approximates a reasonable estimate of fair value.  

 

The levels of the fair value hierarchy and its application to financial assets and liabilities 

are described below 

 

Hierarchy 

level 1 The levels of the fair value hierarchy and its application to financial assets and liabilities are described below 

level 2 

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly or indirectly 

level 3 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) 

 

The fair values of financial instruments based on the fair value hierarchy as of reporting 

date are as follows. 

<Current> 

(Unit : thousand won) 

category Book value 
Fair value 

level1 level2 level3 subtotals 

financial asset 



See accompanying notes to separate interim financial statements. 

Listed equity 

securities 
10,315,317 10,315,317 - - 10,315,317 

Debt securities 60,795,814 60,795,814 - - 60,795,814 

financial asset 

Total 
71,111,131 71,111,131 - - 71,111,131 

financial liability 

Derivative liability 1,305,482 - 1,305,482 - 1,305,482 

financial liability 

Total 
1,305,482 - 1,305,482 - 1,305,482 

 

<Prior> 

(Unit : thousand won) 

category Book value 
Fair value 

level1 level2 level3 subtotals 

financial asset 

Listed equity 

securities 
5,217,147 5,217,147 - - 5,217,147 

Debt securities 16,656,162 16,656,162 - - 16,656,162 

financial asset 

Total 
21,873,309 21,873,309 - - 21,873,309 

financial liability 

Derivative liability 1,479,199 - 1,479,199 - 1,479,199 

financial liability 

Total 
1,479,199 - 1,479,199 - 1,479,199 

 




